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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or
in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (“Directors”, each a “Director”) of
Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (‘Company’) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquires, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and
belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any staterment
herein or this report misleading.

BERBMAEXBFRAERAE (TH3Z
Ffi1) GEMAYSS &

GEMBE i AR/ NEARRE—ELHNS
5o WEARMBLLERMERZMA EHNARE
ERERERAB -ARRENATERBRRER
ZEARMNEBERR LERCBEEAFNEE
BEEHIRERE

HRGEMLEHHN AR HESFNEAE  £GEM
EENESFURERNEIREEZEFAZRA
T 5 RE AR > B R EEZFREEGEME BRIE
FEESREENTG-

BEXGRGEFBERAGRBEIFEHEREZ
ABEBTEE  HEZEE A TEML T THRE
1o/ B2 85 - I BFHE 2T LT FLIRI 2 28 25 2 BE 2L 1 1o
B A BT EL LA GHEZFEABT IR Z
BLREFEE

KEEZ ERHBIE (B TGEMEE %5 L A )
(TGEM_E 3R Mt 8 S EiE R B REM =
HBREZRERAE] (IKXARE) 2EK KA E]
ZCEFE(EF ER—BEFE) BREREZ
BHRBIEE YA ELEEF - SEFEIFL
— S EEHE  BEAAHRE  FRE
B EHNTESEET B BEERTH KER
HHHFFL 7 B B R ENREMEE  ELX
PRI BT ELFRE o



CONTENTS
B i

CORPORATE INFORMATION

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited < Annual Report 2020

REER

FRHRS

BEE 5w

TEELARS

EXRBEFS

EFEHRS

BALZHETR S

reEnkHEMEEERAK

R BN

EFEMBHE

21

36

41

57

64

65

67

68

70

166



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (Chairman) (appointed as an executive director
on 5 May 2020 and the chairman of the Board on 19 May 2020)

Mr. Chan Wai Lung (resigned as the chairman of the Board

on 19 May 2020)
Ms. Lam Ching Yee
Ms. Lin Ting
Ms. So Wai Yee Betty (appointed on 7 August 2020)
Mr. Lam Ho Pong (resigned on 31 July 2020)
Mr. Shi Shaowu (resigned on 19 May 2020)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Lo Yu Man (resigned on 5 May 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Hon Ming Sang (appointed on 24 June 2020)
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean
Ms. Lo Wing Sze BBS, JP

(appointed on 21 August 2020)
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (retired on 24 June 2020)
Mr. Zhong Shi (resigned on 21 August 2020)

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee
Mr. Hon Ming Sang (Chairman)
(appointed on 24 June 2020)
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean
Ms. Lo Wing Sze BBS, JP
(appointed on 21 August 2020)
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (Chairman)
(retired on 24 June 2020)
Mr. Zhong Shi (resigned on 21 August 2020)

Nomination Committee
Mr. Hon Ming Sang (Chairman)
(appointed on 24 June 2020)
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean
Ms. Lo Wing Sze BBS, JP
(appointed on 21 August 2020)
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (Chairman)
(retired on 24 June 2020)
Mr. Zhong Shi (resigned on 21 August 2020)

Remuneration Committee
Mr. Hon Ming Sang (Chairman)
(appointed on 24 June 2020)
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean
Ms. Lo Wing Sze BBS, JP
(appointed on 21 August 2020)
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (Chairman)
(retired on 24 June 2020)
Mr. Zhong Shi (resigned on 21 August 2020)

Compliance Committee
Ms. Lam Ching Yee (Chairman)
Ms. Lin Ting

CORPORATE INFORMATION

2FEEH

£5Y

BITES

BA—«t (FE W_E_Z=FRBTH
EZAARTEERN_S-ZF
AR+t BEZEAEZEEZTTEE)

REREEE (RZE-_2FR B +NH
BEEETEHE)

MEEL L

MELZL

BHE2HR4+ (RZ22SEN\B+tHEZMT

MELEE R_E-EFLA=Z+—HEF

FAOREYE (RZE2EERB+AEFHMT

FRITES
BFERLE WIS ZFAAAEHMT)

BIIERITES

BHRERE (W _SEAB_+HHESZD

E=HA Lt

BINFT R THEHESE T
R_ZE_ZENB_+—HEZD

MERLEE (RS _FE A _+HHAREME

BELE (WS -ZFENB_+—HEMD

EELEY
EZEEY
BIRENRE (2/F)
(RZZ2_EBE A _+EHEESZT)
=B L
BT U T2 X Fa+
R_B2_EENB_+—BEZMFE
MR E (F/E)
R-ZZ_ZFEB_+MNHEE
BELE (WS _ZFENA_+—HEMF

RHZEEE
BIRAESE (FE)
(MRZZE-_EBE A _+EOEESZT)
E=HNu L
BT UL TgmEs . X Fa+
MRZEEENB_+—HEZD
MG T (F/E)
(MRZE_EF,AZ+EEEMD
BEELE (M2 EFN\A Z+—HED

NEET

B ERE (FE)
MR_ZE_FBEB_+NHHESEE

=HA Lt

BT R LHEHESE  F1
R_B2_EENB_+—BHEZE)

RS S (/%)
RZEBEZEFEAZ+HHED

BERLE W2 EENB+—HEMD

AREET
MEBRERLLT (&)
MERE

ESRMIEEERBRAR « 2020FF3



CORPORATE INFORMATION
2[EER

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Ms. Lam Ching Yee, CFA

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Ms. Lam Ching Yee

Ms. So Wai Yee Betty (appointed on 21 August 2020)
Ms. Wong Kei Lam (resigned on 21 August 2020)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. So Wai Yee Betty, FCPA
(appointed on 21 August 2020)
Ms. Wong Kei Lam, CPA
(resigned on 21 August 2020)

AUDITOR

RSM Hong Kong

29th Floor

Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
China CITIC Bank International Limited

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

HEADQUARTERS, HEAD OFFICE AND
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

Unit Nos. 1209-10, 12/F.

Prosperity Millennia Plaza

No. 663 King's Road

North Point, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited < Annual Report 2020

AREE
WL T 2 MDD

REAR

HEEL L

HERZT R-FT-TE\B -+ —BEED
BRMLL (WTTENBZ+—BEHD

AEME

BWEBR Lt EREMBHET
R-E-TEN\A+—BEEE)

BRWL L FHLEHET
R-E-FEN\AT+—HED

1% ZX B

BEAEG SIS AT
B 5E285%
MEZH

2012

FEERIRTT

"RERAT (B38) BIRAR
EBTRHBERADEENT
thiEIR1T (ERD) BRAR
RERRIERT (EH) BHBERAR
2RET (&) HRAA
RTHTERAR

ARER -~ MM R R
BERTEZRMES

HHEILA

I 2786635k
hEEXTEES
121%1209-10=

M SR

Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

BRI P B 5 RR AR

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands



HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F.

Two Chinachem Exchange Square
338 King’s Road

North Point, Hong Kong

PLACE OF LISTING
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

STOCK CODE
8018

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.finsofthk.com

CORPORATE INFORMATION
QFEH

RDBRELETEDE
MamEELBRAR

b lip=2

2 833858

EMRZEH2H

33183301-04F

Eristh®h
EEH AR HERAT

(VR

8018

AN EEDS

www.finsofthk.com

ESRMIEEERBRAR « 2020FF3

4



5

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of Finsoft
Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Company”), | hereby present
the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020 (“Year”). During the
Year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$76.3 million,
an increase of approximately 3.4% when compared with that of
approximately HK$73.8 million for the previous year. The basic and
diluted loss per share for the Year were approximately HK3.896 cents.

The business of the Group’s principal operating subsidiary, iAsia Online
Systems Limited (“iAsia”), contributing approximately 90.2% of the
Group’s turnover in the Year, remained steady and was not affected
much by the Coronavirus Disease — 2019 (“COVID-19”) compared
to other industries. The revenue of iAsia recorded a slight increase of
approximately 8.1% compared to that of last year. As a result of the
expansion of stock trading activities through the Stock Connect and
the strong trading volume of Hong Kong stock market in the Year, iAsia
was able to benefit from the increasing financial market’s demand for
the provision of financial trading software solutions. The quality and
efficiency of iAsia’s financial trading software solutions are essential for
maintaining and enhancing the confidence of its existing customers
and achieving a stable growth of its business. iAsia is committed to
continuously enhancing its financial trading software solutions to keep
pace with the regulatory and new industry requirements and providing
quality aftersales services to its customers. Going forward, iAsia will
continue to keep abreast of the ever-changing situation in the financial
technology sector and pay attention to the new opportunities and
challenges of the international and local market.

The money lending business is another core business segment of
the Group, contributing approximately 9.5% of the Group’s turnover
in the Year. The economic uncertainty surrounding Hong Kong in the
Year increased the credit risks of the Group’s loans receivable, and
negatively affected the results of the money lending business of the
Group for the Year. The Group will continue to strengthen its credit
control strategy and loan management policies in order to mitigate its
credit risks and improve its debt collection.
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The Group’s assets investments comprised securities investments
during the Year. Resulting from the volatile Hong Kong financial
market in the Year, the performance of securities investments
was unsatisfactory and the Group recorded a fair value loss of
approximately HK$3.6 million for the Year.

The global economy experienced a synchronized slowdown in
2020 due to an array of factors including the COVID-19 pandemic,
the escalation of US — China trade tensions, Brexit and geopolitical
tensions in the South China Sea. Economic growth in China has
shown a decelerated growth momentum but the whole Mainland
economy attained its growth target in the Year. Benefitting from the
Shanghai and Shenzhen Stock Connect, the Hong Kong's stock
market turnover reached a new high in early 2021. Looking forward,
it is hoped that the Hong Kong economy will rebound in light of the
recent launch of the COVID-19 Vaccination Programme in Hong
Kong and the re-opening of Hong Kong-China border in future. The
Group will continue to strive for excellence in its products and services
in order to maintain its competitiveness and enhance its growth in
the fintech industry. The Group is dedicated to exploring more new
business opportunities to diversify its business scales and risks.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
thanks to our shareholders, business partners and customers for their
confidence and continuous support for the Group. | would also like to
extend my gratitude to our staff for their dedications, commitment and
determination to succeed.

Tin Yat Yu Carol
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERREmRD

During the Year, the Group was principally engaged in the provision of
financial trading software solutions, provision of other IT and internet
financial platforms services, money lending business and assets
investments in Hong Kong. During the Year, one of the subsidiaries
of the Company held the license in respect of type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) regulated activity under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The outbreak of COVID-19 in the beginning of 2020 has brought
challenges and uncertainties to the economy of Hong Kong. During
the Year, the Group has taken the necessary and practicable measures
to secure the health and safety of its staff such as adopting the work
from home policy, and carefully monitored the ongoing development of
the outbreak of COVID-19 to manage its risks and mitigate its impacts
on the Group’s business and financial performance. The Group will
continue to carry out the prevention procedures while maintaining its
work efficiency with its clients under the pandemic.

Provision of financial trading software solutions
During the Year, the financial trading software solutions business
division remained as the key source of income of the Group and
recorded a stable growth. The segment revenue from external
customers contributed by the Group’s principal operating
subsidiary, iAsia, amounted to approximately HK$68,840,000
(2019: approximately HK$63,691,000), representing an increase of
approximately HK$5,149,000 or 8.1%. As a result of the increase
in revenue, the profit before tax generated by this business
segment increased from approximately HK$23,443,000 in 2019 to
approximately HK$25,656,000 in 2020, representing an increase
of approximately HK$2,213,000 or 9.4%. During the Year, sales of
technology software systems of approximately HK$8,855,000 (2019:
approximately HK$2,498,000) were recorded as a result of the
completion of sales contracts for the Year. However, the outbreak of
COVID-19 has slowed down commercial and business activities in
the Year and has caused a certain level of disruptions to the Group’s
operations. For example, the termination of certain licensing services
contracts by customers has led to the decrease in software licensing
fees received by the Group. Accordingly, the overall sales of this
business division were comparable to those in 2019.

During the Year, iAsia continued to strive for excellence in its products
and services with its experienced fintech workforce. Its financial trading
software solutions were optimised to cope with the regime and current
market requirements. In addition, modular design was applied to
the system which enhanced the flexibility for the Group’s customers
to expand their usage capacity in accordance with the growth and
changing needs of their businesses. iAsia was also committed to
providing quality software maintenance services to its customers
throughout the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As iAsia has built up reputation in the financial trading software
solutions industry in Hong Kong and has a well-established customer
base with sizeable banks and brokerage firms, the Group is able
to generate stable sources of income during the Year, despite the
outbreak of COVID-19 which has further deteriorated the Hong Kong
economy. The Group will continue to keep up with the market trends
and the industry requirements and focus on improving its operational
efficiency with rationalised costs to maintain its competitiveness in the
markets.

Provision of other IT and internet financial platforms

services

During the Year, no revenue was generated from the provision of
other IT and internet financial platforms services business division
(2019: approximately HK$116,000) which recorded a segment loss of
approximately HK$730,000 (2019: approximately HK$2,034,000). In
order to improve the sales performance of this business division, the
Group will continue to diversify the provision of other IT services, such
as providing system migration services to new customers. The Group
will seize opportunities to diversify the client base of its provision of
other IT and internet financial platforms services business in order to
strengthen its competitiveness in the industry.

Money lending business

During the Year, revenue derived from the money lending
business division amounted to approximately HK$7,241,000
(2019: approximately HK$9,924,000), representing a decrease of
approximately HK$2,683,000 or 27.0%. This business segment
recorded a loss before tax of approximately HK$53,323,000 during
the Year (2019: approximately HK$10,550,000). The loss for the
Year was primarily attributable to an increase in expected credit
loss allowance for loans receivable and interest receivables by
approximately HK$29,929,000 (2019: approximately HK$12,312,000)
and approximately HK$3,982,000 (2019: approximately HK$233,000)
respectively, by taking into consideration (i) the increase in loans
receivable which have past due as at 31 December 2020; (i) the
repayment history of loans receivable and interest receivables of each
borrower during the Year; and (i) the increase in the probability of
default rate due to the inability of the borrowers to make repayments to
the Group when due.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SFEEREY St

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s loans receivable balance (net
of loss allowance) amounted to approximately HK$78,280,000 (2019:
approximately HK$87,228,000). The interest rate charged to the
Group’s customers during the Year ranged from 8% per annum to
33.6% per annum (2019: 10.0% per annum to 15.0% per annum). The
Group’s money lending business will remain a sustainable business
sector of the Group. The management monitors the loans receivable
balance on an on-going basis. In order to minimise the credit risks
and default risks associated with the money lending business, the
Group has maintained adequate internal control policies for the grant
of loans including the credit evaluations of the borrowers’ financial
positions, timely review of the ageing of loans receivable and interest
receivables balances, and tight control of the overdue balances. A
debts collection policy is also in place within the Group to collect
borrowers’ outstanding debts, which includes sending reminder letters
or e-mails to borrowers for repayments, instructing the Group’s legal
advisers to issue demand letters for loans and interests overdue for a
certain period of time, and meeting with borrowers for negotiation of
the repayment or settlement of loans.

Provision of corporate finance advisory services

During the Year, the Group has been recruiting qualified staff to re-
commence its provision of corporate finance advisory services
business. During the Year, no contract was made under the corporate
finance advisory services business division and no revenue was
generated (2019: Nil). During the Year, a loss of approximately
HK$716,000 (2019: approximately HK$952,000) was recorded as a
result of the administrative costs of operations of this business division.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited < Annual Report 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB R

Assets investments

The portfolio of the Group’s assets investments business during the
Year consisted of investments in securities that are held for trading.
Set out below is the breakdown of the Group’s securities investments
recorded as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at 31

December 2020:
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Movements during the year ended 31 December 2020
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1 January Addition/ Realised Unrealised 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Description of investments &R 2020 (disposal) gain/(loss) gain/(loss) 2020 2020 2020 2020
53 tRER hHEE
+2A=+-R  RCBCRE RIECEE
RZE25% RZEZEF HANKRGSE +ZA=+-A +ZA=+-AH
-B-H BERkE/ AERKE/ +IAS+-B REEERRE SEREERE  GENGEE
fEREE  RE/(4E) (E#8) (F8) MREE SRINEM HEM HEM
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TR T TR T iR
(Approximate) ~ (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)  (Approximate)
§ (14 (BE4) (4) (BE4) (B4) (BE4) (B4)
PT International Development Corporation Limited REEREECEERAT 1,106 - - (556) 550 2,766,000 05% 0.3%
(Stock Code: 372) (‘PT International’) (Bt or2) (MREER) shares (0.14%)
(hoteq) (Hizta) 2,766,000%
(0.14%)
China Demeter Financial Investments Limited ARSMREERAT 405 - - (45) 360 1500000 0.3% 0.2%
(Stock Code: 8120) (‘China Demeter’) (Bipfise  8120) (EIE) shares (0.98%)
fhotety (Hzt0) 1500000
(0.98%)
Luina Group Limited (Stock Code: 1162) SRETERAT 4720 - - 3010) 1710 13680000 14% 10%
(‘Luming) frote ¢/ (Bipfise: 1162) (&) shares (2.28%)
(Hzte) 13,680,004
(2.28%)
Hanvey Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8219) REEERRERAT - 3,067 - (1,807) 1,260 17,990,000 1.0% 0.7%
(Hanvey') frote o) (Bnfise : 8219) (MER) shares (1.80%)
(i) 17,990,0008
(1.80%
Crown Intemational Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 727) ERRHERERAR - 2,070 - 630 2,700 10,000,000 2.2% 16%
(‘Crown’) frote ¢) (Bipfiss  727) (127)) shares (0.29%)
(Wit 10,000,008
0.29%)
China Eco-Farming Limited (Stock Code: 8166) (China ~ EIE£ARERAE (RIIRE - 657 - 3% 1,055 19,900,000 0.9% 0.6%
Eco-Faming) fote f 8166) (qulE %5) shares (2.13%)
() 19,900,000
2.13%)
(GBA Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 261) (GBA') froreg)  CBAEEERAT - 3,000 - 750 3,750 375,000,000 31% 22%
(RiaRs : 261) (TGBAY) shares (0.2%)
/Wg) 375,000,000%
02%)
Semiconductor Manufacturing Intemational Corporation RSBl E R ERBIEBRAT - 3,188/2,989) 80 (58) 21 10,000 0.2% 0.1%
(Stock Code: 981) (‘SMIC') frota ) (Bpfise - 98t) (SEIR)) shares (0.0001%)
(W) 10,0008
00001%)
Huaneng Power Intermational, Inc. (Stock Code: 9029 EAEIRENRHERAT - 16251,649) 2% - - - - -
(Huaneng’) frote j (Bipfise - o02) (E58)
()
Hangzhou Tigemed Consuting Co, Lic.(Sock Code: - FNFREEREROERAT - 280/822) Iy - - - - -
3347) (‘Tigermed') frote (RIARE - o347 (AREE))
)
Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 9633) (Nongfu’) ~ EX I RBHBRAT - 94/(152) 5 - - - - -
fote ) (Ripfese - 9633) (BXLIR)
lizd)
IBO Technology Company Limited (Stock Code: 2708~ AR 5RINERAT - 78 - (115) 663 300,000 05% 04%
('BO") otz ) (Bpfist  2708) (TSL4AY) shares (0.07%)
() 300,000%
007%)
Superiand Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 368)  BAEEZRERAT) - 290/264) 26) - - - - -
(‘Supertand') frote m) (A - 368) (B4
(Hiztm)
Total: 5 6,231 9674 177 (3819) 12,269
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Notes:

PT International and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “PT International
Group”) are principally engaged in the businesses of investment holding, trading
of commodities, chemical storage business, provision of management services,
financial institute business and loan financing services. As disclosed in the
interim report of PT International for the six months ended 30 September 2020,
(i) the unaudited revenue and profit of PT International for the six months ended
30 September 2020 were approximately HK$702.9 million and HK$153.3
million respectively; (i) the management of the PT International Group would
remain prudent yet would be ready to study any opportunities that would arise
from the current economic circumstances; (i) the acquisition of a petrochemical
trading licence in the People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) by the PT International
Group in June 2020, which permits the PT International Group to trade
over 50 petrochemical products in the PRC, and the priority berthing rights
granted to PT International Group under the management agreement with
Thousand Vantage Investment Limited could also facilitate the PT International
Group’s commodities trading business; and (iv) the PT International Group
would continue to adopt prudent funding or treasury policy in ensuring
liquidity sufficient to ensure the financing requirements of companies in the PT
International Group are met within acceptable costs.

China Demeter and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “China Demeter
Group”) are principally engaged in (i) alcoholic beverage distribution and
miscellaneous business; (i) food and beverage business; (i) money lending
business; (iv) provision of children education services; (v) financial services
business; and (vi) securities investment business. As disclosed in the third
quarterly report of China Demeter for the nine months ended 30 September
2020, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss of China Demeter from continued
operations for the nine months ended 30 September 2020 were approximately
HK$92.0 million and HK$15.2 million respectively; (i) the China Demeter
Group would adhere to a flexible and prudent approach in food and beverage
business development and deploy resources cautionly in order to maintain
its overall competitiveness; and (i) the China Demeter Group would adopt a
cautious approach to maintaining its financial healthiness by focusing on cost-
saving in operations and refining the profitability of its existing business.

Lumina and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Lumina Group”) are
principally engaged in the provision of fire safety services in Hong Kong.
As disclosed in the interim report of Lumina for the six months ended 30
September 2020, () the unaudited revenue and profit of Lumina for the six
months ended 30 September 2020 were approximately HK$26.1 million
and HK$0.2 million respectively; and (i) the Lumina Group would continue
to strengthen its market position, deliver more values to the customers and
optimise productivity and efficiency. On 8 April 2020, the Stock Exchange
approved the transfer of Lumina’s listing from GEM (Stock Code: 8470) to the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Hanvey and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Hanvey Group”)
are principally engaged in design and development, manufacturing and
distribution of watch products on original design manufacturing basis for
watch manufacturers, brand owners and watch importers across the globe.
As disclosed in the third quarterly report of Hanvey for the nine months ended
30 September 2020, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss of Hanvey for the
nine months ended 30 September 2020 were approximately HK$89.5 million
and HK$13.7 million respectively; and (i) Hanvey Group would continue to
focus on the core business, take efforts in strengthening its product design
and development capability in order to maximise the long term returns of its
shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Crown and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Crown Group”) are
principally engaged in (i) property investment; (i) property development; (i)
hotel operations; and (iv) provision of comprehensive healthcare planning and
management services. As disclosed in the interim report of Crown for the six
months ended 30 September 2020, (i) the unaudited revenue and profit of
Crown from continued operations for the six months ended 30 September
2020 were approximately HK$9.7 milion and HK$2.5 million respectively; (i) the
Crown Group would be able to recognise sales revenue from the Golden Beach
No. 1 Project phase |, the key property development project of the Crown
Group, in the financial year of 2021/22; and (jii) the Crown Group might through
various methods such as acquisition of property projects or cooperation with
property owners to modify property projects into high-end healthcare projects
or develop healthcare projects through land development by the Crown Group
itself and combined with the capital operation of insurance companies and
financial institutions to jointly operate healthcare projects.

China Eco-Farming and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “China Eco-
Farming Group”) are principally engaged in the business of trading of grocery
food products, trading of consumables and agricultural products, property
investment, provision of money lending services, one-stop value chain services
and provision of financial services. As disclosed in the third quarterly report
of China Eco-Farming for the nine months ended 30 September 2020, (j)
the unaudited revenue and loss of China Eco-Farming for the nine months
ended 30 September 2020 were approximately HK$19.9 million and HK$19.6
million respectively; (i) the China Eco-Farming Group would like to expand the
consumables trading business to the PRC by advertising through social media
and sponsoring various events to be held by local reputable environmental
friendly organisations; (i) the China Eco-Farming Group was optimistic that the
grocery food trading business, no matter online or offline, would progressively
pick up in the future and revenue of the business would be improved after
introducing more varieties of food products and broadening of customer base;
and (iv) the China Eco-Farming Group would, depending the market conditions,
reallocate its resources from the financial services to develop other businesses
that the China Eco-Farming Group expected to have a brighter prospect.

GBA and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “GBA Group”) are principally
engaged in products trading business, property business and finance business.
As disclosed in the interim report of GBA for the six months ended 30 June
2020, () the unaudited revenue and loss of GBA for the six months ended 30
June 2020 were approximately HK$328 million and HK$52 million respectively;
and (i) the GBA Group would continue to pursue its core strategy of achieving
long-term sustainable growth for GBA and enhancing long-term value to its
shareholders.

SMIC and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “SMIC Group”) are
principally engaged in the computer-aided design, sales and marketing,
technical research and development, manufacturing, testing, packaging,
trading of integrated circuits and other semiconductor services, as well as
designing and manufacturing semiconductor masks, respectively. As disclosed
in the interim report of SMIC for the six months ended 30 June 2020, (i) the
unaudited revenue and profit of SMIC for the six months ended 30 June 2020
were approximately US$1,843.4 milion and US$177.0 million respectively; (i)
the proceeds from successful listing of the shares of SMIC on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange Sci-Tech Innovation Board in July 2020 would be used mainly
for its technology and innovation, which would help SMIC further enhance
its technological capability, enrich its product portfolio, expand its production
capacity scale, and enhance SMIC’s overall IC foundry capabilities for various
technology nodes and process platforms; and (i) SMIC initiated a new round of
capital expenditure plans to further enhance SMIC’s core competitive edge and
drive SMIC’s continuous growth. In July and August 2020, the Group disposed
of an aggregate of 110,000 shares of SMIC and recorded a net realised gain
of approximately HK$80,000 for the Year. As at 31 December 2020, the Group
held 10,000 shares of SMIC.
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0] Huaneng and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the generation and
sale of electric power to the respective regional or provincial grid companies
in the PRC, the Republic of Singapore and Islamic Republic of Pakistan. The
Group disposed of all its investment in Huaneng during the Year and recorded a
realised gain of HK$23,000.

0 Tigermed and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in contract research
organisation services. The Group disposed of all its investment in Tigermed
during the Year and recorded a realised gain of approximately HK$42,000.

(K) Nongfu and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in manufacturing and sales
of packaged drinking water and beverage and sales of agricultural products.
The Group disposed of all its investment in Nongfu during the Year and
recorded a realised gain of approximately HK$58,000.

0] IBO and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “IBO Group”) are principally
engaged in four areas, namely (i) intelligent terminal products sales; (i) system
integration; (jii) software development; and (iv) system maintenance services. As
disclosed in the interim report of IBO for the six months ended 30 September
2020, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss of IBO for the six months ended
30 September 2020 were approximately RMB190.7 million and RMB11.4
million respectively; (i) it was believed that the demand for the IBO Group’s
new 5G indoor coverage system or 5G pico base station would experience
a rapid growth; (i) the IBO Group would continue to deepen its cooperation
with external technology companies, industry partners and scientific research
institutions, so as to introduce the enhanced intelligent internet of things (IoT)
technology to more different fields; and (iv) the IBO Group would focus on the
5G network construction and launch more 5G base station products with the
goal of promoting the brand “IBO Technology” to the global market.

(m)  Superland and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of
fitting-out services and repair and maintenance services for residential and
commercial properties in Hong Kong. The Group disposed of all its investment
in Superland during the Year and recorded a realised loss of approximately
HK$26,000.

During the Year, no dividend income was received by the Group from
its investments in listed securities that are held for trading (2019:
Nil). Resulting from the volatile conditions of the Hong Kong stock
market during the Year, a net fair value loss on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of approximately HK$3,636,000 (2019:
approximately HK$1,039,000) was recognised from the Group’s
securities investments.

The objective of the Group’s investments in the listed securities in
Hong Kong is to achieve profit from the appreciation of the market
value of its invested securities and to receive dividend income. The
Directors expect that the stock market in Hong Kong will remain
volatile which may affect the performance of the Group’s securities
investments. The Board believes that the performance of the securities
investments of the Group will be dependent on the financial and
operating performance of the investee companies and the market
sentiment, which are affected by factors, such as interest rate
movements and performance of the macro economy. The Group will
continue to adopt a conservative investment approach in its trading of
listed securities in the Hong Kong stock market and closely monitor
the performance of its securities investment portfolio.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited < Annual Report 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other investments

As at 31 December 2020, none of each of the Group’s investments
had a value of 5% or more of the Company’s total assets as at 31
December 2020 and the Group’s investments included the following
investments:

(a)

(b)

Listed equity investment (not held for trading) — China

Parenting Network Holdings Limited (“CPN”)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group held 16,538,000 ordinary
shares of CPN (“CPN Shares”), the issued shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1736), being approximately 1.61% of the total issued shares
of CPN. CPN, together with its subsidiaries, operate an online
platform focusing on the CBM (children, babies, and maternity)
market in the PRC and are mainly engaged in (i) provision of
marketing and promotional services through its platform; and (i)
e-commerce business. The Group will continue to hold the CPN
Shares for dividend income.

The CPN Shares were measured at fair value at approximately
HK$4,019,000 as at 31 December 2020, based on their last
closing price quoted on the Stock Exchange. During the Year,
the fair value gain of the CPN Shares transferred to the financial
assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income reserve of the Group was approximately HK$215,000.
During the Year, no dividend income was received from this
investment (2019: Nil).

Investment in a joint venture — Sky View Investment
Limited (“Sky View”)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group held 49% interest in Sky
View, which is the holding company of approximately 22%
interests in Rolaner International Limited (“Rolaner”). Rolaner,
through an operating company in the PRC, is operating a mobile
application “Mei Li Shen Qi (2fE##28)", one of the largest
online communities and e-commerce platforms with millions of
users for the medical beauty industry in the PRC. In light of the
market potentials in the medical beauty industry in the PRC, the
Group will continue to hold its interest in Sky View with an aim to
enjoy the economic benefits of the businesses of Rolaner and its
subsidiaries in the future.

This investment was recorded as an investment in a joint
venture as at 31 December 2020. During the Year, the Group
shared the loss of Sky View of approximately HK$37,000
(2019: approximately HK$26,000). As at 31 December 2020,
the book value of the Group’s investment in joint venture was
approximately HK$109,000 (2019: approximately HK$146,000).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Board has set out the following key financial performance
indicators to measure and monitor the Group’s business performance

for the Year:

Revenue growth rate (%)
Y 2 18 R (%)

Obijectives:

5.3% .
BHY :
—  assess the growth of the Group’s
businesses

3.4% AR EMEHNEE

— evaluate the overall sales
performance of the Group

BREEN STk Sl

2019 2020

Loss before taxation (HK$’000)

PRIZAIES 1R (T2 7T)

Objectives:
16,719) (47,132
ST F

—  measure the operating profitability of
the Group’s businesses

HEAEREBNEERNEN

—  reflect the combination of revenue
growth and cost management

R g RN A EENAEES

2019 2020

Current ratio

MENEL =

Objectives:
4.5:1 3.4:1 Br :

—  assess the Group’s ability to meet
its short-term debt obligations
HE A B EE TR ERERIAE
5

— indicate the sufficiency of the
Group’s liquidity
KPR ERRBESNTEMN

2019 2020
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Gross profit margin (%)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue, gross profit and gross profit margin

Revenue of the Group for the Year was approximately HK$76,329,000
(2019: approximately HK$73,837,000), representing an increase of
approximately HK$2,492,000 or 3.4% as compared to that of the last
financial year. The increase in revenue of the Group during the Year
was mainly due to the increase in revenue generated from the financial
trading software solutions business.

Gross profit of the Group for the Year was approximately
HK$56,046,000 (2019: approximately HK$53,670,000), representing
an increase of approximately HK$2,376,000 or 4.4% as compared
to that of the last financial year, which was in line with the increase
in revenue. Gross profit margin of the Group for the Year was
approximately 73.4% (2019: approximately 72.7%).

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$53,251,000 (2019: approximately HK$44,506,000),
representing an increase of approximately HK$8,745,000 or 19.6% as
compared to that of the last financial year. The increase was primarily
attributable to (i) the increase in staff cost and directors’ fee; and (i) the
expense of share-based payment during the Year.

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a net loss after tax of approximately
HK$50,263,000 for the Year (2019: approximately HK$20,839,000).
The increase in the Group’s net loss was mainly attributable to the
combined effects of (i) the increase in the provision for impairment
losses on loans receivable and interest receivables by approximately
HK$29,929,000 (2019: approximately HK$12,312,000) and
approximately HK$3,982,000 (2019: approximately HK$233,000)
respectively as mentioned above; and (ii) the absence of
impairment loss on goodwill during the Year (2019: approximately
HK$10,295,000).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s cash and bank balances
and non-pledged time deposits were, respectively, approximately
HK$34,222,000 (2019: approximately HK$72,357,000) and nil
(2019: HK$20,000,000). The net current assets of the Group as at
31 December 2020 amounted to approximately HK$97,872,000
(2019: approximately HK$156,132,000). As at 31 December 2020,
approximately 99.6% of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, while the remaining balance was
denominated in Renminbi and United States dollars. The current ratio
of the Group, which was defined as total current assets divided by
total current liabilities, was approximately 3.4 times as at 31 December
2020 (2019: approximately 4.5 times). The Group’s working capital
is sufficient to meet its operational needs and capital commitments, if
any.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SFEEREY St

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no outstanding bank and
other borrowings (2019: Nil). As at 31 December 2020, the gearing
ratio of the Group, which was defined as total borrowings divided by
total assets, was not applicable due to the absence of any borrowing
undertaken by the Group as at 31 December 2020 (2019: Not
applicable).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had shareholders’ equity
of approximately HK$121,051,000 (2019: approximately
HK$168,979,000). As at 31 December 2020, the capital of the
Company comprised ordinary shares only.

The Company did not carry out any fund raising activities by issuing
new shares of the Company during the Year (2019: Nil).

TREASURY AND FUNDING POLICIES

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to its treasury and
funding policies, and its financial and fundraising activities are subject
to effective management and supervision. The Group manages its
capital to ensure that the entities in the Group will be able to continue
as a going concern while maximising the return to the shareholders of
the Company (“Shareholders”) through optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the business
activities of the Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. The Directors did not consider the Group was exposed to any
significant foreign currency exchange risks. During the year ended 31
December 2020, the Group did not adopt any financial instruments for
hedging purposes.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (2019: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitments (2019: Nil).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any material charge
on assets (2019: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 8 July 2020, the Company, Oceanic Elite Holdings Limited
(“Vendor”) and Ms. Chung Elizabeth Ching Yee (as guarantor, also
being the beneficial owner of the Vendor) entered into a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Company has agreed to
purchase, and the Vendor has agreed to sell, 51% of the issued share
capital of Metrotec Limited (“Metrotec”) at the aggregate consideration
of HK$16,320,000 (subject to adjustments) (“Acquisition”). The
consideration was funded by the internal resources of the Group.

Metrotec is principally engaged in investment holding. Its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Metrotec Solutions Limited, is a Hong Kong limited liability
company and is principally engaged in FinTech business in relation
to the marketing and operation of stored value Mastercards in Hong
Kong with mobile Apps as the operating platform for travellers to pay
for goods and services around the world.

The Acquisition was completed on 7 September 2020 and since then,
Metrotec has become a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
The Acquisition enables the Group to diversify its income source and
save substantial time and costs on the development of an operating
platform for marketing and operation of stored value cards, which is
also in line with the business strategies of the Group to further expand
its businesses within the FinTech industry in Hong Kong. Details of the
Acquisition are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 8
July 2020 and 23 July 2020.

Save as disclosed above and other than the acquisition and disposal
of securities that are held for trading, the Group did not have any
material acquisition or disposal transaction during the Year.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the date of this annual report, the Group does not have any
concrete plan for material investments or capital assets for the coming
year. Nonetheless, if any acquisition opportunity arises or is identified
in the coming year, the Group will conduct a feasibility study and
prepare implementation plans to consider whether it is beneficial to the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
Year (2019: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SFEEREY St

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 73 employees (2019: 68).
The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of
its workforce by providing them with adequate and regular training.
The Group remunerates its employees mainly based on industry
practices and individual performance and experience. On top of regular
remuneration, discretionary bonus and share options may be granted
to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s performance as well as the
individual performance. Total employee benefits expense, including
directors’ emoluments, was approximately HK$46,485,000 for the
Year (2019: approximately HK$35,032,000).

The remuneration of the Directors is determined by the Board, under
the recommendation from the remuneration committee (“Remuneration
Committee”) of the Company, with reference to the background,
qualification, experience, duties and responsibilities of the respective
Directors within the Group and the prevailing market conditions.

The Company adopted a share option scheme pursuant to an ordinary
resolution of all the then Shareholders passed on 10 September
2013 and the Board is authorised, at its absolute discretion, to grant
options to eligible participants including (a) any full-time or part-time
employee of any member of the Group; (b) any consultant or adviser
of any member of the Group; (c) any director (including executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive directors) of any member
of the Group; (d) any substantial shareholder of the Group; or (e) any
distributor, contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner or
service provider of any member of the Group. Details of the share
options granted and outstanding during the Year are set out in the
paragraphs headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages 42 to 44 of this
annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Operational risks

The Group is exposed to operational risks in relation to each business
division of the Group. To manage operational risks, the management
of each business division is responsible for monitoring the operation
and assessing operational risks of their respective business divisions.
They are responsible for implementing the Group’s risk management
policies and procedures and shall report any irregularities in connection
with operation to the Directors and seek for directions. The Group
emphasises on ethical value and prevention of fraud and bribery and
has established a whistleblower program, including communication
with other departments and business divisions and units, to report any
irregularities. In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s
operational risks have been effectively mitigated.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial risks

The Group is exposed to market risks (particularly price risks), credit
risks and liquidity risks, details of which are set out in “Financial risk
management” on pages 106 to 116 of this annual report.

PROSPECT

As an open economy highly dependent on the service sector, Hong
Kong is suffering severely from the COVID-19 epidemic in 2020.
Hong Kong’s GDP shrinks the most in last 60 years and Hong
Kong'’s unemployment rate rises rapidly. Looking into 2021, with the
widely usage of vaccines and supported by the economy rebound in
mainland China, Hong Kong’s GDP is expected to resume a positive
growth rate of 5% in 2021.

Fortunately, the business of iAsia, which is the Group’s principal
operating subsidiary, has not been affected much by the COVID-19
pandemic as its customers are mainly medium to large brokerage
firms and banks. The stock market trading volume in Hong Kong
remains high due to the Stock Connect and the demand for iAsia’s
financial trading software solutions remains strong. It is expected that
the Group’s financial trading software solutions business will continue
to serve its clients and the Group hopes to attract more customers
with its experience and reputation and explore different business
opportunities in order to expand the Group’s business and generate
more revenue for the Group.

The money lending business is another core business segment of the
Group. In view of the instability of the financial market and economic
environment in Hong Kong, the Group will implement a prudent
approach to grant new loans and actively collect loans and interest
receivables in the coming year.

The global economic outlook in 2021 is still uncertain and full of
challenges which may exacerbate the financial market volatility in Hong
Kong. The Group believes diversifying its business segments can help
maintain a healthy financial position and promote a sustainable growth
of the Group. In the future, the Group will continue to seize cooperation
and acquisition opportunities with more business partners in various
fields to expand its business scales and bring higher returns to the
Shareholders. The Group will continue to strive for excellence in order
to maintain its international competitiveness and enhance its growth
potential in the fintech industry.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXERRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules (“CG Code”) as its code of corporate governance. During
the Year, the Company complied with all the applicable code provisions
as set out in the CG Code then in force, except for the deviation
mentioned in the section headed “Chairman and chief executive
officer” on page 26 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors adopted by the Company during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consisted of five
executive Directors namely Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin
Yuen Sin Carol, who was appointed on 5 May 2020), Mr. Chan Wai
Lung, Ms. Lam Ching Yee, Ms. Lin Ting and Ms. So Wai Yee Betty
(who was appointed on 7 August 2020), and three independent non-
executive Directors namely Mr. Hon Ming Sang (who was appointed on
24 June 2020), Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Ms. Lo Wing Sze
BBS, JP (who was appointed on 21 August 2020). Mr. Lam Ho Pong
resigned as an executive Director with effect from 31 July 2020 and
Mr. Shi Shaowu resigned as an executive Director with effect from 19
May 2020. Mr. Lo Yu Man resigned as a non-executive Director with
effect from 5 May 2020. Mr. Lam Kai Yeung retired as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 24 June 2020 and Mr. Zhong
Shi resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect from
21 August 2020. The Board was chaired by Mr. Chan Wai Lung from
1 January 2020 to 18 May 2020 and by Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former
name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol) from 19 May 2020 to 31 December 2020
and as at the date of this annual report.

As at the date of this annual report, none of the Directors have any
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/

relevant relationship) with each other.

The biographical details of all the Directors are set out on pages 36 to
40 of this annual report.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited < Annual Report 2020

EEELRER

KA B ERMGEM E AR RIM B 1 6P B 2B A
SR (TREERTA) R ZFRMEXESHE
TEEATR -NERN ARFAETERELEN
ZEERTAFMEMREERATRIEX X
FRE268 EFERITHABE) —HIFTH 2 (RBEFR
fh o

EFETESFRXS

ARBEREFETESXSHRMT AT H
HRZBEEETHNGEM ETiRAIE5.48%
S.E7TIRFIBZ RERZER KB EEEFFH
BEERER 2REFCHEIANENEABET
REXZEARKTRBDREFTETESF IR
Mz AT 75T R

£

EEgHE

RAERON EEEREOEALATESH
— et GEATARRE RS -SELA
AOESE) RERELLE MBS HE

TRESSLT (R-BE-SFN\AtBESD
REGBUENTEEREELE RS "%
FEXRAT+HINOESE) EBNLTREKEL
TLHES XM+ (R _EEENB - +—
HEEE) cMEMEE A S SELH=+—
DERINTEEREIRAEE "S- SE.
BHhBRBENTES BFHAEE "S-
SERERARBAFNTES BB EES
CECEEARCTHARBEBIENTES
RBEAELEE S TEN\A -+ HRRES
TEHTEE-A-B-BE-—A—HE_%=
SERF+\B EEGERRRLERTER
RE-E-EERA+ARE_S-ZE+ A
S+ ORRAERAN EEgaA—FLt
FERTAERE) EETE-

RAFHRAM BEEFRIELZBEFEHE
% (BEMH EB KGEREMEKREER
%) °

EREFZEEFBHRNAFRFEICEI0R



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Functions and responsibilities of the Board

The Board is collectively responsible for overseeing the management
of business, strategic decisions and financial performance of the
Company for the best interests of the Shareholders. The Board has
established various Board committees and has delegated to these
Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective
terms of reference. All Directors have carried out their duties in good
faith and in compliance with the standards of applicable laws and
regulations, and have acted in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole at all times.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company,
including the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
material transactions (particularly those that may involve conflicts of
interest), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant financial and operational matters.

During the Year, twenty-six Board meetings were held to perform the
abovementioned duties and responsibilities and details of attendance
of each Board member are set out in the section headed “Attendance
of Directors at Meetings” on page 30 of this annual report.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of
the Company (“Company Secretary”), with a view to ensuring that
the Board’s procedures and all applicable rules and regulations
are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

Delegation of powers

The Board delegates the day-to-day management authority,
administration and operation of the Group to the executive Directors
and the senior management of the Group, while reserving certain key
matters in strategic decision making for its approval. When the Board
delegates certain aspects of its management and administration
functions to management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances where
management needs to report back to and obtains prior approval from
the Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments
on behalf of the Group. During the Year, the executive Directors, who
also represented the senior management of the Group, provided
all members of the Board with monthly updates pursuant to code
provision C.1.2 of the CG Code while the Board regularly reviewed its
arrangement on delegation of authority and responsibilities to ensure
that such delegations are appropriate in view of the Group’s prevailing
circumstances.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERERS

Directors’ appointment and re-election

The appointment of a new Director is made on the recommendation of
the nomination committee (“Nomination Committee”) of the Company
or by the Shareholders in general meetings. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by the
Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election.

Each of Mr. Chan Wai Lung (an executive Director), Ms. Lam Ching
Yee (an executive Director), Ms. Lin Ting (an executive Director) and
Mr. Shi Shaowu (an executive Director who resigned on 19 May 2020)
has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of one
year from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 (both days inclusive).
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol, an executive
Director appointed on 5 May 2020 and appointed as the chairman of
the Board on 19 May 2020) has entered into a service contract with
the Company for the period from 5 May 2020 to 31 December 2020
(both days inclusive). Ms. So Wai Yee Betty (an executive Director
appointed on 7 August 2020) has entered into a service contract with
the Company for the period from 7 August 2020 to 31 December
2021 (both days inclusive). Each of Mr. Chan Wai Lung, Ms. Lam
Ching Yee, Ms. So Wai Yee Betty and Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former
name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol) has been re-appointed for a term of three
years on the same terms commencing on 1 January 2021 and ending
on 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive). Ms. Lin Ting has been
re-appointed for a term of one year on the same term commencing
on 1 January 2021 and ending on 31 December 2021 (both days
inclusive). Mr. Lam Ho Pong (an executive Director who resigned on
31 July 2020) had entered into a service contract with the Company
for the period from 5 December 2019 to 31 December 2020 (both
days inclusive). Mr. Lo Yu Man (a non-executive Director who resigned
on 5 May 2020) had entered into an appointment agreement with the
Company for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020
(both days inclusive).

Currently, all independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a
specific term pursuant to code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code. Ms.
Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean has entered into an appointment agreement
with the Company for a term of one year from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2020 (both days inclusive), and has been re-appointed for a
term of three years commencing on 1 January 2021 and ending on 31
December 2023 (both days inclusive).
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Mr. Hon Ming Sang has entered into an appointment agreement with
the Company commencing from his date of appointment on 24 June
2020 to 31 December 2020 (both days inclusive), and has been re-
appointed for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2021
and ending on 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive). Ms. Lo Wing
Sze BBS, JP has entered into an appointment agreement with the
Company commencing from her date of appointment on 21 August
2020 to 31 December 2021 (both days inclusive), and has been re-
appointed for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2021
and ending on 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive). Each of Mr.
Lam Kai Yeung, who retired on 24 June 2020, and Mr. Zhong Shi,
who resigned on 21 August 2020, had entered into an appointment
agreement with the Company for a term of one year from 1 January
2020 to 31 December 2020 (both days inclusive).

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years pursuant to code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code. By virtue
of article 112 of the articles of association of the Company, the Board
shall have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board
or as an additional Director provided that the number of Directors so
appointed shall not exceed the maximum number determined from
time to time by the Shareholders in general meeting of the Company.

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the articles of association of the Company,
at each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation and
all such retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election. Details of the Directors to be retired by rotation and,
where applicable, subject to re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company will be contained in the circular
to be despatched to the Shareholders in due course. None of the
Directors who are being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract or an
appointment agreement with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Independent non-executive Directors

The Company has been in compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2),
and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules during the Year, in which the
Company has three independent non-executive Directors, representing
at least one-third of the Board. Among the three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Hon Ming Sang has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors are or have
remained independent.
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Nomination policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”).
Such policy aims to improve transparency around the criteria and
procedure adopted by the Nomination Committee in selecting and
recommending candidates as Directors and to ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. Selection
of candidates shall be based on a range of criteria, including but
not limited to, integrity and reputation, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, and length of service. The Nomination
Committee shall convene a meeting to discuss and consider the
recommendation of any candidate to the Board for appointment,
election or re-election as a Director by the Board or at a general
meeting of the Company.

Board diversity policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) in accordance with the requirements set out in the CG Code.
Such policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on
the Board. Accordingly, all Board appointments shall be based on
meritocracy and candidates shall be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.
Selection of candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision shall be
based on the merit and contribution the selected candidates could
bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee, from time to time,
oversees the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, and
reviews, as appropriate, the Board Diversity Policy to ensure the
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and continues to give
adequate consideration to these measurable objectives when making
recommendations of candidates for appointment to the Board.

Dividend policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”). Dividends
may be paid out by way of cash or by other means that the Directors
consider appropriate. Declaration and payment of any dividends would
require the recommendation of the Board and will be at its discretion.
In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject to
the approval of the Shareholders. A decision to declare or to pay any
dividends in the future, and the amount of any dividends, depends on
a number of factors, including the results of operations and financial
condition of the Group, the payment by the Company’s subsidiaries
of cash dividends to the Company, and other factors the Board may
deem relevant. Declaration and payment of dividends by the Company
is subject to compliance with applicable laws and regulations including
the laws of the Cayman Islands and the articles of association of the
Company.
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The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and may
exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.

There is no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any
particular amount for any given period.

Chairman and chief executive officer

According to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. During the Year, the
role of the chairman of the Board was performed by Mr. Chan Wai
Lung (resigned as the chairman of the Board with effect from 19 May
2020) and Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol,
appointed as the chairman of the Board with effect from 19 May
2020). During the Year, the office of the chief executive officer of the
Company remained vacated since the Company has not been able to
identify a suitable candidate for the position.

However, the Board will keep reviewing the current structure of the
Board from time to time and should any candidate with suitable
knowledge, skill and experience be identified, the Company will make
appointment to fill the position as appropriate.

Continuing professional development

According to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors shall
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

During the Year, each of the Directors received regular updates and
presentations on changes and developments to the Group’s business
and to the legislative and regulatory environments in which the
Group operates, and was also encouraged to attend relevant training
courses. During the Year, each of Mr. Chan Wai Lung, Ms. Lam Ching
Yee, Ms. Lin Ting, Ms. So Wai Yee Betty (appointed on 7 August
2020), Mr. Lam Ho Pong (resigned on 31 July 2020), Mr. Shi Shaowu
(resigned on 19 May 2020), Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin
Yuen Sin Carol, appointed on 5 May 2020), Mr. Lo Yu Man (resigned
on 5 May 2020), Mr. Hon Ming Sang (appointed on 24 June 2020),
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (retired on 24 June 2020), Ms. Lee Kwun Ling,
May Jean, Ms. Lo Wing Sze 8BS, JP (appointed on 21 August 2020),
and Mr. Zhong Shi (resigned on 21 August 2020) participated in
appropriate continuous professional development activities by way
of attending training or reading materials relevant to the Group’s
business, the GEM Listing Rules or directors’ duties, and provided his
or her training records to the Company on a yearly basis.
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Directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance and

indemnity

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering the
liabilities in respect of any legal action against the Directors that may
arise out of the corporate activities, so as to comply with the CG Code.
The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

1.  Audit Committee

The Company established an audit committee (“Audit
Committee”) of the Company on 10 September 2013 with written
terms of reference posted on the websites of GEM and of the
Company. Such written terms of reference were revised and
adopted by the Board on 29 December 2015 in accordance
with the revised CG Code taking effect on 1 January 2016. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among other matters,
to review the Company’s financial information and to monitor
the Company’s financial reporting system, risk management and
internal control systems.

From 1 January 2020 to 23 June 2020, the Audit Committee
comprised three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr.
Zhong Shi, and the Audit Committee was chaired by Mr.
Lam Kai Yeung. From 24 June 2020 to 20 August 2020, the
Audit Committee comprised three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling,
May Jean and Mr. Zhong Shi, and the Audit Committee was
chaired by Mr. Hon Ming Sang. From 21 August 2020 to 31
December 2020 and as at the date of this annual report, the
Audit Committee comprised three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May
Jean and Ms. Lo Wing Sze B8S, JP, and the Audit Committee
was chaired by Mr. Hon Ming Sang.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting standards
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed with the
management about the internal control and financial reporting
matters for the Year. During the Year, the Audit Committee also
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and internal audit function. The Group’s
quarterly, half-yearly and annual results for the Year have also
been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which was of the opinion
that the preparation of such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards and that adequate disclosures had been
made.

During the Year, eight Audit Committee meetings were held and
the details of attendance of each Audit Committee member
are set out in the section headed “Attendance of Directors at
Meetings” on page 30 of this annual report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 10
September 2013 with written terms of reference in accordance
with the CG Code which are posted on the websites of GEM
and of the Company. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are, among other matters, to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the terms of remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and senior management
of the Company and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing the remuneration policy.

From 1 January 2020 to 23 June 2020, the Remuneration
Committee comprised three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May
Jean and Mr. Zhong Shi, and the Remuneration Committee
was chaired by Mr. Lam Kai Yeung. From 24 June 2020 to 20
August 2020, the Remuneration Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Hon Ming
Sang, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr. Zhong Shi, and the
Remuneration Committee was chaired by Mr. Hon Ming Sang.
From 21 August 2020 to 31 December 2020 and as at the date
of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee comprised
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Hon Ming
Sang, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean and Ms. Lo Wing Sze 55s,
JP, and the Remuneration Committee was chaired by Mr. Hon
Ming Sang.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and
made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management of the
Company, and reviewed and approved certain new remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate objectives and
the prevailing market conditions, assessed the performance of
the executive Directors and approved the terms of the executive
Directors’ service contracts.

During the Year, eight Remuneration Committee meetings
were held and the details of attendance of each Remuneration
Committee member are set out in the section headed
“Attendance of Directors at Meetings” on page 30 of this annual
report.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the Year
are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 10
September 2013 with written terms of reference in accordance
with the code provisions set out in the CG Code which are
posted on the websites of GEM and of the Company. The
primary duties of the Nomination Committee are, among
other matters, to formulate the Nomination Policy and make
recommendations to the Board on the nomination and
appointment of the Directors and the succession planning for the
Directors.
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From 1 January 2020 to 23 June 2020, the Nomination
Committee comprised three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May
Jean and Mr. Zhong Shi, and the Nomination Committee was
chaired by Mr. Lam Kai Yeung. From 24 June 2020 to 20 August
2020, the Nomination Committee comprised three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Ms. Lee
Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr. Zhong Shi, and the Nomination
Committee was chaired by Mr. Hon Ming Sang. From 21 August
2020 to 31 December 2020 and as at the date of this annual
report, the Nomination Committee comprised three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Hon Ming Sang, Ms. Lee
Kwun Ling, May Jean and Ms. Lo Wing Sze B8S, JP, and the
Nomination Committee was chaired by Mr. Hon Ming Sang.

During the Year, seven Nomination Committee meetings were
held and details of attendance of each Nomination Committee
member are set out in the section headed “Attendance of
Directors at Meetings” on page 30 of this annual report.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board, the
existing Board Diversity Policy and its implementation, assessed
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors
and reviewed the annual confirmations of independence
received from them. The Nomination Committee also reviewed
the nomination procedures, process and criteria to select
and recommend candidates for directorship and made
recommendations on the nomination and appointment of new
Directors.

Compliance Committee

The Company established a compliance committee (‘Compliance
Committee”) of the Company on 10 September 2013 with written
terms of reference which are posted on the websites of GEM and
of the Company.

During the Year and as at the date of this annual report, the
Compliance Committee comprised two executive Directors,
namely Ms. Lam Ching Yee (chairman) and Ms. Lin Ting. The
principal duties of the Compliance Committee include:

to establish, execute and maintain the compliance and
corporate governance system of the Group;

to support and provide instructions to ensure that each
business unit of the Group can establish, execute and
maintain its compliance and corporate governance system;

to produce the compliance manual of the Group and keep it
updated;

to conduct education and training programmes on
compliance for the Group, including compliance seminars;

to monitor the status of the compliance and corporate
governance system of the Group; and
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to investigate compliance problems of the Group and take
appropriate measures when one arises (it may instruct the
relevant department(s) to deal with the problem depending
on its nature).

During the Year, the members of the Compliance Committee
monitored the status of the compliance and corporate
governance system of the Group from time to time, and the
Compliance Committee was of the view that there was no
compliance issue of the Group which required the Compliance
Committee to resolve by way of a meeting. Therefore, no meeting
of the Compliance Committee was held during the Year.

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT

EERERBS
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MEETINGS
Number of meetings attended/entitled to attend /ote 7)
L/ ARLEERRY (1)

Annual  Extraordinary Audit  Remuneration Nomination
general general Board Committee Committee Committee
meeting meeting meetings meetings meetings meetings

BRERE HWERE RAZERE
Directors B% BRBEFAE REBIAS BEeeE S e e
Executive Directors BTES
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol fnote 2) B—F%t (Haze) 1 NARER 22123 NARER NANEE NATER
Mr. Chan Wai Lung (note 3) W E (W3) 17 NATER 26/26 NATER NATER NA T ER
Ms. Lam Ching Yee MEELT 0A NA TR 21/26 NATEHR NAFER NATER
Ms. Lin Ting MEZT o NA TEF 25/26 NATER NATEfE NATER
Ms. So Wai Yee Betty fnote 4) BERLL (W) NARER NARER 14/14 NATER NA NEH NATER
Mr. Lam Ho Pong fnots §) WEBRE (H7225) 1h NA TER 1010 N/A TER NATER NATER
Mr. Shi Shaowu (note 6) SOREE (Hats) NARER NARER 4/5 NARER NA NEH NATER
Non-executive Director FRITES
Mr. Lo Yu Man (note 7) BERRE (WE7) NA TER NA TER 23 N/A TER NATERE NATER
Independent Non-executive Directors BiFnES
Mr. Hon Ming Sang rote 8) BHMERE (Hits) NAFER NAFRER 1919 5/5 4/4 212
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean ES koo 1 NAFRER 23/26 8/8 7/8 6/7
Ms. Lo Wing Sze 885, .p (note 9 Bk Tagnes cret (1329) NARER NARER 911 4/4 22 NATER
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (rote 10) R4 (Wt 10) 01 NATER 6/6 33 33 4/4
Mr. Zhong Shi frote 17) EREE (Wat11) o NARER 12115 4/4 5/5 6/6
Notes: HiaE -

Attendances of the Directors appointed/resigned/retired during the Year were
made by reference to the number of such meetings held during their respective
tenures.

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol) was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 5 May 2020 and the chairman of the Board
with effect from 19 May 2020.

Mr. Chan Wai Lung resigned as the chairman of the Board with effect from 19
May 2020.

Ms. So Wai Yee Betty was appointed as an executive Director with effect from
7 August 2020.

Mr. Lam Ho Pong resigned as an executive Director with effect from 31 July
2020.
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6. Mr. Shi Shaowu resigned as an executive Director with effect from 19 May
2020.

7. Mr. Lo Yu Man resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 5 May
2020.

8. Mr. Hon Ming Sang was appointed as an independent non-executive

Director, and the chairman of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 24 June 2020.

9. Ms. Lo Wing Sze BBS, JP was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 21 August 2020.

10.  Mr. Lam Kai Yeung retired as an independent non-executive Director, and the
chairman of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee with effect from 24 June 2020.

11. Mr. Zhong Shi resigned as an independent non-executive Director, and a
member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee with effect from 21 August 2020.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the

consolidated financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for each financial period
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the
results and cash flows for that period. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the Year, the Board has selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The
Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities. The Directors continue to adopt the going
concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements
of the Group and are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, RSM
Hong Kong, are set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s
Report” on pages 57 to 63 of this annual report.

Change of Auditor

With effect from 25 November 2020, PKF Hong Kong Limited has
resigned as the auditor of the Company as the Company was unable
to reach an agreement with PKF Hong Kong Limited on the auditor’s
remuneration for the financial year ended 31 December 2020.
Following the resignation of PKF Hong Kong Limited, RSM Hong Kong
has been appointed as the new auditor of the Company.

During the Year, the Board did not take a different view from the Audit
Committee on the appointment of external auditors.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

During the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Group’s
external auditor for the audit and non-audit services provided
amounted to HK$680,000 and HK$59,000 respectively. The non-audit
services comprised fees for the tax services.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has not established a corporate governance committee.
According to code provision D.3 of the CG Code, the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties of
the Company. The Board shall have the following duties and
responsibilities for performing the corporate governance duties of the
Company:

to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Group and make recommendations;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company.

The Board reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and compliance with the CG Code, reviewed
and monitored the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, and the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements during
the Year as well as the disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis. The main features of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group include the identification, assessment
and evaluation of risks, the development and continuous updating
of mitigation measures, and the ongoing review of internal control
procedures to ensure their effectiveness. The Group has also
established an organisational structure in such control systems, clearly
defining the power and obligations of each department in the Group, in
order to protect the Group’s assets against improper use and ensure
compliance with rules and regulations. Such risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The Company has an internal control manual containing policies on
information disclosure which is applicable to all employees of the
Company and regularly reminds Directors and employees to properly
comply with relevant policies on inside information while notifying the
Directors (who are also the senior management of the Group) and
employees the latest guidance announced by the regulatory body on
disclosure of such information from time to time to keep all of them
abreast of the latest information.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage

significant risks

The Group’s risk management process involves the identification,
evaluation, response, monitoring and reporting of risks. After risks
that may potentially affect the Group’s business and operations are
identified by the management of the Company, the Board will perform
risk assessment by prioritising the identified risks to determine key risks
exposed to the Group and discuss measures to mitigate such key
risks. Besides, existing risk mitigation measures are subject to regular
monitoring by the management of the Company, which will review
the Group’s risk management strategies, and report such results and
make appropriate suggestions to the Board.
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The Board has in place an internal audit function within the Group
as required under code provision C.2.5 of the CG code. The Group
conducts review of the risk management and internal control systems
on annual basis. During the Year, to strengthen the risk management
and internal control of the Group, the Company has engaged an
independent professional adviser (“Internal Control Adviser”) to perform
independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of certain
subsidiary’s risk management and internal control system for the
Year. The scope of review for the Year included revenue and receipt
cycle as well as risk assessment and management over revenue
cycle of a principal operating subsidiary. The Internal Control Adviser
has reported major findings and areas for improvement to the Audit
Committee. All recommendations from the Internal Control Adviser
would be followed up closely to ensure that they are implemented
within a reasonable period of time. The Board is of the opinion that the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems are effective
and adequate and that nothing has come to its attention to cause the
Board to believe the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems are inadequate. The Board has also considered the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function.

The Group believes that good corporate governance practices are very
important for maintaining and promoting investor confidence and for
the sustainable growth of the Group. The Group has therefore made
continued efforts to uplift the quality of its corporate governance.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company communicates with the Shareholders, the potential
investors and the investment community (collectively, “Investors”) of the
Company mainly in the following ways:

(@ the holding of annual general meetings and extraordinary general
meetings, if any, which may be convened for specific purposes
and provide opportunities for the Shareholders and the Investors
to communicate directly with the Board;

(b)  the publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports, circulars,
announcements and notices of Shareholders’ meetings as
required under the GEM Listing Rules and/or press releases of
the Company providing updated information of the Group; and

(c) the provision of the latest information of the Group on the
websites of GEM and of the Company.

Pursuant to article 65 of the articles of association of the Company,
the annual general meetings or extraordinary general meetings of the
Company called for the passing of a special resolution shall be called
by at least 21 days’ notice in writing. The meetings of the Company
other than an annual general meeting or an extraordinary general
meeting for the passing of a special resolution shall be called by at
least 14 days’ notice in writing.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting by

Shareholders

Pursuant to article 64 of the articles of association of the Company,
any one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company having the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by requisition in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself/herself/themselves may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for sending enquiries and proposals to

the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and/or put forward proposals to
the Company, for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary,
by posting the same to Unit Nos. 1209-10, 12/F.,, Prosperity Millennia
Plaza, No. 663 King’'s Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Kei Lam, the former Company Secretary and the financial
controller (‘FC”) of the Company, resigned as the Company Secretary
and the FC with effect from 21 August 2020. Following the resignation
of Ms. Wong Kei Lam, Ms. So Wai Yee Betty, an executive Director,
was appointed by the Board as the Company Secretary and the chief
financial officer of the Company with effect from 21 August 2020. Both
of them undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training to update their skills and knowledge during the Year.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there was no significant change to the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol) (H—
¥ aIERFABEE), aged 55, was appointed as an executive
Director on 5 May 2020 and the chairman of the Board on 19 May
2020.

Ms. Tin obtained a degree of doctor of business administration honoris
causa from the International American University in March 2009.
Ms. Tin is an entrepreneur operating businesses including money
lending business and fine dining business. Ms. Tin also has extensive
experience in trading business in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Ms. Tin was an executive director of Carnival Group International
Holdings Limited (“Carnival”, formerly known as Oriental Ginza Holding
Limited and CASH Retail Management Group Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with Stock Code:
996) for the period from September 2005 to August 2011. Ms. Tin
also served as the chairperson of Carnival from November 2006 to
August 2011 and was responsible for the overall strategic planning and
policy making. Ms. Tin served as a director of Yan Oi Tong from 2017
to 2018. She has been an executive director of CEFC Hong Kong
Financial Investment Company Limited (“CEFC”, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 1520)
since October 2019 and its chairman since January 2021. Ms. Tin is
currently a director of Delta Wealth Finance Limited and a director of
Delta Wealth Credit Limited.

Mr. Chan Wai Lung (Ff{£%E), aged 40, was appointed as an
executive Director on 8 June 2017 and was the chairman of the Board
from 8 June 2017 to 18 May 2020.

Mr. Chan has years of experience in business planning and
development. Mr. Chan has been a director of Draco International
Investment (Holdings) Limited (specialising in designing corporate
structures) since July 2013, and a director of Draco Human Resources
Management Limited since November 2016. Mr. Chan was a non-
executive director of Noble Engineering Group Holdings Limited
(“Noble Engineering”, a company listed on GEM with Stock Code:
8445) from August 2018 to January 2020.

Mr. Chan was appointed as a business development consultant (3
P EERT) by the Management Committee of the Haining Economic
Development Zone, Zhejiang Province, the PRC in April 2017. In
October 2017, he obtained his Honorary Doctorate in Business
Administration from Sabi University.
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EFREFE

Ms. Lam Ching Yee (#A#%f&), aged 39, was appointed as an
executive Director on 23 June 2016.

Ms. Lam obtained her Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours)
in Finance from the City University of Hong Kong in 2006. Ms. Lam is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
From September 2013 to June 2019, Ms. Lam was the financial
controller of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (‘HTY Group”, a
company listed on GEM with Stock Code: 8081), whose interest in
the shares of the Company falls to be disclosed under the provisions
in Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO. She has been an executive
director and the chief executive officer of HTY Group since June
2019. Ms. Lam has more than ten years of experience in the areas of
corporate restructuring, financial management, merger and acquisition
and auditing.

Ms. Lin Ting (##28), aged 51, was appointed as an executive
Director on 23 June 2016.

Ms. Lin graduated from Shanghai University of Engineering Science
(E/BTREFMIAE) with a Bachelor degree in Industrial Enterprise
Management in 1992. She also obtained a Master degree in
Technology Management in Information Technology from the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology in 2004.

Ms. Lin was qualified as a project management professional by the
Project Management Institute in March 2014. Ms. Lin joined the China
Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd. (FEIEEMZEHR/AF) in August 1998 and
has served as deputy general manager of the business development
department since March 2009. She then joined Eastern Airlines
Logistics Co., Ltd. (B2 fZ=E¥0 7 B BRA B]) in November 2012 as the
general manager of the information department. Ms. Lin then served
as general manager in the logistics product department of China
Eastern Airlines Co., Ltd. (FEIER A MZERADBRAB), a joint stock
limited company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability whose H
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 670), A shares
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600115)
and American depositary shares are listed on the New York Stock
Exchange, Inc., and the holding company of Eastern Airlines Logistics
Co., Ltd., from April 2013 to June 2015. From 7 December 2015 to
22 June 2016, Ms. Lin was an independent non-executive director of
HTY Group whose interest in the shares of the Company falls to be
disclosed under the provisions in Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Ms. So Wai Yee Betty (832 52), aged 39, was appointed as an
executive Director on 7 August 2020 and () the Company Secretary;
(i) the chief financial officer of the Company; (i) one of the authorised
representatives of the Company (for the purpose of Rule 5.24 of
the GEM Listing Rules); and (iv) the authorised representative of
the Company (for the purpose of accepting service of process and
notices on behalf of the Company in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) on 21
August 2020.

Ms. So graduated with an honour degree in Bachelor of Business
Administration (Accounting & Finance) from The University of Hong
Kong. She is a fellow member and a certified public accountant
(practicing) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
She is also a member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute. Since January 2017, Ms. So has been a licensed
representative of VC Capital Limited for Type 6 regulated activity
under the SFO, a licensed representative of VC Brokerage Limited for
Type 1 and Type 4 regulated activities under the SFO and a licensed
representative of VC Asset Management Limited for Type 9 regulated
activity under the SFO.

Ms. So has over 15 years of working experience in finance industry.
She previously worked for an international accounting firm in Hong
Kong, engaged in various corporate transactions such as initial
public offerings, merger and acquisitions, restructuring and auditing.
During her career, she also worked for listed companies for more
than 10 years and had extensive experience in financial management,
assets management, equity investment and fund raising. She was
an independent non-executive director of China Public Procurement
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
with Stock Code: 1094) from November 2007 to September 2009.
Ms. So was a non-executive director of Value Convergence Holdings
Limited (“VC Holdings”) (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 821) from November 2009 to
January 2010, and was redesignated to an executive director of VC
Holdings from January 2010 to November 2016. She was also a chief
financial officer of VC Holdings from January 2010 to January 2017.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EFREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Hon Ming Sang (828§4), aged 42, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and the chairman of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 24 June 2020.

Mr. Hon graduated with an honor degree of Professional Accountancy
in the School of Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. Mr. Hon is a CFA charterholder. He is also a member of the
Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts, a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and an associate
member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.
Mr. Hon has previously worked in an international audit firm and has
over 11 years of working experience in listed companies and financial
institutions. He has extensive experience in corporate finance, merger
and acquisition, investment and financial management and compliance
services.

Mr. Hon was an independent non-executive director of SFund
International Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 1367) from November 2016 to
February 2017 and has been re-designated to its executive director
since February 2017. Mr. Hon has been an independent non-executive
director of CEFC (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with Stock Code: 1520) since November 2016. He was an
executive director of China Smarter Energy Group Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with Stock
Code: 1004) from December 2012 to August 2017. Mr. Hon has been
an independent non-executive director of Asia Energy Logistics Group
Limited (“Asia Energy”, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 351) since November 2020.

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean (£#%J]), aged 60, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director and a member of each
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee on 10 September 2013.

Ms. Lee obtained a degree of Master of Business Administration
(Executive) at the City University of Hong Kong in October 2014. Ms.
Lee also obtained her Doctor of Business Administration from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 2018.

From December 2006 to October 2012, Ms. Lee worked for King
Fook Holdings Limited and her last position was director of sales and
brand development, Greater China. From October 2012 to January
2015, Ms. Lee worked for Boucheron Hong Kong Limited as a retalil
director. Ms. Lee was a director of Yan Oi Tong, a registered non-
profit charitable organisation, from 2010 to 2014 and from 2017 to the
present.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Ms. Lee has been an independent non-executive director of China
Brilliant Global Limited (a company listed on GEM with Stock Code:
8026) since February 2018.

Ms. Lo Wing Sze BBS, JP (BB FHT4HES, X F# 1), aged 49, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director and a member
of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee on 21 August 2020.

Ms. Lo obtained a degree of Bachelor of Economics from the
University of Sydney in Australia in 1995 and obtained a degree of
Master of Commerce in Finance from the University of New South
Wales in Australia in 1997. Ms. Lo is a certified public accountant
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
certified practicing accountant of CPA Australia. She was appointed
as a Justice of the Peace and awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(*HKSAR”) in June 2017 and October 2020 respectively. Ms. Lo has
been an Honorary Court Member of Lingnan University since June
2020.

Ms. Lo has been a financial director of Million Tour Limited since
1999. Ms. Lo has been a member of HKSAR Advisory Committee
on Admission of Quality Migrants and Professionals since July 2018,
a member of HKSAR Museum Advisory Committee since October
2016, a member of HKSAR Social Welfare Advisory Committee
since December 2015 and a co-opted member of the finance and
management working group of HKSAR Chinese Temples Committee
since October 2015. Ms. Lo served as a council member of
Lingnan University from October 2015 to September 2019 and was
appointed as the treasurer of the council of Lingnan University from
November 2018 to September 2019. Ms. Lo was an award council
member of the Hong Kong Award for Young People from February
2014 to January 2018 and a member of HKSAR Non-local Higher
and Professional Education Appeal Board from December 2016 to
December 2019. Ms. Lo has been an independent non-executive
director of CEFC (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with Stock Code: 1520) since January 2021.
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The Board herewith presents the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of financial trading
software solutions, provision of other IT and internet financial platforms
services, money lending business and assets investments in Hong
Kong. During the Year, one of the subsidiaries of the Company held the
license in respect of type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activity under the SFO. Details of the principal activities and other
particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note
22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities, including a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group
and an indication of the likely future developments in the Group’s
business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis
set out on pages 7 to 20 of this annual report. Such discussion forms
part of this directors’ report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND
CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (‘AGM”)
will be held on Wednesday, 23 June 2021. In order to determine the
entitlement of the Shareholders to attend and vote at the AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 18
June 2021 to Wednesday, 23 June 2021 (both days inclusive), during
which period no transfer of shares of the Company can be registered.
To qualify for the attendance at the AGM, Shareholders must ensure
that all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates are lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Union Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-
04, 33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King’'s Road, North
Point, Hong Kong no later than 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, 17 June 2021.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
64 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Year (2019: Nil).
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the Year or
subsisting at the end of the Year are set out below:

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Scheme”) on
10 September 2013 so as to attract and retain the best available
personnel and to provide additional incentive to the eligible participants
under the Scheme. Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board is authorised,
at its absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme, to
grant options to subscribe for the ordinary shares of the Company (in
such form then existing and subject to adjustment) to any employees
(full-time or part-time), directors, consultants or advisors of the Group,
or any substantial shareholders of the Group, or any distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or service
providers of the Group. The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten years commencing on 10 September 2013 and expiring
on the business day immediately preceding the 10th anniversary
thereof, i.e. 8 September 2023, subject to early termination provisions
contained in the Scheme.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days
inclusive of the day on which such offer is made. The amount payable
by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of the offer
for the grant of an option is HK$1. The subscription price of a share
of the Company in respect of any particular option granted under the
Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and notified to
a participant and shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of
the ordinary shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option; (i) the
average of the closing prices of the ordinary shares of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option;
and (jii) the nominal value of an ordinary share of the Company on the
date of grant of the option.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESXTHRE

Az s

KABRERNNREFEFFFHN GO HFRE
My5E35

A FE 4} $0 177 5%

RERFTIUNNAFERTATEZ REHDT
EHEHWT

R ST

ARBRZZE—=ZFENA T HAXMEREE
(T&zst8)  URSI REEBEREE T > A AZ
STEITHEERS B ANRHEINIE - RIBZS
B EFRERE RNBEERBEZFEN
B AAEREAES (EHEEE) ES B
BHFBEAA B EERETAIERT -HEEE
EREDHEE KEH HEF AE-FER EH
BHAMBHEDREIZELIRATEER (U
ERZERALAFHRE) NBERE Zs8HT
E-—FNATHEFTERARRERAINE
EzstEHEEERM—@EEXA B ==
“=FABNB) Ew ERREZ S BIFTEER
SRIMFER P& L

RUBREZENANMFEAEBENRLERN
(BHEER) EEm-EREAE AR AR DR
R BHE BERAABXNEZEHIET - RE
ZETEIRH 2 AR ERRER Y R ZARE R
MZRBEBERAHEFSLREEL B2 HEE,
EBBERARLAUTZESE () REEBER
RIERHBREZ RN EHRERARZU
TE()EATEERNEZRLBRES XA
SEZEEANMXAAEHREBRMARZFIHUNT
B RilVERFERRNELBREER ZEE.

ESRMIEEERBRAR « 2020FF3

42



43

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFXEHRS

The total number of ordinary shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
10% of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue on the listing date
of the Company, being 26 September 2013. The Company may at
any time refresh such limit, subject to the Shareholders’ approval and
issue of a circular in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, provided
that the total number of ordinary shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under all the share option schemes of the Company does
not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to
time. The total number of ordinary shares of the Company issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each participant
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant must not exceed 1% of
the ordinary shares of the Company then in issue unless approved by
the Shareholders and issue of a circular and all other information in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.

The maximum number of ordinary shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all options that may be granted under
the existing Scheme limit is 126,058,234 shares of HK$0.005 each,
representing approximately 10% of the Company’s issued share
capital as at the date of this annual report. As at the date of this
annual report, options carrying the rights to subscribe for 125,960,000
ordinary shares of the Company have been granted under the existing
Scheme limit, out of which 25,200,000 options have lapsed and
100,760,000 options remain outstanding, and options carrying the
rights to subscribe for 25,298,234 ordinary shares of the Company
(representing approximately 2% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report) may be granted under
the existing Scheme limit.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed one year from the date of grant subject to the
provisions of early termination thereof.

Save for the Scheme as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Share
Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company
to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the Year or
subsisted at the end of the Year.
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Details of the movements in the share options of the Company

pursuant to the Scheme during the Year are as follows:
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Number of share options
e d
Exercise
price of Granted Outstanding
Date of grant and share options At during Lapsed asat
Name or category of vesting date of Exercise period of (HK$ 1 January the Year during 31 December
participants share options share options granted per share) 2020 (note (g)) the Year 2020
R-ZZE%
BREZTEE KIZZEE REREH +-B=+-H
SEERLHER BRESHANREEAS HHEREZGTED (BR#T) -A-A Wie) RERKXE HRITE
Executive Directors
BiTES
Tin Yat Yu Carol 10 December 2020 10 December 2020 - 0.049 - 1,260,000 - 1,260,000
9 December 2022
B “Z2EE+2ATA “Z2RE+2ATHE
“2ZCE+ZANA
So Wai Yee Betty 10 December 2020 10 December 2020 - 0.049 - 12,600,000 - 12,600,000
9 December 2022
BRER ZBIER+2ATH E2ZE+°ATHEE
“ECCE+TZAARA
Employee 10 December 2020 10 December 2020 - 0.049 - 12,600,000 - 12,600,000
9 December 2022
=] “Z22ZE+°FH “Z2RE+2ATHE
“2TCE+ZANA
Other participants 10 December 2020 10 December 2020 - 0.049 - 74,300,000 - 74,300,000
9 December 2022
HihBaE ZBIER+2ATH E2ZE+2ATHEE
“ECCE+TZAARA
- 100,760,000 - 100,760,000
Notes: izt

() The closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company immediately before the
date on which the share options were granted was HK$0.046 per share.

(b) Consideration of HK$1 was paid by each of the grantees on their acceptance
of the share options granted.

During the Year, no share options were exercised, cancelled or
lapsed. Further details of the Scheme are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS AND
WARRANTS

Save for the options granted under the Scheme as disclosed in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had granted or issued any convertible
securities, options, warrants or similar rights during the Year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 67 of this annual report and in note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves available for distribution of the
Company during the Year are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had reserves amounting to
approximately HK$93,803,000 (2019: approximately HK$141,259,000)

available for distribution as calculated in accordance with the statutory
provisions applicable in the Cayman Islands.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group for the Year amounted to
HK$241,000 (2019: HK$220,000).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (Chairman) (appointed as an executive director
on 5 May 2020 and the chairman of the Board on 19 May 2020)

Mr. Chan Wai Lung (resigned as the chairman of the Board
on 19 May 2020)

Ms. Lam Ching Yee

Ms. Lin Ting

Ms. So Wai Yee Betty (appointed on 7 August 2020)

Mr. Lam Ho Pong (resigned on 31 July 2020)

Mr. Shi Shaowu (resigned on 19 May 2020)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Lo Yu Man (resigned on 5 May 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Hon Ming Sang (appointed on 24 June 2020)
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean
Ms. Lo Wing Sze BBS, JP

(appointed on 21 August 2020)
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (retired on 24 June 2020)
Mr. Zhong Shi (resigned on 21 August 2020)

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, there were
changes in the information required to be disclosed pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules
in the course of the term of office of a Director.

With effect from 1 January 2021, the annual director’s fees of Ms. Lam
Ching Yee have been revised to HK$180,000.

Mr. Chan Wai Lung resigned as a non-executive director of Noble
Engineering in January 2020. Ms. Lo Wing Sze BBS, JP was
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the HKSAR in October 2020.
Since November 2020, Mr. Hon Ming Sang has been appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Asia Energy. Since
January 2021, Ms. Lo Wing Sze BBS, JP has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of CEFC and Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol
has been appointed as the chairman of CEFC.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other matters that need to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Chan Wai Lung (an executive Director), Ms. Lam Ching Yee
(an executive Director), Ms. Lin Ting (an executive Director) has entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term of one year from
1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 (both days inclusive). Ms. Lee
Kwun Ling, May Jean (an independent non-executive Director) has
entered into an appointment agreement with the Company for a term
of one year from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 (both days
inclusive). Each of Mr. Chan Wai Lung, Ms. Lam Ching Yee and Ms.
Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean has been re-appointed for a term of three
years commencing on 1 January 2021 and ending on 31 December
2023 (both days inclusive). Ms. Lin Ting has been re-appointed for a
term of one year commencing on 1 January 2021 and ending on 31
December 2021 (both days inclusive).

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol), an executive
Director and the chairman of the Board, who has entered into a
service contract with the Company for the period from 5 May 2020
to 31 December 2020 (both days inclusive), has been re-appointed
for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2021 and ending
on 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive). Ms. So Wai Yee Betty,
an executive Director, who has entered into a service contract with
the Company for the period from 7 August 2020 to 31 December
2021 (both days inclusive), has been re-appointed for a term of three
years commencing on 1 January 2021 and ending on 31 December
2023 (both days inclusive). Mr. Hon Ming Sang, an independent non-
executive Director, who has entered into an appointment agreement
with the Company for the period from 24 June 2020 to 31 December
2020 (both days inclusive), has been re-appointed for a term of three
years commencing on 1 January 2021 and ending on 31 December
2023 (both days inclusive). Ms. Lo Wing Sze BBS, JR an independent
non-executive Director, who has entered into an appointment
agreement with the Company for the period from 21 August 2020 to
31 December 2021 (both days inclusive), has been re-appointed for a
term of three years commencing on 1 January 2021 and ending on 31
December 2023 (both days inclusive).

All service contracts and appointment agreements with Directors are
subject to termination, among others, by giving not less than one
month’s written notice.
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REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND
FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH THE HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five individuals with
the highest emoluments are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES BY THE DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” on
pages 42 to 44 of this annual report, none of the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required (i) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered into the register referred to therein; or (i) pursuant to Rules
5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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percentage of

shareholding Number shareholding
Number as at of underlying as at
Capacity/ of shares 31 December shares 31 December
Name of Directors nature of interest interested 2020 interested 2020
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BEEEN +=-A=+—H mEEEN +”-A=+—H
EELT By fHEE RHOBE RESSESL  HERRMEE RESSESL
(note (b)) (note (c)) (note (b)) (note (c))
(Hiztw) (Hizt(c) (&) (Hiztc)
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol Beneficial owner 131,690,000(L) 10.45 1,260,000(L) 0.10
(note (a))
H—iF+ Bn#EBA (Hi5ta)
Ms. So Wai Yee Betty Beneficial owner - - 12,600,000(L) 1.00
(note (a))
HERzt BaEAA (Hi5ta)
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Notes:

Save

On 10 December 2020, Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol, being an executive Director
and the chairman of the Board and Ms. So Wai Yee Betty, being an executive
Director, were granted options to subscribe for 1,260,000 and 12,600,000
ordinary shares of the Company under the Scheme respectively. Such options
can be exercised by Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol and Ms. So Wai Yee Betty from 10
December 2020 to 9 December 2022 at the exercise price of HK$0.049 per
share.

“L” denotes long position in the ordinary shares and the underlying ordinary
shares of the Company.

The total number of the issued shares of the Company as at 31 December

2020 (i.e. 1,260,582,340 shares) has been used for the calculation of the
approximate percentage shareholdings in the Company.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the

Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any interests or

short

positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the

Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered into the register referred to therein; or (i)
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2020, the
following substantial Shareholders and persons (not being a Director
or chief executive of the Company) had, or were deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

A. Substantial Shareholders
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BEEFANR_E-TE+"A=+—H"TF
NNEERERATLT EIFEEREARBEETE
AB) BERARBKRDEERROTHEENEAE
BBRIERES RS KRG E336K RN A A E]
FEMNESCMANERI NS

A FTERR

Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares held/ shareholding as at

Name of Shareholders Capacity/nature of interest interested 31 December 2020
RIZEZEHF
e AN +=B=+—H
RERETE 519 #ENE KRiH&E RRESRAT DL
(note (a) (note (b))
(H15#a) izt w))
Ever Robust Holdings Limited (note (c)) Beneficial owner 136,800,000 (L) 10.85
ERERERAR Watc) BmEAA
Whole Kind Investments Limited
(note (c)) Interest in a controlled corporation 136,800,000 (L) 10.85
SEREBRRAT Watc) REEEER
Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings
Limited (note (c)) Interest in controlled corporations 136,800,000 (L) 10.85
HERBEBZERBRAR (Witc) ZREE#ER
Zhu Liang Hui Hui Beneficial owner 183,000,000 (L) 14.52
KREER EmEEBA
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B. Other persons B. HttAL
Approximate Approximate
percentage of percentage of
shareholding Number shareholding
Number as at of underlying as at
Capacity/ of shares 31 December shares 31 December
Name of Shareholders nature of interest interested 2020 interested 2020
RIZZZF RIZZEHF
meEEEN +=-A=+—H mEEZN +ZA=+—H
Ex4iE B/ HEHE ROBE RESLSESL  ERRMEE RESNSESL
(note (@) (note (b)) (note () (note (b))
(Hizt) (Hrzt) (H5#a)) (M5 w))
China New Economy Beneficial owner 70,330,000(L) 5.58 - -
Fund Limited
HFEMSERERRAR EREBA
Mr. Chan Sek Keung Ringo Beneficial owner 59,620,000(L) 4.73 12,600,000(L) 1.00
(note (d)
FREpIREE BR#EBA (Hizt(a)
Interest of a controlled 6,000,000(L) 0.48 - -
corporation (note (g))
REGEEE S (Hizte)
Notes. ot=3
(a)  “L” denotes long position in the ordinary shares and the underlying (@) TLIEA RS ERLERSER 2R

ordinary shares of the Company.

(b)  The total number of the issued shares of the Company as at 31
December 2020 (i.e. 1,260,582,340 shares) has been used for the
calculation of the approximate percentage shareholdings in the
Company.

(©) These 136,800,000 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Ever
Robust Holdings Limited (“Ever Robust”), which is wholly-owned by
Whole Kind Investments Limited (“Whole Kind”), which is in turn wholly-
owned by Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (‘HTY Group”). By virtue
of the SFO, each of Whole Kind and HTY Group is deemed or taken
to be interested in all the ordinary shares of the Company held by Ever
Robust.

(d) On 10 December 2020, Mr. Chan Sek Keung Ringo, being a director
of a subsidiary of the Company, was granted options to subscribe
for 12,600,000 ordinary shares of the Company under the Scheme
respectively. Such options can be exercised by Mr. Chan Sek Keung
Ringo from 10 December 2020 to 9 December 2022 at the exercise
price of HK$0.049 per share.

()  These 6,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company are held by
Woodstock Management Limited, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Chan
Sek Keung Ringo. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chan Sek Keung Ringo
is deemed or taken to be interested in all the ordinary shares of the
Company held by Woodstock Management Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Directors were
not aware of any other persons who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors who are also the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 36 to 40 of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contracts of significance (as defined
under the GEM Listing Rules) to which the Company, its holding
companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party, and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director
(as defined under section 486 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong)) had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the
Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the Year.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company
considers that the independent non-executive Directors are or have
remained independent.

COMPETING INTERESTS

Ms. Lam Ching Yee, an executive Director, also being an executive
director and the chief executive officer of HTY Group (a substantial
Shareholder), is a director of a subsidiary of HTY Group, i.e. Mark Profit
Finance Limited (which is a company principally engaged in money
lending business in Hong Kong) and other subsidiaries of HTY Group,
which are principally engaged in assets investments business.

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (former name as Tin Yuen Sin Carol), an executive
Director, is also a director of Delta Wealth Finance Limited and Delta
Wealth Credit Limited, which are principally engaged in money lending
business.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their respective
close associates as defined in the GEM Listing Rules had any business
or interests in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during the Year.
As at 31 December 2020, the Company did not have any controlling
Shareholder.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Particulars of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group as at 31
December 2020 are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the top five customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 21.8% (2019: approximately 20.8%) in aggregate of
the Group’s consolidated revenue. The top five suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 80.5% (2019: approximately 82.4%) in
aggregate of the Group’s consolidated cost of sales (excluding direct
staff cost) for the Year. In addition, the largest customer of the Group
accounted for approximately 5.4% (2019: approximately 7.0%) of the
Group’s consolidated revenue and the largest supplier of the Group
accounted for approximately 37.2% (2019: approximately 34.9%) of
the Group’s consolidated cost of sales (excluding direct staff cost) for
the Year.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their
close associates or any Shareholders (who, to the best knowledge and
belief of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) were interested in these major customers or suppliers of
the Group during the Year.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group has a diversified customer base with over 100 customers
mainly from Hong Kong, Macau, the PRC and Singapore. In order
to maintain relationships with customers, various means have been
established to strengthen the communications between the customers
and the Group to strengthen and expand the Group’s provision of
customer service. In addition, the Group will continue expanding its
sales and marketing team to proactively manage customer relations,
expand its customer base and enhance customer loyalty.

The Group does not have any supplier of goods or services which is
specific to the Group’s business and which is required by the Group on
a regular basis to enable the Group to continue to supply or serve its
customers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

Human resources are the most valuable asset of the Group.
Developing and retaining talents are vital to the Group’s success. The
Group is committed to providing its employees with a safe, pleasant
and healthy working environment. The Group rewards and recognises
its employees by competitive remuneration packages and implements
a key performance index scheme with appropriate incentives,
and promotes career development and progression by providing
opportunities for career advancement.
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In addition, each department of the Group is responsible for
determining the training needs for its employees in its department and
any suggested applicable training courses either arranged internally
or provided by external service providers shall be submitted to the
senior management of the Group for approval. Knowledge, skills
and capacities of employees are vital to the continuous business
growth and success of the Group. The Group strives to ensure that all
employees will fulfill the relevant job requirements through education,
training, technical and work experience.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There was no significant subsequent event after the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transaction of the Group as set out in note 43 to
the consolidated financial statements constituted a fully exempted
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions
as set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules then in force during the Year, except for the deviation as
disclosed under the section headed “Chairman and chief executive
officer” on page 26 of this annual report. Details of the Group’s
corporate governance practices adopted by the Board are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 21 to 35 of this annual
report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float required by the GEM Listing Rules during
the Year and as at the date of this annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated financial results and the consolidated
assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set
out on pages 166 to 167 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCES

The Group is committed to reducing its impacts on the environment
and enhancing the quality and safety of its working environment. The
Group aims to reduce emissions and use of resources in its operation
through various environmental protection measures, including using
electrical appliances with energy efficient labels, encouraging its
employees to minimise use of resources such as electricity and water,
and promoting the use of electronic communication and recycled
papers among its employees.

The Group’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the
Year will be published in late March 2021 and will be available on the
websites of GEM and of the Company accordingly.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and that the risk of non-compliance with relevant
requirements could lead to adverse impact on the business operation
and financial position of the Group. The Board as a whole is
responsible to ensure the Group is in compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group. To the
best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied with relevant
laws and regulations during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors arising out of corporate activities. During the Year and up
to the date of this annual report, a permitted indemnity provision (as
defined in section 9 of the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation
(Cap. 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)) was and is currently in
force for the benefit of the Directors and the directors of the Group’s
subsidiaries.

AUDITOR

With effect from 6 December 2017, PKF has resigned as the auditor
of the Company due to its internal reorganisation which resulted in its
change of entity status from a partnership to a limited company under
the name of PKF Hong Kong Limited. Following the resignation of PKF,
PKF Hong Kong Limited has been appointed as the new auditor of the
Company.
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With effect from 25 November 2020, PKF Hong Kong Limited has
resigned as the auditor of the Company as the Company was unable
to reach an agreement with PKF Hong Kong Limited on the auditor’s
remuneration for the financial year ended 31 December 2020.
Following the resignation of PKF Hong Kong Limited, RSM Hong Kong
has been appointed as the new auditor of the Company.

RSM Hong Kong, the auditor of the Company, shall retire in the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment pursuant to article 176(a)
of the articles of association of the Company. A resolution will be
submitted to the coming annual general meeting of the Company to
re-appoint RSM Hong Kong as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tin Yat Yu Carol
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B AENERS

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road,

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

FINSOFT FINANCIAL INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Finsoft
Financial Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 165, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIEHENRS

FRE%EER

FRERFESMESZIERHEMS HES
BERABZEEVBREREAEENFTH &
EERERESERERGROVBREARLAER
RENETREN BEESTEHRETFHEREMHE
BHER - ESMHANHRELEFES

separate opinion on these matters. The key audit matters we identified

are:

Key Audit Matter
FAREREE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENEBERPHAREZEEZRESR

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BERETE

Refer to notes 5(a), 20 and 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.
FH2RR M BIRERMIEE5() ~ 2039

The Group acquired 51% equity interest of Metrotec
Limited on 7 September 2020 with a consideration of
HK$16,320,000 (subject to adjustments). Metrotec Limited
and its subsidiary have been engaging in provision of
marketing and operation of stored valued Mastercards
(“CGU"). As at the end of reporting period, goodwill of
HK$6,726,000 was allocated to the CGU.

SEER T FH Bt HWHEMetrotec Limited
51%& 1 » f{{87%16,320,0007 7T (B] F LUsEEE) © Metrotec
Limted R EMtBAB FENFIREBFERERNEH
KEE (TREEEEN) - RIREHR  E 46,726,000
BrEoEEREAELE-

The recoverable amount of the CGU was based on a
calculation of value in use which requires management to
make assumptions about the future including budgeted
sales, card consumption volume and growth rates and
to determine an appropriate market discount rate. These
estimates require significant management judgement.
REELFBMNUZIREIESENENEREESEARE
BIEEHARRIFELIRS CIEEHEEELE  REES KRG
ER - UKEESBENTBHRER ZEMFTEEERE
TR ERFIE -

No impairment loss was made during the year for goodwill on the

CGU.
RERNZREELSULRESEHE 2 HEEE

QOur procedures included:
EEZREFEE

- Evaluating the independent external valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

- SHMEBIUINEMEERZEE B RERIL

—  Assessing the integrity of the valuation model;
- FMEHEREESTE;

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
based on our knowledge of the business;

- RETEHEBZIH HEARBRR BN ETT
&5

- Reconciling input data to supporting evidence, including
approved budgets and considering the accuracy of
previous management budgets; and

- BEABBREALZRS (BECHZER #ik> 1E
BEEEBUTREEZEREM ; &

- Assessing the appropriateness of the discount rate with
the assistance of our internal valuation specialists.

- REFASGEEERBE T TEMAMRERZEE
Mo
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B EHENIRS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
R EIZEE

MREEZSEHE (8)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EERNBERDHAREZERZEEFR

Impairment assessment of loans and interest
receivables from money lending business

BEEHZBRERRF B ZREFE

Refer to notes 5(b), 6(c) and 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.
FELRIRE M B IRRMIEESD) ~ 6(c) K228 ©

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had gross loans
and interest receivables from customers amounting to
approximately HK$132,833,000 and HK$5,668,000
(2019: approximately HK$99,540,000 and HK$2,757,000
respectively) respectively.

RZZ_EF+_"_A=+—H> BEBZEHKEFEN
Ezﬂ%%ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁ Bl #975132,833,00078 7T K25,668,0007& 7T (=
Z—NF | D RIAA99,540,000/8 78 K2,757,0008 7T) ©

Provision for impairment of loans and interest receivables
of approximately HK$54,553,000 and HK$4,448,000
respectively (2019: approximately HK$12,312,000 and
HK$233,000 respectively) was made as at 31 December
2020.

RN_E_ZHE+_F=+—8 > BHRERRF S RERZRE
2 RI4 754,553,000/ 75 524,448,0008 7T (ZZ—NF : 5
l#97%12,312,00078 75 % 233,000 7T) ©

Management assessed the provision for impairment of
loans and interest receivables based on the estimation
of expected credit losses (‘ECL”) under a “three-stage”
model. In developing the loss allowance of loans receivable,
management uses judgement in making the assumptions
about the probability of default and loss given default with
reference to the historical delinquency ratio of loans portfolio,
credit rating of customers and current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors.

BEBRE =B EXTHEREERE (BIRGES
181) st W T UL E R ] BOR B o I E T
WERBERER BEEELSETENEaZBEHERL
EBRZEEFAABERRBRERRZIRA RAIEY
Bk PMEREORERIENIB R E 2 RR S E R FIE -

We identified the recoverability of loans and interest
receivables from money lending business as a key audit
matter because determining the provision for impairment
of these receivables involves significant management’s
estimation and judgement.
EEREEEBZRWIER LTS Z Tt EI M # 5 % ki
BEREE AARTCLERENEBRERBIREEE Y
BAMEE R FIE
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Our procedures included:
BEEZREREE

- Understanding, evaluating and validating control
over impairment assessment of loans and interest
receivables, which related to management’s
identification of events that triggered the significant
increase in credit risk of loans and interest receivables
and events of default;

- T éﬂﬁ&@ﬁi%}@l&%ﬁ%&ﬁJ_ﬁ%éﬂﬁzj‘%
> BB IR R AR R B U A BE B R kR EE
ERMz EHRENEHENBERER ;

—  Carrying out procedures, on a sample basis, to test
the existence and accuracy of the aging of loans and
interest receivables as at the reporting date;

- HERTER LAERSREBBRERE
i 2 FTEIE MM

5 R B AR

- Involving our internal valuation specialist to review the
valuation methodology and approach adopted by
management in ECL assessment;

- ZHANGEEREHBEEENRBHREESETET
FrBZ(EER ERAT

- Evaluating the appropriateness of the key assumptions,
such as collateral values, historical delinquency ratio,
credit rating of customers used in assessing the ECL
based on market economic data;

- BREHSLEESMEANTGEEREEEEIER
aﬁza@&?'lﬁ MBFEREE - BEHEILER - ERZE
§D$/\

- Re-performing management’s calculation of loss
allowance under ECL model; and

- ENMWTEEENEREEBREXTEERERE S
" &

- Considering the adequacy of impairment of loans and
interest receivables with reference to the payment
performance and financial condition of customers and
collaterals held by the Group, if any and other relevant
factors.

- ZETERERBEREMNEREEZESEH BR2EXRZ
BRRAERMBRIR BX£EFAZIERS WAH)
DU EAERAREI R ©



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019, were audited by another auditor who expressed
an unmodified opinion on those statements on 26 March 2020.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other
Information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BENIRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited < Annual Report 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BENIRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Wo Cheung.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

25 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
reEmhkEMEEBAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE —

EEE+AZ+—HIEEE

2020 2019
—EZE —Z—nEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$jOOO
=3 FET TAT
Revenue g 8 76,329 73,837
Cost of sales THER A& (20,283) (20,167)
Gross profit EF) 56,046 53,670
Other income Hl A B 9 3,413 411
Other gains and (losses) Hitham & (8538) 10 (6,610) (2,511)
Provision for impairment loss on loans and FEWE R F) B8R EEE
interest receivables Mmoo (46,456) (12,545)
Provision for impairment loss on goodwill EN R ER B E - (10,295)
Administrative expenses THREX (53,251) (44,506)
Loss from operations KERS1E (46,858) (15,776)
Finance costs MBBRA B 12 (237) 61)
Share of loss of an associate Bl —EBE AR BE - (856)
Share of loss of a joint venture fEh—EEE A B EE 23 (37) (26)
Loss before tax PRI ARS8 (47,132) (16,719)
Income tax expense FrigiRBEs 13 (3,131) (4,120)
Loss for the year FREE 14 (50,263) (20,839)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FREMEEmEBE
net of tax: pRIRIA -
Item that will not be reclassified to AT EEN D EE B
profit or loss: EH ‘
Fair value changes on financial assets at fair BATEESARMEE
value through other comprehensive income WAZ ZREEN
REBEEF (137) 827
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FEREMEEEE
net of tax NpRIRIE (137) (827)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAZEEIEAE (50,400) (21,666)
Loss for the year attributable to: FEILEAEIE -
Owners of the Company KRB A (49,111) (20,839)
Non-controlling interests JEIERG S (1,152) -
(50,263) (20,839)
Total comprehensive loss for the year L ERSmEIELEEE
attributable to: N
Owners of the Company KRBHEE A (49,248) (21,666)
Non-controlling interests 22 (1,152) -
(50,400) (21,666)
2020 2019
BT —Z2—hn&F
Loss per share FREE 17
Basic (HK cents per share) HA (SREW (3.896) (1.653)
Diluted (HK cents per share) #d (RB (3.896) (1.653)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FREMBIRRAR

At 31 December 2020 N -_Z-_ZT&+_F=+—H

2020 2019
ZEIERF “E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FAET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JEREBNEE
Property, plant and equipment M- B REE 18 1,514 4,702
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 11,399 3,680
Goodwill [EES 20 6,726 -
Intangible assets mEEE 21 - -
Investment in a joint venture R—E&aEREZHRE 23 109 146
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEESAEM
other comprehensive income 2EBAZEHEE 24 7,250 7,387
Loans and interest receivables EWERRFIR 28 2,923 -
Deferred tax assets IRIETRIEE B 33 187 -
30,108 15,915
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories e 25 - 440
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H h FE W =R IB 26 14,396 11,775
Contract assets GHEE 27 1,568 -
Loans and interest receivables FEWREFR T & 28 76,577 89,752
Financial assets at fair value through BATBESAEBGEN
profit or loss THEE 29 12,269 6,231
Current tax assets BNEAIRIEE B 57 -
Cash and cash equivalents BEXRIREEEY 30 34,222 92,357
139,089 200,555
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEafE
Contract liabilities sHaE 27 11,958 18,133
Accruals and other payables FESHE A R E I TR IE 31 24,409 20,324
Lease liabilities HEaE 32 4,850 2,053
Current tax liabilities BN IBEEE - 3,913
41,217 44,423
NET CURRENT ASSETS BB ERE 97,872 156,132
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERTBEE
LIABILITIES 127,980 172,047
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
EEMBRAR

At 31 December 2020 W -_Z_ZT&+_F=+—H

2020 2019
ft-Jamk- 3= 5 —E—h=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FHET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEREAE
Accruals and other payables FESHE A R E eI TRIE 31 - 1,077
Lease liabilities HEaE 32 6,908 1,594
Deferred tax liabilities IEIERIBE & 33 - 397
Contingent consideration payable FE(TBIARE 34 21 -
6,929 3,068
NET ASSETS BEFE 121,051 168,979
CAPITAL AND RESERVES P& 7 e et
Share capital [N 35 6,303 6,303
Reserves 1 37 115,286 162,676
121,589 168,979
Non-controlling interests JEIERG S (538) -
TOTAL EQUITY FES4EEE 121,051 168,979

Approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2021 and are signed N ZE I F=ZRAZ+hHHBESZEEgEHE T

on its behalf by:

Tin Yat Yu Carol
H—1F

Director

EF

BEUTALTRAEES

Chan Wai Lung
BR1EHE
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SREmEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE —ZE_ETFE+_F=+—HIFE

67

Attributable to owners of the Company

HARER AELS
Financial
assets
measured
at fair value
Share through other Non-
Share Share options Merger comprehensive  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve income reserve losses Subtotal interests equity
RATEE
SHAEf
2EBAK
SHEE
[z BivEE  RRERE AfiE pa:1 | ZitEE et RS it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn FEw TiEn FEx TiET T TET F#ET TR
note 3710l note 37(blfj) - note 37b)fi) - note 37b)fi)
WEIL)  WEIbN BEIb BRI
At 31 December 2018 RIZ-N\E
+ZA=+-H 6,303 229,281 1,435 78 (33,602) (12,800) 190,69 - 190,695
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 B AN BREEN
FoH R E - - - - - (50) (50) - (50)
Restated balance at 1 January 2019 2-7F-F-HB2z
‘3“‘ §§U%§§ 6,303 229,281 1,485 78 (33,602) (12,850) 190,645 - 190,645
Fair value changes on financial HATEESAEMRE
assets at fair value through other A Z £BEEZ
comprehensive income ATEEES - - - - (827) - (827) - (827)
Transfer of share options reserve  RESRIEE B EIRE
upon the expiry of share options G - - (1,435) - - 1,435 - - -
Total comprehensive income FR2ERALE
for the year - - - - - (20839 £0839) - 20839
Changes in equity for the year FREGEE - - (1,435) - 827) (19,404) (21,666) - (21,666)
At 31 December 2019 and - n&
1 January 2020 + =t-
“2°%%5-B 6,303 229,281 - 78 (34,429 (82,254) 168,979 - 168,979
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—RHEAT = - - - - - - 614 614
Share-based payments MRIAZ IFIB - - 1,858 - - - 1,858 - 1,858
Fair value changes on financial ~ BATBEFALMEE
assets at fair value through WAZERBEEZ
other comprehensive income  ATEEEH - - - - (137) - (137) - (137)
Total comprehensive income FRZARALE
for the year - - - - - (@9,111) “9,111) 1,152) (50,269)
Changes in equity for the year ~ FREZEH - - 1,858 - (137) (49,11) (47,390) (538) (47,928)
At 31 December 2020 RZZZZE
+ZB=+-H 6,303 229,281 1,858 8 (34,566) (81,365) 121,589 (538) 121,051
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EEARERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 EHZE _— &

“EBF+_A=+—HLFE

2020 2019
—ETEHF “E2—hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Cash flows from operating activities REEHFFNIRERE
Loss before tax FRIRATESIE (47,132) (16,719)
Adjustments for: YR IEEE
Interest income FE WA (130) (310)
Finance costs U D %N 237 61
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ~ #)% - BB K& HITE 2,803 1,702
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE 2,495 717
Amortisation of intangible assets B EERH - 152
Fair value gain on financial assets at BATEESAEBGRD
fair value through profit or loss ETMEBEEZANTFEE
W - (75)
Provision for impairment loss on property, M BEREREN
plant and equipment HEEBEERE 1,673 390
Provision for impairment loss on goodwill EENRERBIERE - 10,295
Provision for impairment loss on trade B ENEIEN
receivables AEEBEIERE 22 1,507
Provision for impairment loss on loans and FEW B K H BB R ERE
interest receivables B 46,456 12,545
Write off of inventories WEEFE 414 -
Loss on modification of loans E?ME‘ET??ZE?E 1,710 -
Gain arising from derecognition of investment in 4% |EFEsR— B E AT 2
an associate KREEENNE - (352)
Share of loss of an associate FEME—RE M E A Bl 18 - 856
Share of loss of a joint venture fEh—BE&E A ARER 37 26
Share-based payments MRAA 2 7IE 1,858 -
Operating cash flows before working capital EEESEHLKE
changes BEnE 10,443 10,795
Decrease in inventories EFEEL 26 47
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 K Efh FEUSERIEIE /0 (2,231) (649)
(Increase)/decrease in loans and interest FEWERRHE (80
receivables SR (37,913) 492
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at BAFEES AER
fair value through profit or loss SREE 08m /UZ"‘ (6,038) 1,923
Increase in contract assets EHBEEN (1,568) -
Decrease in contract liabilities s498a&EHD (6,175) (1,229
Increase/(decrease) in accruals and FESTE R R EMENTIE
other payables a0, Ol 2,911 (4,580)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations &= (FrA) /FiiEnRs (40,545) 6,805
Hong Kong profits tax paid BAEEFER (7,685) (236)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating 1EEE) (FRA) Frgm
activities IRE3E8 (48,230) 6,569
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SARERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

2020 2019
ZEIZE ZE—NEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Cash flows from investing activities KREEHFRFNRERE
Interest received BUFE 130 310
Proceed from redemption of convertible bond ~ B&[E] p] 2 iR &5 PRI TNIE - 1,500
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYE BEKREE (1,066) (4,319
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi —RINE AT (6,625) -
Net cash flows used in investing activities KEESPTAEN
W me 8 (7,561) (2,509)
Cash flows from financing activities BEEBIFIFIIRERE
Payment of lease liabilities BEREaRE (2,303) (7Q7)
Interest expenses FERE (41) -
Net cash used in financing activities B ESFANIREFE (2,344) (707)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERASEE YW BL)
cash equivalents HENEEE (58,135) 3,353
Cash and cash equivalents at FRERFREEEY
beginning of the year 92,357 89,004
Cash and cash equivalents at FRRERFAEEEY
end of the year 34,222 92,357
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERBAEEBMZ AN
Cash and bank balances B RIRTTAERR 34,222 72,357
Non-pledged time deposits with original REBARRIEH DR
maturity of less than three months when =ER ZIFEIREHRER
acquired - 20,000
34,222 92,357

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited < Annual Report 2020




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #ZE —

GENERAL INFORMATION

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is Windward 3,
Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-
1108, Cayman lIslands with effect from 16 December 2020. The
address of its principal place of business in Hong Kong is Unit
Nos. 1209-10, 12/F., Prosperity Millennia Plaza, No. 663 King’s
Road, North Point, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed
on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations
(“HK(IFRIC)-Int”). These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provision of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

1.

4R M B mRM T

EEE+AZ+—HIEEE

—iREH

EMEmMBEEERABRAT (TA2F) 1R
EHENERAR ZTHENETMMIAE
HEBRAR -BZZZH5+"A+/<H
e > 7NN B) 2z 5 il =5 R Ik A Windward 3,
Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands © Z~/A 5
HNEBFEEXMBUNEELBREES
6635k 5h B E X TEEH121812090-10F ©
RABIZRBRNERERHERZMBERRE
(TE§ 22 Pfr)) GEM 3 o

ARABZEEBEBR/REZER - HNBEAF
ZEEEZHIN R M BRERMFT220

mREE

REVBRRLREREEGHMNLE (&
BESAE)) BHEZAMAEBERAEBMBR
SRR ((EBYBREER) R -FBH
BREENQEEBUHFREER (EEY
BIWEER)) ; BB EER (HBEHE
) ; k2 ((EBERVBHREREEE
g) —RE)) RERAUBRETTEH
RZFFGEMEE S EHRAI (TGEMEHRA) 2
BRRBHRXREBRBEG (FBEF622
B)ZRERE ARBRHENBLAE MES
MREH) FMzERG SRR BB REN
To

BEREHMASCEMETRAER TS
STHIR B REXE A (H 12 B RN ATHTET R AL
BT EBMBREER - INE3RMEBERE
ARAgstHERB TSt BRAERE
ERBRAPMER R RN ZEFES Y HRE
ERG S ERESIER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M IR R L

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. RANFTRRESTE BT
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING =g -1l
STANDARDS

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) FERAMIIREEITIEBMBRE

The Group has applied the Amendments to Reference to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Definition of Material
HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform

Except as described below, the application of the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of

Material

The amendments provide a new definition of material that
states “information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements, which provide financial information about a
specific reporting entity.” The amendments also clarify
that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude of
information, either individually or in combination with other
information, in the context of the financial statements taken
as a whole.

The application of the amendments had no impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M B IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE_E _ZH&+_A=+—HILEE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

3. MM REETTERMIBZIR
=28 ()

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) FERAMIIREEITIEBMBRE

(continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

The amendments clarify the definition of a business and
provide further guidance on how to determine whether a
transaction represents a business combination. In addition,
the amendments introduce an optional “concentration test”
that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is an asset rather than business
acquisition, when substantially all of the fair value of the
gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets.

The Group has applied the amendments prospectively to
transactions for which the acquisition date is on or after 1
January 2020. The application of the amendments had no
impact on the consolidated financial statements as similar
conclusion would have been reached without applying the
optional concentration test.

#8 (@)
BEMBEREERE3 (155T7F) ¥
BZEE
ZEEREBEBNES WL
ME-—BXZEESREREFAHIE
HE—FI551 Mo ZFEITHSIA
BEEMR TERERED > MR EERE
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—BV R B B E S — B R B
BER A —AAWENEBREE
HEABEEMIFEFWHBIRMHBET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective for the
financial year beginning 1 January 2020. These new and
revised HKFRSs include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

. BRI BB T B BT R
=ELIRC))

(b) B AEMRME [ K 4 R AR 5T R A2
S EAMB RS ER
FEEFARPRACEBER -Z
“ERE-A-BRGNMBEEYE
BT RSETEBMBRE S
Bl ST RISETEBHBRE S
R BIEFT AL B A SR M A RABY LU T 2R -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

YN

2 BERM

AR EM

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 ARV ERSERF165% (BE]4) 1 June 2020

Related Rent Concessions

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS
7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, plant and
equipment: proceeds before intended use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous contracts
— cost of fulfiling a contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018
— 2020 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
liabilities as current or non-current

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments and new standards
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So

COVID-19/ERAFA & - =

EBMHREER B HHB G5 ER]
B30k BB S ERE 75J3%
EEMBREERNBIRREBYE
WELERIE165E (BET4) MIRELE
E-B AR

BB BIWELEREINR (EFTE)
R IMEHER 2 R4t

BB G ERIE165E (B5T4) ¥
R Es Ko © BEE BRI Z FRSARIA

BB G ERIEI7 (BT X) BEAH
—BITEAMA

EBUBRELEN S N\EE
TETBFEERENE

BESHERS19 (BT RN
IEREBESER

far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely BN KA AE ¥
to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial R
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise
in the accounting policies below (e.g. certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed
in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The Group has
power over an entity when the Group has existing rights
that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities,
i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

4. EXRGETHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(@) Consolidation (continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii)
the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary
plus any remaining goodwill and any accumulated foreign
currency translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of
the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses, unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M B IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXGHEER (48)

(continued)

(b) ¥HEHEREE

(b) Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. The
consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and
any contingent consideration. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs
are incurred and the services are received. |dentifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are
measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the sum of the
consideration transferred is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is
attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss. The fair value is added to the sum of the consideration
transferred in a business combination to calculate the
goodwiill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s
identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUS”") or groups of CGUs that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents
the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwiill
impairment reviews are undertaken annually, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
a potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU
containing the goodwill is compared to its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair
value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently
reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M IR R L

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c)

(d)

Contingent consideration

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in
a business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-
date fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments against
goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments
that arise from additional information obtained during the
“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from
the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a
liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered when
assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to
significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial
ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M B IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

4. EXGERK (B)

(d) Associates (continued) (d) EERT (48)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method and
is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill which is included in the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses and other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. When the Group’s share of
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share
of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M IR R L

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d) Associates (continued)

(e)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results
in a loss of significant influence represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale
plus the fair value of any investment retained in that
associate and (i) the Group’s entire carrying amount of that
associate (including goodwill) and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve. If an investment in an
associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the
Group continues to apply the equity method and does not
remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two
or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control. Relevant activities are activities that
significantly affect the returns of the arrangement. When
assessing joint control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint
venture. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a joint
arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control
of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement. The Group has assessed the type of each of
its joint arrangements and determined them to all be joint
ventures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e) Joint arrangements (continued)

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the joint venture in an acquisition are measured
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill, which is included in the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying
amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

The Group’s share of a joint venture’s post-acquisition
profits or losses and other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. When the Group’s share of
losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
joint venture), the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share
of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture that
results in a loss of joint control represents the difference
between () the fair value of the consideration of the sale
plus the fair value of any investment retained in that
joint venture and (i) the Group’s entire carrying amount
of that joint venture (including goodwill) and any related
accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate, the Group continues to apply the equity method
and does not remeasure the retained interest.

4. EXGERK (B)

(e)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M IR R L

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e) Joint arrangements (continued)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of joint ventures have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(f)

Foreign currency translation

@

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s

financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(f) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iij) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rates
on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the foreign currency translation
reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of monetary items that form part of the
net investment in foreign entities are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as part of the
gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.

(g) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings and
leasehold land, held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than properties under construction as described below), are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

4. EXGERK (B)

(f)

(9)

ShERE (48)

(i) #FEBEBRE
NMEEKEARNTD R EBRE
ZFIEREBRERE2ERUHK
KRBT AERITEAEERTZ

238

- BYUBRAKRMEIZEE
RkaBRZMBREEBH
ZWHEERE ;

- WARZHZBARTFHEZX
E (PRIFEFHIERILIF
REHBEXZRAREZS
BAE BIERBERT WA
RIXUBERSAZERR
8k

- FAREMEEZERZR
B E 2 YA P R SR A Y
SNEEREEARE -

MRER MEBERIEINERRE
FEZ-BONEEREMES
ZERERNEMEE WA RRE
SO SN B 2 R 4 P R BT o fig
ERMNER AARMEREERE
MOBEGERERIIFHEZ
B U SRS IR o

HBBRIBEMEEZHER
NFEEBRBDBIFREINERZ
EERBE TRRHERKRE

ME BB K fi
REAREESHEERAMBAF
THAR (FXFRERYERIN B9
ME-BERRE (BEEFREEL
#) HIEMARAERRFITERERR
stRERE WA) REE MBI RS
iR

ESRMIEEERBRAR « 2020FF3

82



83

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms

Furniture and fixtures 20% to 50%

Computer equipment and 20% to 50%
software

Motor vehicle 20%

Other equipment 10%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and equipment pending installation,
and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation
begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M B IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

4. EXGERK (B)

(h) Leases (h) FHE

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

The Group as a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SrEMBImRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises the
initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, and any initial
direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the
right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life
and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced
to zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h) Leases (continued)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (‘lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease.
In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification. The
only exceptions are any rent concessions which arose as
a direct consequence of the coronavirus disease 2019
(“COVID-19”) pandemic and which satisfied the conditions
set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In such cases, the
Group took advantage of the practical expedient set out in
paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and recognised the change in
consideration as if it were not a lease modification.

Other intangible assets
Internally-generated intangible assets -

research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. An internally
generated intangible asset arising from the Group’s systems
development is recognised only if all of the following
conditions are met:

- The technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

- Management intends to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

—  There is ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

- [t can be demonstrated how the intangible asset wil
generate probable future economic benefits;

—  Adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset are available;

- The expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
during its development can be reliably measured.

Internally generated intangible assets are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of 4 years. Where no internally
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M IR R L

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

)

(k)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis.
The cost of finished goods comprises all cost of purchase
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

Contract assets and contract liabilities
Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for expected credit
losses (“ECL”) in accordance with the policy set out in note
4(aa) and are reclassified to receivables when the right to
the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the
group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

0

(m)

Recognition and derecognition of financial

instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. All recognised financial assets are measured
subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or
fair value, depending on the classification of the financial
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(m) Financial assets (continued)

Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one
of the following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method.

—  fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI") - recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments of
principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is achieved
by both the collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity
to profit or loss.

- FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment
(including interest) are recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate the investment at
FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the
time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings.
It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from
an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

(q)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.
If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument
is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities
and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M IR R L

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

(s)

(t)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from provision of software maintenance, hosting
and related services is recognised over the contracted
period on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group as the Group performs. Advances
are normally required before rendering the services.

Software licensing fee income from leasing the software
products to its customers is recognised as a performance
obligation satisfied over time when the related services are
rendered. The nature of the Group’s performance obligation
in granting a license is considered to be a right to access
the Group’s intellectual property.

Revenue from sales of merchandise, after deduction of any
discounts, is recognised at a point in time when control
of the products has transferred, being when the products
are delivered to the customer, the customer has accepted
the products, the collection of the related consideration is
probable and there is no unfulfiled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited < Annual Report 2020

4. EXGERK (B)

(r)

(s)

®)

B RHEMEIRIE

B RAEMBNRBENSZERTE
B HRIRAERM AR BN
KB RIFMIREEBE M MRS
TR RIS AR ©

lR&THR
RAEATEDAEREERNINGERA
BERENREETHEANTIGEDNE
AEN - FRBFRETZRATREZE
WP S MIBIN R EZ T A AR

Wz e EL fth UT A
BWEEEERKRBENREBER
Zh o BAEBRPNEAZAENE
T8 WA BERRE =77 WEBIEER)
T HE R o W T~ B IR EIR S H &
£ BEMNFREAESTN-

RERMFRE  ARSFTEREBARS
MR m IR G N ER AR R
ARnETAEEBENRERRRZIIL
HEAEBRRHOME REHRBEZ
AIEE g ERIAMNRIE

MEFRENYEQE SRS
B AR 1R 4B R AR S B R SR A P S
EERNBOEE  SEEB TSR
BB 40 8 (T 1 B 0 5 M B A o M 4
AR o

HEBmIOWE GEINRERITN R E
miEI RSB R BRER RER
EXNFEA - ZREEXER EMH
RERTETRRELTEAIEZER
FERERIREBITEER-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

®

Revenue and other income (continued)
Revenue from sales of technology software systems, and
provision of system customisation and network support
services, after deduction of any discounts, is recognised
at a point in time on completion of the customisation and
network support work which generally coincides with the
time when the customised software and network support
work is accepted by the customer. The collection of the
related consideration is probable and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products and services.

Revenue from provision of other IT related services is
recognised over the contracted period on a straight-
line basis because the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as it performs.

Revenue from sales of electronic dartboards is recognised
at a point in time when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the
customers, the customer has accepted the products, the
collection of the related consideration is probable and there
is no unfulfiled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products.

Revenue from trading of gaming products and provision
of related marketing services is recognised over the
contracted period on a straight-line basis because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(u) Employee benefits

(v)

@

(i)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits, and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain employees and others providing similar services.
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at the
fair value (excluding the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant.
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for
the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v)

(w)

(x)

v)

Share-based payments (continued)
Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-
market based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to parties other than
employees are measured at the fair value of the services
rendered or, if the fair value of the services rendered
cannot be reliably measured, at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted. The fair value is measured at the date
the Group receives the services and is recognised as an
expense.

Borrowing costs
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because of items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

4. EXGERK (B)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M IR R L

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences, unused
tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v)

()

Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of
the initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed
at each reporting date for indications of impairment and
where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its
estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets. If this is
the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable
amount is the higher of value in use and the fair value
less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the cash-
generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values
are computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset/
cash-generating unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated
first against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata
amongst the other assets of the cash-generating unit.
Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused
by changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the
extent that they reverse the impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SrEMBImRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(aa) Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost or at FVTOCI, trade and other receivables
and contract assets. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, loans and interest receivables and contract
assets. The ECL on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time
value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M B IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

4. EXGERK (B)

(aa) EMEERESNEERE (B

(aa) Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information
considered includes the future prospects of the industries
in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from
economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental
bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations,
as well as consideration of various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information that relate to the
Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

—  significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

—  significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor; and

- an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic or technological environment
of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M IR R L

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXGHEER (48)

(continued)
(aa) Impairment of financial assets and contracts (qa) EMEERAREERE (B)
assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued) ERERBEEEN ()

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit BEFETLMER ® %\%EEIEB’:\ weE

risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly AfREREARARERAR &%

since initial recognition if the financial instrument is BRI E: WEEREB S EE?J
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A R SBERLM i TOMRRT > =k
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if: TARBEEARBREERK

()  the financial instrument has a low risk of default; () E=RIAZYEBRRE;

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its (i) BEHBABRANEAREHREH
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and GHRTREEE, &

(iy adverse changes in economic and business (iif) Eﬁ??/ﬁﬂ A HE REBRREFLR
conditions in the longer term may, but will not HEEF) MR RN HISSERRAZEMR
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfi HENRERBEEMRE -
its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit EEER ﬁ RIREI PR E & 2 S8 Mg ’ﬁ

risk when the asset has external credit rating of “investment AR Al fE B AR SN (W M S SN ER ST AR) B

grade” in accordance with the globally understood definition ?ﬁﬁ mE & Q’JJ A RIAREERE

or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ:ﬁf&ﬁgmf‘ﬁ BRI Z

internal rating of “performing”. Performing means that the FEREARDIBR BN AR

counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no

past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the ~EEEH %\%Z BUHENEERRZ

criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant DREEEM ZZ%EU 2 MAEEEE

increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to 2> LAKE £ 75 Bl 2R B BE S 0 AR TR AL A A

ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant HBEEREREERM -

increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past

due.

Definition of default BHZESE

The Group considers the following as constituting an event AEEART OIS IR 5P BLS B AL

of default for internal credit risk management purposes as BEMSZEBNEMH REZBELR

historical experience indicates that receivables that meet BTRNE TIMERER Z BUWRIE—

either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable. fiw B T R U [E] o

—  when there is a breach of financial covenants by the - EXZHHERMBUEER, N
counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from - ABEMTBIINBREREFZE
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to HETREBANKAEREEEA
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without (BREAEE) THER (LEE
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group). BAEEFE Z EMETR) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M B IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

4. EXGERK (B)

(aa) EMEERESEEERE (B

(aa) Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.
However, financial assets that are written off could still be
subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the
Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate.

A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SrEMBImRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(aa) Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn
down in the future by default date determined based on
historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific
future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant
forward-looking information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the
previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified approach was
used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(ab) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

(ac) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY

ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,
which are dealt with below).

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4, ECL are measured as an allowance equal
to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage
2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS
9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase in
credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has
significantly increased the Group takes into account qualitative
and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking
information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SrEMBImRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY

ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within

the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than the
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash flows or upward
revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss or

further impairment loss may arise.

Furthermore, the estimated cash flows and discount rate
are subject to higher degree of estimate uncertainties in
the current year due to uncertainty on how the COVID-19
pandemic may progress and evolve and volatility in financial
markets, including potential disruptions of the Group’s

operations.

The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the reporting
period was approximately HK$6,726,000 (2019: Nil). No

impairment loss was recognised during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)
(b) Impairment of trade, loans and interest receivables

(c)

The management of the Group estimates the amount
of impairment loss for ECL on trade, loans and interest
receivables based on the credit risk of trade receivables.
The amount of the impairment loss based on ECL model
is measured as the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition. Where the future cash flows are less
than expected, or being revised downward due to changes
in facts and circumstances, a material impairment loss may
arise.

Due to greater financial uncertainty triggered by the
COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has increased the
expected loss rates in the current year as there is a higher
risk that a prolonged pandemic could lead to increased
credit default rates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s trade receivables, loans and interest receivables
are disclosed in note 6(c).

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of
trade, loans and interest receivables are HK$7,504,000
(net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$938,000),
HK$78,280,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$54,553,000) and HK$1,220,000 (net of allowance
for doubtful debts of HK$4,448,000) respectively (2019:
HK$6,644,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$916,000), HK$87,228,000 (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of HK$12,312,000) and HK$2,524,000 (net
of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$233,000)).

Fair value of contingent consideration payable

The fair value of contingent consideration payable was
determined by using valuation techniques. The Group’s
management uses its judgement to select a variety of
methods and make assumptions, including the discount
rates and estimation of future performance. Changes in
assumptions used could materially affect the fair value of
the balances and, as a result, affect the Group’s financial
conditions and results of operation. At 31 December 2020,
the carrying amount of contingent consideration payable
amounted to HK$21,000 (2019: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(d) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and

(e)

right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset;
and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate
in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the net
present value used in the impairment test.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2020 were
HK$1,514,000 (2019: HK$4,702,000) and HK$11,399,000
(2019: HK$3,680,000) respectively.

Income taxes

Significant estimates are required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
year in which such determination is made. During the year,
HK$3,131,000 (2019: HK$4,120,000) of income tax was
charged to profit or loss based on the estimated profit from
operations.

The carrying amount of current tax assets and liabilities as
at 31 December 2020 were HK$57,000 and nil respectively
(2019: Nil and HK$3,913,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as
most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through its
investment in equity securities. The management manages
this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risk and return profiles. The Group’s equity price
risk is mainly concentrated on equity securities quoted on
the Stock Exchange.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the end of the
reporting period.

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower (2019: 10%
higher/lower):

- loss after tax for the year ended 31 December 2020
would decrease/increase by HK$1,227,000 (2019:
decrease/increase by HK$623,000). This is mainly
due to the changes in fair value of held-for-trading
investments; and

- other comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2020 would increase/decrease
by HK$402,000 (2019: increase/decrease by
HK$380,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
FVTOCI.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

(c) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet
its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed
to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade
receivables, loans and interest receivables and contract
assets) and from its financing activities, including deposits
with banks and financial institutions. The Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is
limited because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with high credit-rating assigned by international
credit-rating agencies, for which the Group considers to
have low credit risk.

Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors of
the Company closely monitor the overall level of credit
exposure, and the management is responsible for the
determination of credit approvals and monitoring the
implementation of the debt collection procedure to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate loss allowance is made for
irrecoverable amounts. The default risk of the industry and
country in which customers operate also has an influence
on credit risk but to a lessor extent. In this regard, the
Directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit
risk has been significant reduced.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at
31 December 2019 and 2020:

MHEREERE (&)

(c) EERK (8B)
B REWIE ()
TREHEBEAAERAN _ZE—LER
CECEFE+_HA=+—HWEER
BREZERTIBEEEEEGRENE
i

2020
ZEIEE

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHARSHE R IREARE E5iE R E
HK$’000 HK$’000
% FAT FAET
Current (not past due) BNER (GR#EHR) 0.5% 6,054 30
1 - 30 days past due #AHE1ZE30H 1.2% 735 9
31 — 90 days past due #AHA31E0H 2.9%-6.3% 245 7
More than 90 days past due AHEAEE90H 9.4%-100% 1,408 892
8,442 938
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

MHEREERE (&)

(c) FEERE (&)

Trade receivables (continued) B ZEKE (&)
2019
==y =S

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
LIV SEsES IRE4ARE pisEedic
HK$'000 HK$'000
% TAET FHET
Current (not past due) BOHA (GRigHR) 0%-0.5% 4,769 24
1 — 30 days past due #AHA1ZE30H 1.2% 1,175 14
31 — 90 days past due #AHA31E0H 2.8%-5.9% 569 21
More than 90 days past due AHEABE90H 8.3%-100% 1,047 857
7,560 916

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. MBEMERE ()
(continued)
(c) Credit risk (continued) (c) EERMKE (&)
Trade receivables (continued) B ZEKE (&)

Movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables during
the year is as follows:

RENBZRERBEZBREFEHEH
FINE -

2020 2019

—EIEE “EBE-hEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FHET

At 1 January W—B—H 916 159
Amounts written off during year RERMEERIE - (750)
Impairment losses recognised for the year K& A ERREEE 22 1,507
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 938 916

Loans and interest receivables

Crediit risk management

In respect of loans and interest receivables arising from the
money lending business, the management manages and
analyses the credit risk for each of their new and existing
customers before standard payment terms and conditions
are offered. The management assesses the credit quality
of each customer based on the customer’s background
information, financial position, past settlement experience
and other relevant factors. The Group also reviews from
time to time the financial conditions of the customers. In
this regard, the Directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk has been significantly reduced.

Measurement of ECL

The Group measures loss allowance under HKFRS 9 ECL
model. The measure of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e., the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data, collateral values, credit
rating of customers and adjusted by forward-looking
information.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. MERMERE (8)
(continued)
(c) Credit risk (continued) (c) EERMK (&

Loans and interest receivables (continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The key inputs used for measuring ECL are:

- Probability of default (PD);
- Loss given default (LGD); and
- Exposure at default (EAD).

These figures are generally derived from internally
developed statistical models and other historical data and
they are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information.

Elements of the ECL models that are considered
accounting judgements and estimates include:

—  The Group’s estimation of probabilities of default to
individual customers;

- The Group’s criteria for assessing if there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for
financial assets should be measured on a lifetime ECL
basis and the qualitative assessment;

- Development of ECL models, including the various
formulas and the choice of inputs over determination
of the period over which the entity is exposed to
credit risk based on the behavioural life of the credit
exposures, loss given default and collateral recovery of
the credit exposures; and

- Determination of associations between
macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs,
such as delinquency ratios and collateral values, and
the effect on probabilities of default, exposures at
default and losses given default.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

6. MBAEKERE (&)

(c) FEER (@)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

Loans and interest receivables (continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)

It is the Group’s policy to regularly review its model in
the context of actual loss experience and adjust when
necessary.

The Group categorises the credit quality of its loans and
interest receivables according to 3 different stages under
the ECL model:

Stage 1: financial assets without significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition where loss
allowance is calculated based on 12-month
ECL

Stage 2: financial assets with significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition where loss
allowance is calculated based on lifetime ECL

Stage 3: credit impaired assets where loss allowance is
calculated based on lifetime ECL

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Group uses forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort in its assessment of significant
increase of credit risk as well as in its measurement of ECL.

Crediit risk exposure

The Group applies the general approach to provide for
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9 on its loans and interest
receivables. The Group has taken into account the
probability of default and loss given default with reference
to the historical delinquency ratio of loans, collateral values,
credit rating of customers and current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

Loans and interest receivables (continued)

Crediit risk exposure (continued)

The credit quality classification of loans and interest
receivables using the Group’s ECL model is set out in the

6. MERMERE (8)

() EEEE (48)
BIRBEZRFE ()
SEmBHLO (&
feRARE2 BREABARLLES
ZEBNERENEZ EEEESER

table below: FIRA T :
As at 31 December 2020
RZZ2ZZEE+-A=+—H
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
P ER1 P& ER2 2]
128 A 2REH 2T
EE855E =E51E =851 izt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TAT AT TAT TAT
Loans receivable EWER 43,900 21,322 67,611 132,833
Impairment allowance HEEE (425) (2,737) (51,391) (54,553)
Loans receivable - net of impairment EWED—ENRRERE
allowance 43,475 18,585 16,220 78,280
Interest receivables FEUA & 380 1,939 3,349 5,668
Impairment allowance HEEE 1) (1,924) (2,523) (4,448)
Interest receivables - net of imparment ~ FEUH 8 — 4 BRBLE B 5
allowance 379 15 826 1,220
As at 31 December 2019
RIZ2—hFE+ZA=1+—H
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL Total
PR ER 1 P2 PEERS
128 5 18R £ e ‘
FEBE FEBE FEBEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEr FTET FET FTEx
Loans receivable EWER 68,089 8,951 22,500 99,540
Impairment allowance BB %*1% (469) (187) (11,656) (12,312)
Loans receivable - net of impairment EWER—ZIRRERES
allowance 67,620 8,764 10,844 87,228
Interest receivables FEIH S 1,783 77 203 2,757
Impairment allowance HEEE (13) (17) (203) (239)
Interest receivables - net of impairment ~ FEURHI & — &SN BB E R 5
allowance 1,770 754 - 2,524
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

6. MBAEKERE (&)

(c) FEER (@)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

Loans and interest receivables (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The allowance for credit losses is sensitive to the inputs
used in internally developed models, macroeconomic
variables in the forward-looking forecasts, economic
scenario weighting and other factors considered when
applying expert judgement. Changes in these inputs,
assumptions and judgements impact the assessment of
significant increase in credit risk and the measurement of
ECL.

The following table shows the impact on ECL allowance on
loans receivable and interest receivables as at 31 December
by changing individual input:

FEREHRFE ()

R E DT
EEREEENFEERNME EMNE
AP ERNEARE  RIRERANE
BREEE QRESSREURERSE
S R B o R B9 ELth R 3R = SURKRY © 5%
W ABE - RRRFEVE R HE
ERRBEEMhAREEGRGTE
EEFE-

TRETBBENEZEN B ARBHE
E+ZR=+—HNRWERRENK
NENRIMEEGRER  FE !

Increase/(decrease) on
ECL allowance on loans and
interest receivables
e E R F) 2RI TEHR
EEEEEEEMm (Rl

2020 2019
ZEZE —T-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Assuming the expected default rate is R TRHABAOTAEE EF10%
relatively increased by 10% 317 484
Assuming the expected default rate is R TERREANEMEE TFE10%
relatively decreased by 10% (5,708) (1,255)

Concentration of crediit risk

At 31 December 2020, the Group has certain concentration
of credit risk as 30.42% (2019: 23.15%) and 43.33%
(2019: 34.35%) of the total trade receivables were due
from the largest trade customers and five largest trade
customers respectively.

At 31 December 2020, the Group has certain concentration
of credit risk as 7.53% (2019: 11.37%) and 32.26% (2019:
45.89%) of the total loans receivable were due from the
largest loan receivable and five largest loans receivable
respectively.

EERRESR
RIE-EFE+"_A=+—H BRE
ZIERRIBMRRERSB0.42% (ZE—A
£ 123.15%) 43.33% (ZE—HFE:
34.35%) DRIABWRABSZERA A
AEGRRZHB WAEEEETE
BEHPRR-

RZEZZ2F+_A=+—H @R
B EWRIE4EEENT.53% (Z2—A
F111.837%) K&32.26% (ZE—H4F .
45.89%) DRI AR AKEWER KA KX
FEWEZ WAEBRBEETEEETR
7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M IR R L

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost

All of the Group’s investments at amortised cost are
considered to have low credit risk, and the loss allowance
recognised during the period was therefore limited to
12-month expected losses. Management considers ‘low
credit risk’ for listed debit securities to be an investment
grade credit rating with at least one major rating agency.
Other instruments are considered to be low credit risk when
they have a low risk of default and the issuer has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term.

Financial assets at amortised cost include other receivables,
and cash and cash equivalents.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities is
as follows:

6. MBAEMKERE (&)

(c) FEERE (&)

B HERE BN M EE
PRERERREHENATENREDN
EERBHEIE FLL > KRR 2
BREERELI2ERAREERERR-
EEER R LTEFIEFZREE
Bl #EL—REBTREBETZ
REMEET R -HEMTRAENER
REMFETABRBENNIEHNE
TEOREZREREEME MHEMT
AZEERRBEREBBRIE-

REHENAFECEREECHEHM
BUWRERRERIREEEY -

(d) RBEEER
FEBRNBREENEEENREH
MRBESHR LIEREMER B
ReFE LUNEERRBRRRS

FERRKRTRREMNEFEZFT
SERMeBEaNIBHBS AT

On demand
or less than Over
1 year 1 year Total
BRERERY
DS B st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEx FET
At 31 December 2020 NZB-BFE
+=ZA=+—H
Accruals and other payables EstERAREMELTIE 21,816 - 21,816
Lease liabilities HE&RE 5,324 7,247 12,571
Contingent consideration liabilities FARERE - 24 24
At 31 December 2019 RIB—hE
+ZRA=+—H
Accruals and other payables fEstERAREMENTIE 20,299 - 20,299
Lease liabilities HEaR 2,199 1,627 3,826
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument or the interest income of a portfolio will fluctuate
due to changes in market interest rates. The Group’s major
interest-bearing assets at the end of the reporting period
are bank deposits and interest-bearing loans receivable.
Interests on bank deposits are principally based on deposits
rates offered by banks in Hong Kong. Interest-bearing loans
receivable are charged at fixed rates.

The Group manages its interest rate exposure by matching
the interest rate profile of its assets and liabilities. The Board
is responsible for ensuring the policy is appropriate and
sufficient to monitor the interest rate exposure of the Group,
by regularly monitoring the benchmark interest rates of
products offered against prevailing market conditions. All of
the Group’s loans receivable carried fixed interest rates. The
Group prices these loans receivable strategically to reflect
market fluctuations and achieve a reasonable interest rate
spread.

Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is presented for interest
rate risk.

Categories of financial instruments at 31
December

6. MBAEKERE (&)

(e)

(f)

) 2= [m R

MERERESMTANBEINREMR
BEH B U AR BE T 35 KB MoK
PR -NREHAR  AEBETES
BEERRTERKREWG ZEMR R
TERNMNEZBZEREANIRTIE
M FRF XK - BT B ERIRE EF)

Ei 8o

FEEZBREERBRNMNERET
RHREEREANXEAR - EFETEETE
FAEE 2 E Ry A T O B E m AE R S AR A
BYIERA X BRBUERIGE - B
REBAENAXREAR AEE2 IR
WERIREEFN KRR - A EEA R
M R ZERREREE  URMRTH
BURE) TR SENEE-

Hit > WA X E R 258K E D

#

R+ZA=+—HZE&MI A
il

2020 2019
—E_EHF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FET
Financial assets: ERMEE:
Financial assets measured at FVTOCI BAFEESAREMZEBALN
THEE 7,250 7,387
Financial assets measured at FVTPL BATEBEFABEGNEREE 12,269 6,231
Financial assets measured at BIE AT ENESHEE
amortised cost 125,759 192,145
Financial liabilities: ERERE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BESEm ATt EN AR 21,816 20,299
Lease liabilities HEEeE 11,758 3,647
Contingent consideration payable B SARE 21 -
Fair values (9) 2FEE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position approximate their respective fair values.

FEBRFAGEMHRIRPIER
BERTHEENREELZEZAD
NPEEES-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M IR R L

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures
of fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that
categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:

Level 2 inputs:

Level 3 inputs:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.

unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in

circumstances that caused the transfer.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited < Annual Report 2020
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) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

7. ATEEFE (@)

(@ R+-RA=+—HZAFEEE

31 December: AR EE
Fair value measurements using: Total
FEANTHARBZ ATEENE st
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2020
F—# -t B ZEIEEF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Description i FET FET TET FHET
Recurring fair value REMATEENE
measurements:
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEESABRZ
SHEE
— Listed equity investments —ImRAKRE 12,269 - - 12,269
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATEESAEMEERA
ZEMEE
— Listed equity investment —EHRALE 4,019 = = 4,019
- Unisted equity investment —JELHREAKE - - 3,231 3,231
Total 4Bt 16,288 - 3,231 19,519
Financial liabilities e =R
Contingent consideration FETBIACE
payable _ _ 21 o1
Fair value measurements using: Total
FRAUTHABEZ ATEENE . 45t
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2019
£ E E=4 “2-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Description iz FHET FET FHET FAT
Recurring fair value BEMATEBENE:
measurements:
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEESABRZ
SHEE
— Listed equity investments —EmRALE 6,231 - - 6,231
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATEESAEMZERA
ZEHMEE
— Listed equity investment — L TRAKE 3,804 - - 3,804
— Unlisted equity investment ~ —3E EHRARE - - 3,583 3,583
Total “ast 10,035 - 3,583 13,618
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
*a MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

AFEESE (@

(continued)
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair (b) BRBEF=ZRKBRAFEEFEZE
value based on level 3: EHIER
Financial Financial
assets assets
at FVTPL - at FVTOCI -
convertible  unlisted equity
bonds investment Total
BRATEE
RATEE STAEM
STABEH 2HEBAR
TREE- SREE—
]RES ELHRERE 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
At 1 January 2019 RZZ—NFE—FE—H 1,425 3,231 4,656
Addition RE - 352 352
Fair value gain recognised in profit ~ 1* 8@ RN A FEE KT
or loss 75 - 75
Redemption o] (1,500) - (1,500)
At 31 December 2019 and R_E— ﬂﬁ'f’ A=+—H
at 1 January 2020 RZZ2ZEF—-F—H - 3,583 3,583
Fair value loss recognised in other R EM2E A AREEEI AT
comprehensive income EEBE - (352) (352)
At 31 December 2020 A ZETEFE+"HA=+—H - 3,231 3,231

Reconciliation of liabilities measured at fair value

WREF=RBELTEEFEZRE

based on level 3: R

Contingent
consideration
payable
FESHAKE
HK$'000
FH

At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and A ZE—NEF—H— EI ZE-NF

1 January 2020 +ZA=+—BRRIZ2ZZ2F

_ﬁ —
Addition RE 21
At 31 December 2020 RZZ2ZZF+"_F=+—H 21

Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M B IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(continued)

7. ATEEFE (@)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by (c)
the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements at 31

December 2020:

The fair value of the unlisted investments presented
as equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income is measured based on the
repurchase price agreed with the counterparty and
with reference to their net assets value. The Group has
determined that the net asset value represents the fair value

at the end of the reporting period.

During the two years, there were no changes in the

valuation techniques used.

DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by

FEEERAZEEBERRZT
“EF+ZR=+—HAFEE
stEPERZ A ERMRE AR

BZE

2 R/BATEES AHMEZERA
ZRAERENFLETREZRATEE
TSERBRFHHE ZBRERL KK
BEHEEFEFE - FEBEEEEE
EFERREARZATEE

P B PN > fi FB 2 i (B B g I 4

o

8. ZiFUm

FFEERIZRGEIDNRET N

major service line for the year is as follows: W AW -
2020 2019
—ECEHF “E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET
Revenue from contracts with customers EARAMBREENFEISRHEER
within the scope of HKFRS 15 REBEEEHZKE
Disaggregated by major service lines BT EIRBE DL
Sales of merchandise HER M 1,258 626
Sales of technology software systems HERMIMGRA 8,855 2,498
System customisation and network support EN -V E g 12,264 10,527
Software licensing fee MR E 30,464 33,739
Software maintenance services B RERT 9,276 9,116
Hosting and related services fee A2 T ERAERERTE 6,723 7,185
Other IT and internet financial platforms HthERR R R EHESR
services income FEERBUA - 116
Others Hih 248 106
69,088 63,913
Revenue from other sources HihzkiE 2z Wi
Interest income on loan financing ERME A BIA 7,241 9,924
76,329 73,837
EMERISEZERBRAT « 2020FF3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SrEMBImRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

8. DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE

(continued)

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and
services over time and at a point in time in the following major

8. oz (48)

AEBBNRERRRUTEEZRBERE—R
BN R E—FBRN G m R R EE

service lines:
Other IT
Financial ~ and internet
trading financial
software platforms Assets
solutions services  investments Others  Elimination Total
Hth
EMRA REHE
RIRA Ea]
5% BB BERE Hitr bis i gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TR FET FHER TR FHER
For the year ended HEZSCEE
31 December 2020 TZA=+-HLEEE
Time of revenue recognition s R
Point in time KRR 21977 - - 67 - 22,044
Over time eS| 46,363 - - 181 - 47,044
68,840 - - 248 - 69,088
For the year ended BE_Z—NE
31 December 2019 +ZA=+-HLIEE
Time of revenue recognition s R R
Point in time ¥-EHEE 13,342 1 - 106 - 13,449
Over time et 50,349 115 - - - 50,464
63,691 116 - 106 - 63,913
OTHER INCOME 9. HUkA
2020 2019
—2=F —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Interest income on bank deposits IRITERZF BUA 130 310
Government grant BT B 3,258 -
Sundry income HEIEIA 25 101
3,413 411

# During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised
government grant of HK$3,258,000 (2019: Nil) from the Employment
Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong SAR government.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

10. OTHER GAINS AND (LOSSES)

10. H iz & (B548)

2020 2019
ZEIEHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT TAT
Net fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at B AFBEFABZNEREE
fair value through profit or loss NEBENRE S (B518) $58
— listed equity investments —EmRA"RE (3,636) (1,039)
- convertible bond — AR ES - 75
Foreign exchange differences, net INBE ZE REFER 2 @
Bad debt recovery AR UL [E] 433 -
Loss on modification of loans BREEBZEBR (1,710) -
Provision for impairment loss on property, YME - BRE MR E R EE R
plant and equipment (1,673) (890)
Provision for impairment loss on B R IEREEREE
trade receivables (22) (1,507)
Gain arising from derecognition of RIEED SR ZREEYE
an investment in an associate B & - 352
(6,610) (2,511)

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has five (2019: five) operating segments as follows:

@

Financial trading software solutions — development, sale
and provision of financial trading software solutions with the
principal products being trading and settlement systems of
financial products for financial institutions;

Other IT and internet financial platforms services — provision
of e-commerce platforms, other online consultancy services
and provision of IT services and other financial information;

Money lending — provision of loan financing;
Assets investments — trading of listed securities; and

Others — comprises the Group’s referral business (which
provides referral services to source, identify and refer
prospective deal opportunities to interested parties),
corporate finance business (which provides corporate
finance advisory services), trading of gaming products and
the provision of related marketing services business and
stored valued mastercards business.

1. P EER

AEEBEUTHE CE—NEF: 1@ A2
B

(@

EMIXZRUEBRSTE-—RE HER
RUHESBISRUBRLSE TEEM
REETMEBEANETRERZTZ R
BERE

HtmEBERARERERMBEERM TR
B-RHEFEHTE HMERESH
AR 75 K R tH B AR AR 5 R A 75
ER

BE-RHERRE

BERE-BEELHHES &

Hith—SEAEENE N ER RIHE
B-MAREBNEERZHETEED
SN ART)  EEMBHES GRHhx
MHBEARY  REBEREMKIE
HERREERGEFRBEFERETF
EFe
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11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products and services. They are managed
separately because each business requires different technology
and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements. Segment profits or losses do not include unallocated
administrative expenses, interest income on bank deposits,
certain government grant, gain arising from derecognition of an
investment in an associate, fair value gain on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (convertible bond), share
of loss of a joint venture, share of loss of an associate and
income tax expense. Segment assets do not include investment
in a joint venture, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, deferred tax assets, current tax assets,
cash and cash equivalents and other corporate and unallocated
assets as these assets are managed on a group basis. Segment
liabilities do not include current and deferred tax liabilities and
other corporate and unallocated liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if
the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current market
prices.

(i) Information about reportable segments
profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Akt e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

1. ZEWEHR (@)

RERZ P 2D EBTH IR HAR E m R IR ES
ZREMEBEM ANSAEHFERTE
ZRMkHSERE ALZEIE2RD B
FRBIIEE-

KENBAAAZ Bt R AGR S M BIREM
FE4FTH 7 & STEURAA(R o 20 8F i F S5 18
TEEBEERDETHAS RITEMZHE
WA BT BN D A& L REER P — BB
ANBZREEEZWE AT EESAR
mEMEE (FJHRRES 22 TFEEK
DB —EEEAREE BH—HHRE
ANBEEKRFASRAX RN —E5EA
AZRE-BATEESAREMEZERAZ
TRMEE EEREBEE MANESE IR
ERBEEBYLURAMAB RRDEEE
DEREETAER WHMEETLEZSF
BE-ARRREERBEESEREMAT
RRDEBEDRERTLAEE o8&
BrEEZEARE-

AEBARD HBEHE R ERR MW AR
E@EEHEE =1 EMRBTHE FH-

() BERAAE2HSBEANNEGE B
ERBRZER:

Other IT
Financial and internet
trading financial
software platforms Money Assets
solutions serviﬁc?)z lending  investments Others  Elimination Total
B BilHE
eMRS  REHA
alER  ERTS
5% B3 i BERE Hith i st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TET TET TAT TET
For the year ended HE-Z-Z%
31 December 2020 " TIR=t-HLEE
Revenue from BT ER Z W
external customers 68,840 - 7,241 - 248 - 76,329
Segment profit/(loss) DEER/ (558 25,656 (730) (53,323) (3,757) (4,773) - (36,927)
Depreciation & 2,461 7 2,546 - 147 - 5,161
Provision for impaiment loss on property, 1% iR R
plant and equipment HEHRRE - - 1,673 - - - 1,673
Provision for impairment loss on trade BRERIEREHERE
receivables 22 - - - - - 22
Provision for impairment loss on loans and  FEE SR S A EREE
interest receivables - - 46,456 - - - 46,456
Additions o segment non-current assets B NEIEABEE 10,037 - 7 - 493 = 10,537
At 31 December 2020 N_E_RE
+-A=+-H
Segment assets AREE 25,305 31 79,947 12,268 7,779 - 125,420
Segment liabilties AHakE 44,210 180 639 28 581 - 45,638
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M B IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(i)

(1)

Information about reportable segments
profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

1. ZEEHR (@)

() BRAANEHIWBEANXNER B
ERBRZEHN (8)

(continued)
Other IT
Financial  and internet
trading financial
software platforms Money Assets
solutions services lending investments Others Elimination Total
Hfy
B
E] REEE
RHRA EHM¥a
GES &% (EL BERE =4 bis st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TEr TEr TEr TEn TiEx TEn
For the year ended HEZSAE
31 December 2019 T A=+-HIEE
Revenue from external customers BROMIEE 2 lm 63,691 116 9924 - 106 - 73837
Segment profit/loss) HEET/ (B 23443 (2,034) (10,550) (1613) (18916) - 9670)
Depreciation & 1,372 5 871 - 171 - 2419
Amortisation B 152 - - - - - 152
Provision for impairment loss on property, N2 BERXEAESERE
plant and equipment - - - - 390 - 390
Provision for impairment loss LRRY AR ESRRE
on trade receivables 189 478 - - 840 - 1,507
Provision for impaiment loss on loans and RS RIS FEFEEE
interest receivables - - 12,545 - - - 12,545
Provision for impairment loss on goodwil BEAERRRE - - - - 10,295 - 10,295
Additions to segment non-current assets RENDERDEE 3929 22 3,669 - 80 - 7,700
At 31 December 2019 RZB-NE+_A=+-H
Segment assets NHEE 14,232 44 94,409 6,231 1,158 - 116,074
Segment liabilies AHaR 40,402 137 1,007 19 114 - 41,679

Reconciliations of reportable segments:

(i) AT2HSPZHR:

Revenue and profit or loss: Was Ko FIBCETHE -
2020 2019
—E_EF —E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Revenue &
Consolidated revenue LEWE 76,329 73,837
Profit or loss ERF A8
Total loss of reportable segments 2| I 2 FHIB4ERE (36,927) (9,670)
Unallocated amounts: FOBCAIA -
Other income Haug A 620 310
Other gains and losses Hithl e K E518 - 427
Share of loss of an associate FE(E—RE = A B 18 - (856)
Share of loss of a joint venture fEIE—RI&E ABEE (37) (26)
Administrative expenses THRX (10,788) (6,904)
Consolidated loss before tax LRERMRBIEE (47,132) (16,719)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M IR R L

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segments:

(iii)

(iv)

(continued)

1. D EER (@)
(i) AT2HAFZHER . (B

Assets and liabilities: BEREE:
2020 2019
—E-EF —Z2—hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TET
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments 2D EELE 125,420 116,074
Unallocated amounts: FOECHIE !
Unallocated head office and KDEWMABFIRABEE
corporate assets 43,777 100,396
Consolidated total assets CEEEME 169,197 216,470
Liabilities af&
Total liabilities of reportable segments 2D B EERE 45,638 41,679
Unallocated amounts: FOFECFRIE
Unallocated head office and Al N Y /NN =
corporate liabilities 2,508 5,812
Consolidated total liabilities FEaERE 48,146 47,491

Geographical information:

The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands with
the Group’s major operations located in Hong Kong.
Substantially all of the Group’s revenue from external

(iii) HMEEE :

customers are derived from Hong Kong. All the non-current
assets of the Group are located in Hong Kong.

Information about major customers: (iv) BRAFEZRMNEN .

There was no revenue arising from transactions with any
customers which individually accounted for more than 10%

of the Group’s revenue in both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

12. FINANCE COSTS 12. AR A
2020 2019
ZEIEE —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Interest on lease liabilities HEsENE 196 61
Other interest expense HhF) B 41 -
237 61
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. R8>
Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss as follows: FriSMBEREmhERaT -
2020 2019
—E-EF —E—hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current — Hong Kong Profits Tax BIER— B ERIER
— Charge for the year —FEANETE 3,736 3,792
— Overprovision in prior years — B FE R (21) (40)
3,715 3,752
Deferred tax (note 33) IEIERRIE (BY3233) (584) 368
Income tax expense FriEMBs 3,131 4,120

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to any
income tax in these regions.

Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, profits tax rate for the
first HK$2 million of assessable profits of qualifying corporations
established in Hong Kong will be lowered to 8.25% (2019:
8.25%), and profits above that amount will be subject to the tax
rate of 16.5%. For the other Hong Kong established subsidiaries,
Hong Kong Profit Tax has been provided at a rate 16.5% (2019:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere has been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates, based on existing legislation, interpretation and
practices in respect thereof.

RERSHERABELHE ((HBERE
B1) ZFEBENFRG ~EBBABIHEE
EREBEREBEMAFAER-

RIBMBEFNERG REBRINEGER L
B #2,000,00078 7T 89 FE SR 1R im F) B9 A 18 7R
MEZTHES25% (ZE—NF 18.25%)
BB AR S 1216.5% 0 M - 7t
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MBI G ERR B IZ16.56% (ZE—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SrEMBImRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax expenses and the

13. FRiSIRFAX (@)

FRIS R 5 ST B BRIR AT RS 1R SR L& B 2 B N #E

product of loss before tax multiplied by the weighted average tax FHEMEZBZHIRAOT -
rate of the consolidated companies is as follows:
2020 2019
—EIEF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Loss before tax PRI ATES 18 (47,132) (16,719)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of BEBFNBRMNE165%TE 2
16.5% (2019: 16.5%) RIB(ZE—NF 1 16.5%) (7,777) (2,759
Lower tax rate for specific local requirement 1 E AR E EBRERE (165) (165)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AaJ bR 2 MEHE
tax purpose 1,979 2,137
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose B BRI A Z RTS8 2 (559) (122)
Tax effect of temporary differences RERELREREIRBETE
not recognised (93) 75
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERRIBEBEIB . MBEEE 9,761 4,963
Tax effect of tax losses utilised EERARIERBEZNBEEE (1) -
Tax effect of share of results of associates FEEBMERNREBRZRBEE - 141
Tax effect of share of results of a joint venture ~ FE(H—RBIGE AR EBE I RMETE 7 4
Overprovision in prior years BEEEBREEE (21) (40)
Others Hith = (114)
Income tax expense for the year FREMRAE 3,131 4,120
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M B IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

14. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

15.

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging the

14. £ 518

AERZERBEDNIOETIZERS

following: e

2020 2019
—ETHF —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT TAET
Auditors’ remuneration ZHENEN & 680 540
Amortisation of intangible assets mC B ERE - 152
Cost of inventories sold BEGFEMA 26 47
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ = MR HITE 2,803 1,702
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE 2,495 717

Lease payments not included in the K AMEERFTENHEENR
measurement of lease liabilities 333 1,822
Write off of investories EFEME 414 -

Cost of sales includes staff cost, amortisation and depreciation of
approximately HK$12,916,000 (2019: HK$12,418,000) which are

included in the amounts disclosed separately.

HENAGEEINA #BIERITEY
12,916,000 70 (ZZ—H.4F : 12,418,000/
7o) BEA Rt AFRRE &8

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 15. BEEEFIHZ (BIEESEME)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS)
2020 2019
ZEIZE —EB—hfF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments BTImMAK (BiEEEMNERDER
and amount classified as research and e A2 £%8)
development cost)
— Salaries, bonus and allowance —Fr  TEAL R 2 Rh 43,625 34,129
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions —BREF HEI R 1,002 903
— Equity-settled share-based payments — RSB RN 2 FIE 1,858 -
46,485 35,032

ESRMIEEERBRAR « 2020FF3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SrEMBImRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year
included one director (2019: one) whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented in note (a). The emoluments of

(%)

IREEHEMAL

= =

BX (=1 377

rFEEZHS

15. BEEREHHAX (BFEEFEME )

EEBEARAT—%
BE (CZ—haE . —48)  HilesHBEN
EXE(@ e sr TR (TE—NF  MHR)

the remaining four (2019: four) individuals are set out below: ANTHIBNE &AM T -
2020 2019
—E-EF “B—hfF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TET
Basic salaries, allowances and other benefits HEitsre 2R R HMER 5,217 4,975
Discretionary bonus B TEAL 4,006 3,614
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BREF FTEIERR 54 54
Share-based payments MR HZARIE 230 -
9,507 8,643

The emoluments fell within the following band:

T TSR -

Number of individuals

AE
2020 2019
—EZEHF —Z—hnF
Nil to HK$1,500,000 % 1,500,000 7T - -

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,00138 7% 22,000,000 7T 2

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 37 52,500,000 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 37T 23,000,000 7T - -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 37T 23,500,000 7T = 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 37T 24,000,000 7T 1 -
4 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

15. BEEREHHAX (BFEFEME)

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ =)
EMOLUMENTS) (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments () ESEM=E
The remuneration of each director is set out below: BREZNMERIIOT
Salaries,
allowance Contributions
and other Share- to retirement
benefits in Discretionary based benefits
Fees kind bonus payments scheme Total
e 2Rk MNRgRR RIKIEF
we HtEWEN BETEA FANER] HELEE A st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT TERT TERT TERT TERT THERT
Year ended 31 December 2020 (E-E-%F
+ZA=1+—-HLEE
Executive Directors WTES
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol ! B—Fat! 118 - - 25 - 143
Mr. Chan Wai Lung BERELE 120 1,320 - - 18 1,458
Ms. Lam Ching Yee Mgt 360 - - - - 360
Mr. Lam Ho Pong 2 MBS ? 70 - - - - 70
Ms. Lin Ting MELT 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Shi Shaowu 3 FORRE® 46 - - - - 46
Ms. So Wai Yee Betty * BEGyL 240 - - 245 8 493
Non-executive Director ERTES
Mr. Lo Yu Man ® BFBRES 96 - - - - 96
Independent non-executive Directors BIIFHITES
Mr. Hon Ming Sang © BEERES 75 - - - - 75
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung 7 MERLET 70 - - - - 70
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean FHEPuL 102 - - - - 102
Ms. Lo Wing Sze 85, /P8 BRSULToLnES A TH+E 43 - - - - 43
Mr. Zhong Shi ® BERLE? 65 - - - - 65
1,705 1,320 - 270 26 3,321
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE-T—NE
+-B=+—HIFE
Executive Directors WiTES
M, Chan Wai Lung MR 120 870 - - 18 1,008
Ms. Lam Ching Yee MEFgL L 360 - - - - 360
Mr. Lam Ho Pong ? MEHLE? 9 - - - - 9
Ms. Lin Ting HELt 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Shi Shaowu POREE? 120 - - - - 120
Non-executive Director ERTES
Mr. Lo Yu Man ¢ BFEAES 276 - - - - 276
Independent non-executive Directors BIFHRTES
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung 7 MEBRET 138 - - - - 138
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean FHPuL % - - - - %
M, Zhong Shi ® BERES 9% - - - - 9%
1,515 870 - - 18 2,403
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

! Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol (formerly known as Tin Yuen Sin Carol) was
appointed as Executive Director and Chairman of the Board on 5 May

2020 and 19 May 2020 respectively

2 Mr. Lam Ho Pong was appointed on 5 December 2019 and resigned on

31 July 2020

Mr. Shi Shaowu resigned on 19 May 2020

Ms. So Wai Yee Betty was appointed on 7 August 2020

Mr. Lo Yu Man resigned on 5 May 2020

Mr. Hon Ming Sang was appointed on 24 June 2020

Mr. Lam Kai Yeung retired on 24 June 2020

Ms. Lo Wing Sze B8Bs, Jp was appointed on 21 August 2020

® ~ o o &

9 Mr. Zhong Shi resigned on 21 August 2020

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company and the
director’s connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at

any time during the year.

None of the Directors of the Company waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments for the year ended 31 December

2020 (2019: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any Directors as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for

loss of office (2019: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

16. DIVIDENDS

17

The Directors of the Company do not recommend the payment
for any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is based
on the following:

16. K2
FARESTRERBE_S_SF+-A
SH-BEFERIEARE (CT—AE:

") o
(STdEE

BREARBEEBEDZUTEESSE

17

2020 2019
ZEIEHF “E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT TFAT
Loss E548
Loss for the purpose of calculating basic and M EESREAREEEEMS 2
diluted loss per share 518 (49,111) (20,839)
‘000 ‘000
TR T
Number of shares R E
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in st ESREA LB EGEAMS
issue for the purpose of calculation of basic BT E B R MET I
and diluted loss per share 1,260,582 1,260,582

The weighted average numbers of ordinary shares used as
denominators in calculating the basic and diluted earnings per
share are the same.

REEEREARBEEFNKERAEIEZE
BRI THIRAER -
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M IR R L

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

18. ME BB K&tk

Computer
equipment
and Furniture  Leasehold Other Motor
software  and fixtures improvements equipment Vehicle Total
EliRE HE
RE# GREREE  MERE HtRE HE Mzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Ti#n TR TF#r TiEn TR

Cost A
At 1 January 2019 RIE-hE—-A—H 16,691 616 2,867 482 - 20,656
Additions e 4,316 - 3 - - 4319
Wite off 6] (189) ©) (265) - - (460)
At 31 December 2019 RIE-nFE+ZA=+-H 20,818 610 2,605 482 - 24,515
Additions HE 323 - - - 743 1,066
Acquisition of a subsidiary fnote 39) WeE—BHB AR (1H39) 20 65 137 - - 292
Wite off sy (1,092 (10) (206) - - (1,308)
At 31 December 2020 RIZZZF5+Z2E=+-H 20,069 665 2,536 482 743 24,495
Accumulated depreciation REHE
At 1 January 2019 RZE-hF-A—H 16,022 384 1,748 27 - 18,181
Charge for the year FRstiE 677 166 794 65 - 1,702
Wite off 6] (189) ©) (265) - - (460)
Impairment HE - - - 390 - 390
At 31 December 2019 RZE-nE+-R=+-H 16,510 544 2217 482 - 19,813
Charge for the year FREHE 2,356 55 256 - 136 2,803
Wiite off sy (1,092) (10 (206) - - (1,308)
Impairment fE 1,673 - - - - 1673
At 31 December 2020 RIZZ2F+ZA=1-H 19,447 589 2,327 482 136 22,981
Carrying amount REfE
At 31 December 2020 RZZFZFE+ZR=1-H 622 76 209 - 607 1,514
At 31 December 2019 RZB-nE+-R=+-H 4,308 66 328 - - 4,702
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M B IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 10. EFHEEE

Leased

properties

HEME

HK$°000

FAET

At 1 January 2019 RZZE—h%—H—H 1,016
Additions NE 3,381

Depreciation e (717)
At 31 December 2019 A ZE—AEF+ZBE=+—H 3,680
Additions RE 9,721
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 39) W EE—RE T B A 8] (BY3£39) 493

Depreciation e (2,495)
At 31 December 2020 HIEZZEHF+”"HA=+—H 11,399

Lease liabilities of HK$11,758,000 (2019: HK$3,647,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$11,399,000
as at 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$3,680,000). The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

R_E_EE+_RBR=+—H ' Bm
BEEE/E11,758,0008 T (Z&—H
F 13,647,000 m) REBAEREEE
11,399,000 75 (ZZ—H.4F : 3,680,000
7o) cBRHBEARENHES ERNIERE
mih HEBBRAMNETARE - HEEE
TERRERER

2020 2019

—EIEF —E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TAET

Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets AR EEITER S 2,495 717

Interest expense on lease liabilities HEEENERZ

(included in finance cost) GNP 196 61
Expenses relating to short-term lease I E RN

(included in administrative expenses) Gt ATTER) 333 1,822

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 40(b).

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its operations
and a director’'s quarter. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term from 2 to 3 years, but may have termination options
to terminate the lease contract of properties. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

EFREERSAERBEZFBHRNWEE
40(0) °

RmEEE ~EEEETEARAEHES
EREFER - HESOREEHE2ES
FoEFENTEEATKEMERESNZ
R HERTS IR AR EERER > B8 TR
TR MG A o 1 8 TE AH HA Ko 5T & 7 BJ 1L 8E HA R
NRER  2&EEERAGHNERLEES
A EISR ST BYHARS ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M IR R L

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

20. GOODWILL 20. HE
2020 2019
—E_EF —T-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Cost |52
At 1 January n—B—8 11,047 11,047
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 39) WE—RXMW B AT (Ba39) 6,726 -
At 31 December R+—B=+—H 17,773 11,047
Accumulated impairment losses Rt RERE
At 1 January W—B—H 11,047 752
Impairment loss recognised in the current year R ZAFEERER 2 BEEE - 10,295
At 31 December W+ZB=+—H 11,047 11,047
Carrying amount EREE
At 31 December BR+-_B=+—H 6,726 -
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at REXRGHPWEZBEDNREBESE
acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUS”) that are EHEARBEZEF M ET v REELEN
expected to benefit from that business combination. The carrying (MREeEELEA) - HE (FHBRLERE
amount of goodwill (other than goodwill relating to discontinued EWBEmERN 2IREEESEREAT
operations) had been allocated as follows:
2020
ZEITE
Allocated Accumulated
goodwill impairment Total
ENfiEE RitRE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FTET TERT
Stored valued mastercard HEBZER
(“Mastercard CGU’) (BRERReELS() 6,726 - 6,726
Other IT and internet financial platform HitEAR S R ERHE
senvices business SRT B IREER 752 (752) =
Trading of gaming products and BEFEERMEHEE
the provision of related marketing services ~ HERBIRTS £
business (‘Gaming CGU") (MEEIREEEBAL) 10,295 (10,295) -
17,773 (11,047) 6,726
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MB IR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

20. GOODWILL (continued)

20. BE (48)

2019
=N

Allocated Accumulated
goodwill impairment Total
BEnfcEmeE RetRE Mt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHB7T FHET FHET

Other IT and internet financial HMBE AR &5 A

platform services business ST A RFBER 752 (752) -
Gaming CGU BEIREELBA 10,295 (10,295) -
11,047 (11,047) -

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined
on the basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow
method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow
method are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates,
card consumption volume and turnover during the period. The
Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on
long-term average economic growth rate of the geographical
area in which the businesses of the CGUs operate. Budgeted
gross margin and turnover are based on past practices and
expectations on market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by the directors for the next
five years with the residual period using the growth rate of 2%
for Mastercard CGU (2019: 3% for Gaming CGU). This rate does
not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
markets.

The pre-tax rate used to discount the forecasted cash flows
from the Group’s Mastercard CGU is 31.66% (2019: 16.23% for
Gaming CGU).

REELBUNT KBS R EERLRE
TREBZABNEAEEEE -MRRESAM
EBAMRANIERRAHBEARMMKER
K BER - FHBERREERNRR T&
E R AR R BR B A5 G ERHERN TG R
REEEBUSERRBIBRRAF X A5
MIRE - B EXRANIRSELBURKEER
PREM EN R TFHKEERERAEE TR
BEMRREXETLUBR B RAERTS
BEoEE-

AEBEFMGRENBETRERAREESES
HERRDFNRABYEIAE > FERHARK
NEBFEEFRRTELEBMUERER2% (TF
—NE ERRSELEBEURI%) -ZER
XABBERT SN THRMERK-

AUBRAEAEEESERRSELEN
BB RENMRREIFIEA31.66% (Z
T—HEF FEEHIRESEEENA16.23%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
*a MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

20. GOODWILL (continued)

21

At 31 December 2020, goodwill of approximately HK$6,726,000
was allocated to the Mastercard CGU within the Others segment.
No impairment loss on Mastercard CGU was recognised for the
year.

At 31 December 2019, before impairment testing, goodwill of
approximately HK$10,295,000 was allocated to the Gaming
CGU. During the year ended 31 December 2019, due to the
substantial decline in sales and profit margin as impacted by
poor social and economic conditions in Hong Kong, the Group
assessed its cash flows forecast for this CGU and recognised an
impairment loss of approximately HK$10,295,000 on goodwill.

20. BE (48)

A ZETEF+ZHA=+—H"#6,726,000
Bz RABESRETFTHEMOBRZESTEE
REeEELEBEU -RNERN TEMESERR
SEFBURRBERBEC

R_EBE—HAhE+_ABA=+—H %
10,295,000 7t 2 & 7R E R = AT E D i
FHEHREELEBMU -BE_S—NE+Z
B=+—HIEEE ARZEBLEREHE

REXEFE HEREFAEHIRABT
o MAEETLZREELBEURSRE
FER) LR R E R (B RS 184910,295,0008

JT ©

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 1. B\BEEE
Systems
development
costs
RiFRERE
HK$’000
FHET
Cost s
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and ﬁ’:‘:g—hﬂi—ﬁ —B-
31 December 2020 —hE+ZHA=+—HK
—v—vfﬁ'f‘ B=+—H 7,711
Accumulated amortisation 4]
At 1 January 2019 RIE2E—hF—HB—H 7,559
Amortisation for the year Y 152
At 31 December 2019, 1 January 2020 and RIZE—NF+ZHA=1+—8"
31 December 2020 “EIEF—F—HK
“EIEF+ZA=+—H 7,711

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2020

At 31 December 2019

IREFHE

HRZE-ZEHF+”"HA=+—H

A— F
\—7

—NE+ZB=+—H

Intangible assets of internally generated development costs
represented all direct costs incurred in the development of
new software systems. The software development costs are
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
of 4 years.
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WEPELRZERANETEEERENRMGT
RIMEENFTAE BN - BB AL
hET R F A F IR EAH -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M B IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

22, INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 2. MMBABRZIE
Particulars of the subsidiaries at 31 December 2020 are as WMBABR _-_Z2ZEF+"A=1+—HzZ
follows: =g
Percentage
Place of Issued/ of equity
incorporation/ registered  attributable to
Name operations share capital the Company Principal activities
31 1A B8/ FAFRE
%18 ek i HEtEh TEEH
Brilliant Corporate Finance Hong Kong HK$6,700,000 100% (indirect)  Advising on corporate finance
Limited
RIUTEREERAF 5% 6,700,000 7T 100% (58 MM HRMESES
Dealmatch.com Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% (indirect)  Provision of referral services and
provision of administrative
support to the Group
BEFHEERAT 5% 10078 7T 100% (158  IRMENRE RIERITEEER
TARE
Darts Connect International Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$795,032.21 100% (indirect)  Trading of gaming products and
provision of related marketing
services
REZHBEERERAE 58 795,032.2187T 100% (BH) BBEBEEDREHEE
HER
DSE Cayman Limited Cayman Islands USs$10.73 100% (indirect)  Investment holding
DSE Cayman Limited HEHS 10.73% 7T 100% (BH) HEZR
Finsoft Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% (indirect) Money lending
B ERAERAT 5% 10078 7T 100% (B8 @BE
Finsoft Investment (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% (indirect)  Securities and equity investments
EfMRE (58 ARAR 5% 10078 7T 100% (5 BERERRE
Finsoft Investment Limited BVI US$100 100% (indirect)  Investment holding
Finsoft Investment Limited HEELES 10070 100% (B3 KREZER
Gracious Queen Limited BVI US$1 100% (indirect)  Provision of administrative
support to the Group
Gracious Queen Limited HEELES 17T 100% (B BAEERBITESE
Grant Ambition Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 100% (indirect)  Provision of administrative
support to the Group
R ARAT 5% 17T 100% (58 mASEEREITERSE
Golden Spade Investment Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 100% (indirect) ~ Securities investments
BNRERRRE &% 17T 100% (58 BHKE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

22. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

22. RB AR ZIRE (B)

(continued)
Percentage
Place of Issued/ of equity
incorporation/ registered  attributable to
Name operations share capital the Company Principal activities
31 1A B8/ AT MG
ey ES=fauk il HEtEh TEEH
iAsia Online Systems Limited BVI US$10 100% (indirect)  Development, sale and provision
of financial trading software
solutions
SMEERFERRE HEBEREUES 10E7T 100% (15 BE HERRUHEMIS
AU R F
Infinite Capital Ventures Limited BVI US$10,000 100% (direct)  Investment holding
Infinite Capital Ventures Limited HBREUHE 10,000% 7T 100% (EH) REER
Metrotec Limited BVI US$36,100 51% (direct)  Investment holding
Metrotec Limited HBEUHE 36,1003 75 51% (B#) KEZH
Metrotec Solutions Limited Hong Kong HK$17,031,300 51% (indirect)  Provision of marketing and
operation of stored valued
mastercards
Metrotec Solutions Limited "B 17,031,300 7T 51% (B RESFEHERERNEE
Wealthy Link Technology Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 100% (indirect)  Development of financial trading
software solutions
HERRARRAE BE 17T 100% (5 HEEMRIRGBARAFE
Well In Technology Development Hong Kong HKS$1 100% (indirect)  Development of mobile
Limited e-commerce platform
EERRERERAD BE 17T 100% (B#) HEBRBETEBTEA
Winrange Investments Limited BVI US$100 100% (direct)  Investment holding
RIBRERRAT HBEREUES 100%7T 100% (B HREFR

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors of the Company, principally affected
the results or assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

All of the above principal subsidiaries of the Group were
incorporated/established with limited liability.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

23. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

2. N—HAEELEZRE

2020 2019
—ETHF —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Unlisted investments: FEMEE
Share of net assets EhEERE 109 146

Details of the Group’s joint venture at 31 December 2020 is as

REEGECEN _ZE_EF+_A=+—

follows: HZBWT
Proportion of ownership interest
BERREEILA
Place of Issued and Group’s
incorporation/  fully paid up effective Held by the Held by a
Name of entity operation share capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activities
A—F
BaAe B&1TR FEEZ HEARE
BERLE LEma BRRE BREE BrRFARAE BB IB%E
Sky View Investment Limited BV US$1,100 49% Nil 49%  Investment in Rolaner
(“Sky View") (2019: 49%) (2019: Nil (2019: 49%) International Limited
(‘Rolaner”)
XELEBRAR ((XE) HBEZHEE  1100%% 49% e 49%  H*Rolaner International
CB—nFE: CB-AE CEBEAE Limited ("Rolaner 1)
49%) %) 49%) ZE#E

Sky View is an investment holding company and its main
asset is investment in Rolaner, a company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands with limited liability. Rolaner indirectly entered
into a contractual arrangement on control and shall be able to
consolidate the financial statements of an operating company.
The principal business of the operating company is operating the
mobile application Mei Li Shen Qi ((2EE##28), one of the largest
online community and e-commerce platforms with more than ten
million users for medical beauty industry in the People’s Republic
of China.

REDKREZERAT MEATEZEERTA
Rolaner (—HINAEHEEMRILZARA
&) 21 & o Rolanerfil 5] 1L & 49 Z BFE
WA R ERB ZMBREGE AR K
ERABZIEEGAKE—BFHEAER
FRUR ZREASTEARENMBEERE
BTERANTEGHEZ — UAERA T
ERFNEFBEBTE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24. AT EEFAHMEZARA
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE ZEMEE
INCOME
2020 2019
—E_EHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Listed equity securities LR AE S 4,019 3,804
Unlisted equity investments FELEMRAKRE 3,231 3,583
7,250 7,387
The fair values of listed securities are based on current bid price. LTRSS ATFEENLREER 2 ERE
o
25. INVENTORIES 25. 78
2020 2019
—ECEHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Finished goods Sk - 440
26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26. B 5 R H MY HRIA
2020 2019
—ECEHE —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Trade receivables & 5 e EIE 8,442 7,560
Less: allowance for doubtful debts B OREREE (938) (916)
7,504 6,644
Other receivables Hh U IE 94 112
Deposits and prepayments & RIFANIE 6,798 5,019
14,396 11,775
The Group generally allows an average credit period of 30 days AEE—MRAETEESZ TR FHI0HH B
or not more than 90 days to its trade customers and based on BOOHMEEH BHASEEEBENFFER
the negotiations between the Group and individual customers. ETE B EBEIBL A5 E o

No interest is charged on trade receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(continued)

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice

26. B 5 R E U IE (B)

REZBRRINGEFRR 270 E 5 BUGK

date, and net of allowance, is as follows: HRREMAT !
2020 2019
—E_EF —Z—hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T FHET
0 - 30 days 0Z30H 6,024 4,745
31 - 60 days 31E60H 726 1,161
61 — 90 days 61Z290H 225 388
91 — 120 days 91&E120H 13 160
Over 120 days #8120 516 190
7,504 6,644
CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES 271. EHNEE &R
(a) Contract assets (a) BNEE
2020 2019
—EIEE “EB-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Avising from performance under BITUTEEES
— Sales of technology software systems —HER M RA 877 -
— System customisation, network — AT PAS TR
support and maintenance service RERE 691 -
1,568 -

Amounts relating to contract assets are balances due from
customers from sales of technology software systems and
system customisation, network support and maintenance
service which the obligations have been satisfied.

HENEERBNZEARER W
HERMARH AT RERRRITR A
BERFRERS (HEEEEER 2

MEER o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

27. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES
(continued)

(b) Contract liabilities

(b) EH&EME

271. SHEE &R (@

2020 2019
—EEHE —Z—hnHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Contract liabilities =E =N
— Sales of goods —IHEE R 3,288 4,907
— Provision of services — IR 8,670 13,226
11,958 18,133

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received
to deliver software solutions and render installation,

BRERERINRH S EUKREHR
255 B3R RIS R AR AR T W ER BY

development, testing and maintenance services. THATR(I =R o
Movements in contract liabilities: sH8E2EH .
2020 2019
—E2ITHF —Z—hnF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Balance at 1 January W—A—HZ & 18,133 19,356
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result FARERFI T AEHEEN
of recognising revenue during the WamERanadmR
year that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of year (15,708) (11,905)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of A4 WA FE (1 FUIEMEE
advances received during the year BHEBEIEN 9,533 10,682
Balance at 31 December R+ B=+—Hz4&s% 11,958 18,133
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

28. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

28. R E ™MK F B

2020 2019

—E_EF —T-hEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Loans receivable ElRE®R 132,833 99,540
Provision for impairment loss BEEEEE (54,553) (12,312)
78,280 87,208

Interest receivables EWF]E 5,668 2,757
Provision for impairment loss BUEREEE (4,448) (233)
1,220 2,524

Loans and interest receivables W ER KT S 79,500 89,752
Less: non-current portion B IEREE D (2,923) -
Loans and interest receivables (current portion)  FEWEZRF R CRENEESH) 76,577 89,752

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
loans receivable so as to minimise credit risk. The granting of
loans is subject to approval by the management, whilst overdue
balances are reviewed regularly for recoverability.

As at 31 December 2020, the loans receivable were charging
on interest rates ranging from 8% to 33.6% per annum (2019:
10% to 15% per annum) and were repayable with fixed terms
agreed with the contracting parties. The Group held collaterals or
other credit enhancements over its loans receivable balance of
HK$10,367,000 (2019: Nil).

AEBRNIHHEHREEZBRERERR

BE O EUSERBEEAR -REEH
ERREEEEREME MARGRATHY
BIUR R EIT IR ST o

N_ZE_EE+_A=+—H ERERE
MENFEFESBESS6% (ZE—NEF &
F10%E15%) st B W ARSI A HEN
B HAPRE R o A 5 @ ot H B W B R4S 67
10,367,000 T A IR HMEERFAE
M (CE—NF 8| o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

28. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 28. EWE = EFIE (B8)
(continued)

Movements on the Group’s impairment of loans and interest REEZRBWERERNNERBEEZEUT :
receivables are as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month ECL  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
P ER1 P ER2 P& ER3
1218 B ¥8H8 2 HATEHA 2 HATEHA
EEEE EEk518 E8F518 west
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT FHET FHET
At 1 January 2019 RIZE—NF
New loans originated BB ZHMER 482 204 - 686
Movements due to changes [R5 & R B &E M =
in credit risk 2 EE) 11,859 - - 11,859
Transfer to Stage 2 - HEEEMEES —2 A8
Lifetime ECL HEERE (11,859) 11,859 - -
Transfer to Stage 3 — BB —2 T8
Lifetime ECL HREEEIE - (11,859) 11,859 -
At 31 December 2019 and PR _Z— N4
1 January 2020 +-B=1+—HK
ZEIEF
—H—H 482 204 11,859 12,545
New loans originated ERBZHER 426 66 - 492
Loans recovered or repaid IR EABURE D EZE
during the year 2B (@) - - 4
Movements due to changes [R5 & & B & E) M =
in credit risk 2 EE) - 4,381 41,587 45,968
Transfer to Stage 2 — BB 2
Lifetime ECL HE8k18 478) 478 - -
Transfer to Stage 3 — BB EMEES —2 /8
Lifetime ECL HIEEE1E - (467) 467 -
At 31 December 2020 A TETEF
+-_B=+—H 426 4,662 53,913 59,001
For loans and interest receivables that are not credit-impaired BT ERUREEREABEL N (TFEE
without significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition 1) MARBEEEREZERERRFE
(“Stage 17), ECL is measured at an amount equal to the portion A EEEEEREENRK12(E S NrTsEEE
of lifetime ECL that results from default events possible within FHENEHERNEBEREEREIY
the next 12 months. If a significant increase in credit risk since N2 - HEVNTHEIAUREERRERE
initial recognition is identified (“‘Stage 2”) but not yet deemed to EZ1n (P2 ) » BRAWRAREERE
be credit-impaired, ECL is measured based on lifetime ECL. If AIFERE ERERE - BEREERIBE-
credit impaired is identified (“Stage 3”), ECL is measured based HWE#ANAEERE (TREEI3)) > BIFEHEE
on lifetime ECL. EhERsBEREEREE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

28. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(continued)

A maturity profile of the loans receivable as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the remaining contractual maturity

date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

28. R E ™MK F S (48)

REBESHER BRERREFGRSOINA
(NFREBIREE) EHMBERAT

2020 2019

—ECEHE —Z—hnF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Overdue #EIRA 16,220 10,844
Due within 3 months FL31ME B R EIHA 25,354 9,345
Due after 3 months but within 6 months K318 B & 268 8 N EIH5 20,341 17,122
Due after 6 months but within 12 months ReEB B E12EH R EIHE 13,442 49,917
Due after 12 months R12ME B & EIEA 2,923 -
Total 4ast 78,280 87,228

A maturity profile of the interest receivables at the end of the
reporting period, based on the maturity date, net of provision, is

RREHR BUH SREZIAA (ORE
&) BEEAE R ¢

as follows:
2020 2019
—ETHE TE—NE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAET FET
Overdue I HA 958 1,238
Due within 3 months H3ME B N EHR 262 1,168
Due after 3 months but within 6 months H3ME B & ZE6@ B R EIE - 118
Total 4EET 1,220 2,524
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29. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

20. BAFEEFABENEME

=

2020 2019

—E-EHF —E-hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FHET

Listed equity investments, at fair value EHRAEE BATEE 12,269 6,231

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are
mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

The investments included above represent investments in listed
equity securities that offer the Group the opportunity for return
through dividend income and fair value gains. They have no fixed
maturity or coupon rate.

The fair values of listed securities are based on current bid prices.

REEBHMBRELEREN LEEmE
EZIREERARATEES ABRRE

LHREER ETREABHRE  REEHIEE
HEGEBREWMARATFEE R ME
WEK ZERETEEEINHAXNEER

riES T ATEEREES BRE
Ho

30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 30. RERIREEFEY
2020 2019
—ETHE —Z2—hnHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Cash and bank balances REMIRTTAEER 34,222 72,357
Time deposits EHRERR - 20,000
Total “ast 34,222 92,357
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31. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

31. [Est B AR EME M RIE

2020 2019
—E_THE —Z—hnHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET AT
Customers deposits BRE%E 13,951 13,006
Accruals and other payables [EsTE B R EMEN A 10,458 8,395
24,409 21,401
Less: non-current portion B IEREE Y - (1,077)
24,409 20,324
4 =
32. LEASE LIABILITIES 2.5
Total minimum Present value of the
lease payments minimum lease payments
RERE RS RERELHRE
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZZIEF “T-hE —ECFF “T-hE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT BT AT BT
Within one year —&ER 5,324 2,199 4,850 2,053
In the second to fifth years, inclusive SEERE
(BEEERE) 7,247 1,627 6,908 1,504
12,571 3,826 11,758 3,647
Less: Future interest on the lease liabilties 75 : A& & B2 A %KF B (813) (179 N/A 7B R N/A 758
Present value of lease liabilities HESERE 11,758 3,647 11,758 3,647
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 3 : 1288 REEIEEZ
months (shown under current liabilities) BEIRRBEEET) 4,850 2,053
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 12{E R & I EiEE 2 TIE
(non-current) GERE) 6,908 1,594

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities range from 4.125% to 6% (2019: 4.125% to 6%).

Lease liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

BARAEEEZMETHESERNF X

N F4.125%F6% (ZT—NE : 4.125%F

6%) °©

HESBUBITE.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

33. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised by
the Group:

33. EIEH A

AEMBEIZELERE (EE) /BEOT :

Accelerated

Intangible tax  Right-of-use
assets depreciation assets Total
hniE
mLEE RIAE EREEE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TF#T FAET FHET FHET
At 31 December 2018 and R _Z—/\F
at 1 January 2019 +=-—BA=+—H
k_ZE—nF
—B—A 25 4 - 29
(Credited)/charged to profit A8z Gt A)
or loss (note 13) & (Hfa£13) (25) 378 15 368
At 31 December 2019 RIE—NF
+=ZB=+—H - 382 15 397
(Credited)/charged to profit 7183 Gt A)
or loss (note 13) M (fa£13) - (588) 4 (584)
At 31 December 2020 N B _THE
+-B=+—H - (206) 19 (187)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$163,858,000 (2019: approximately
HK$89,087,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unused tax losses of approximately HK$163,858,000 (2019:
approximately HK$89,087,000) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.
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34. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION

PAYABLE

The fair value of the contingent consideration payable
represented the profit guarantee in relation to the adjustments
to the consideration from the acquisition of Metrotec Limited
and its subsidiary (“Metrotec Group”) during the year. Contingent
consideration payable is measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period. The movement of the fair value of contingent
consideration payable is as follow:

34. BTSN ARE

FELHARENAFEEIERAS R FERURE
Metrotec Limited & E[ff/@ A7 (T MetrotectE
B R EBREBRNGEMNRE B A
RERBESHRBLAFEETZ - BAHA
RENATFEBEELEHUWT :

2020
ZEIEHE
HK$’000
FHET
At the fair value: BATEE:
At the beginning of the year REH -
Arising from acquisition of a subsidiary R E—ENB AR EE 21
At the end of the year RER 21
Note: e -
Adjustment to the consideration RERE

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement entered in relation to the
acquisition of Metrotec Group, the Vendor unconditionally and irrevocably
guaranteed and warranted to the Company that the aggregate of audited
earnings before interest, tax depreciation and amortisation of Metrotec Group
for the three financial years ending 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 as
reflected in its audited financial statements (“Audited EBITDA”) shall be of no
less than the total sum of HK$8,000,000 (“Guaranteed EBITDA”).

If the Audited EBITDA is equal to or more than the Guaranteed EBITDA, the
Company shall pay the remaining consideration in sum of HK$8,976,000
(“Balance Consideration”). No upward adjustment shall be made if the Audited
EBITDA has reached and exceeded the Guaranteed EBITDA.

If the Audited EBITDA is less than the Guaranteed EBITDA but is equal to or
more than the sum of HK$3,600,000, the Company shall pay the Vendor the
Balance Consideration based on the following formula:

Balance Consideration = (Audited EBITDA * 4 * 51%) — HK$7,344,000.

If the Audited EBITDA is less than the Guaranteed EBITDA and lower than
the sum of HK$3,600,000, the Vendor shall compensate the Company in the
amount calculated (“Compensation Sum”) based on the following: (i) where the
Audited EBITDA is a positive figure and less than the sum of HK$3,600,000:
Compensation Sum = HK$7,344,000 — (Audited EBITDA * 4 * 51%); or (i)
where the Audited EBITDA is a negative figure, the Compensation Sum is equal
to HK$7,344,000.

The fair value of the contingent consideration payable as at 31 December 2020
is based on the valuation performed by an independent professional valuer not
connected with the Group. Details of fair value measurements are set out in
Note 7.

REFE U EMetrotecE BT L 2 BE e B HIGHE
B N ] e ) A5 A B #E AR i Metrotec e B 2 £&E B 1% B
BRERPINMWEEE S ZFE ST —FE/R
ZIFE+ZRA=t+—HIEZEMBREEZ AR E R
B T R B AT VS T i R A48 58 (TS| IZEBITDA L)
BIMEF 484 %88,000,00058 7T (RFEEBITDA ) °

WS BIZEBITDAE N S & R REEEBITDA » & A B
T FHAE (MRERRFY) 8,976,000 7T ° RS2 1%
EBITDAZE &= K BiB{RBEBITDANB R T A Z/EH
e

A& BIZEBITDAL R RFEBEBITDABE R I & i
3,600,000 7T ARAAREUTARNEE A ZARE
BRER

RIBER= (B IZEBITDA" 4 * 51%) - 7,344,000/ 7T

48 ZEBITDA/L FAMREBEBITDAE £ 723,600,00078
T BABEAATELEE 58 (MEERE) B
TAREE () AEBIZEBITDAS IE & B /123,600,000
BT ¢ fEREE=7,344,000/8 70— (ST IZEBITDA * 4 *
51%) ; 24(i) 8 & BIZEBITDASB & 8> B ESEME SR
7,344,00058 7T °

RIBZZF+"A=+—H BARARAEZATE
ENEREREETERN 2B EEGEMETZ
sPh o AT EEFEZFIEHNMET
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The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

A subsidiary of the Group is licensed with the Securities and
Futures Commission (“SFC”) for the business it operates in.
The Group’s licensed subsidiary is subject to liquid capital
requirements under Securities and Futures (Financial Resources)
Rules (“SF(FR)R”) (Cap. 571N of the laws of Hong Kong)
adopted by the SFC. Under SF(FR)R, the licensed subsidiary
must maintain a liquid capital (assets and liabilities adjusted as
determined by SF(FR)R) in excess of HK$100,000 or 5% of its
total adjusted liabilities, whichever is higher. Management closely
monitors, on a daily basis, the liquid capital level of that licensed
subsidiary to ensure compliance with the minimum liquid capital
requirements under SF(FR)R.

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. The Group seeks to balance its overall capital structure
through new share issues as well as the issue of new debt.
For the licensed subsidiary, the Group ensures it will maintain
a liquid capital level adequate to support the level of activities
with sufficient buffer to accommodate for increases in liquidity
requirements arising from potential increases in the level of
business activities.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (which
includes borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents) and equity
attributable to owners of the Company (comprising issued share
capital and reserves). As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s net
debt-to-equity ratio was not applicable due to the absence of any
borrowings as at 31 December 2020 (2019: Not applicable).

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited < Annual Report 2020

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. i
Number of
shares Amount
KRHEE &%
’000 HK$’000
TR FHERT
Authorised: ERE -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each SRMEE0.0058 T2 LB
At 1 January 2019, at 31 December 2019 andat N _-_Z—HLE—HF—H~>
31 December 2020 RZE—hE+ZA=+—HK
N_E_FTF+_"_A=+—H 2,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BERITRERE :
Ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each SREEE0.0058 T2 B
At 1 January 2019, at 31 December 2019 andat W _ZE—HLEFE—HF—H~>
31 December 2020 A_E-HE+"B=+—HK
RZEZZFE+ZA=+—H 1,260,582 6,303

AEREEEEAUBFRAERSEF
BERE FREBEBLEFEREZENF
BARREREALCR AERSEEARN
HE BRAREEREE_TS_ZFER_FT
—hE+_B=+—HILFEHEESH-

REB-FBNBARNERESRPEEH
BERELEw (BET)) BMPNER - REE
BRI E B EHIE57INE (B %&H =
(FHER HAD) ((BHERPE (MHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R G M B IR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2020 ESZ;:;_ TEF+ZA=+—HIEFE

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the

36. AT 2 MR RER

(a) ZABZMBERAER

Company
2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
Jiog=3 FAT FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZRE 28,304 20,939
CURRENT ASSETS RMEE
Other receivables EAthFE WekIE 311 205
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUSB B A B 718 111,864 150,906
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 2,178 8,986
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS BB EMRE 114,353 160,187
CURRENT LIABILITIES Bt I=RE
Accruals and other payables FESTFIB R H A FE T FIE 316 411
Amounts due to subsidiaries ERHB AR IE 21,276 12,215
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES Bt =N L] 21,592 12,626
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFRE 92,761 147,561
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT ZEEHERREAE
LIABILITIES 121,065 168,500
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBAE
Contingent consideration payable R IHAARE 21 -
NET ASSETS BERE 121,044 168,500
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B2 e ek
Share capital [N 6,303 6,303
Reserves 5 36(b) 114,741 162,197
TOTAL EQUITY R4 EE 121,044 168,500

The Company’s statement of financial position was
approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 25
March 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Tin Yat Yu Carol
H—F
Director

s

FRBZMBRRARENR T —F
SR T+LAEESEHEREET

BEWAUTALARESE

Chan Wai Lung
FRIZRE
Director

EF

EMERIREERARAR -

202053
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SrEMBImRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

36. X AT 2 MR IR (1)

Share
Share Special options  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
Bin e HRIE FERGHEREE RitE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT TERT TERT
At1 January 2019 RZE-nE—F-H 229,281 20,938 143 (68,097) 183,557
Loss and total comprehensive loss FEREER 2 EEEAHE
for the year - - - (21,360) (21,360)
Transfer of share options reserve TR EBIRIE @ MBS EE &
upon the expiry of share options ~ BERE & 44 - - (1,435) 1,435 -
At 31 December 2019 RIZ2—N%F
+-A=+-8 229,281 20,938 - (88,022) 162,197
Loss and total comprehensive FREFER 2 HEABHELE
loss for the year - - - (49,314) (49,314)
Share-based payments MR 708 - - 1,858 = 1,858
At 31 December 2020 RZE-ZF
+ZB=+—-H 229,281 20,938 1,858 (137,336) 114,741
37. RESERVES 37. (2 1&
(a) Group (a) =~%H

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on pages 67 and 64
of this annual report respectively.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited < Annual Report 2020

rEBZHEZEREEHNHZT]
RAEFRFTERFABZIZAHE
B RUARGERERAEMEZEERA
*o




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

37. RESERVES (continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Share premium account

Share premium arises from the issue of shares at a
price greater than the par value of the shares and can
be utilised for future bonus issue.

Share Options Reserve

Share options reserve arises on the grant of share
options to eligible participants under the Scheme.
Further information about share-based payments is
set out in note 38.

Merger Reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares issued by the Company
in exchange for the nominal value of the share capital
of its subsidiaries arising from the reorganisation to
rationalise the group structure in preparation for the
listing on 28 August 2013 (“Reorganisation”).

Financial assets at FVTOC/| Reserve

The financial assets at FVTOCI reserve comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of financial
assets at FVTOCI held at the end of the reporting
period and is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy in note 4(m) to the consolidated
financial statements.

Special Reserve

Special reserve represents the difference between
the fair value of the shares of Infinite Capital Ventures
Limited acquired pursuant to the Reorganisation, over
the previous nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefore.

37. f# s (48)

(b) EBEBZEEREN
(i) RPEER
RosBEEReRRNEEZE
BEITIRINBFEL > WA AR
AR T

(i) FERIERE
BEREREDREBESEEDAER
SEERHBREEL -BREMUE
MEARBEZE—TERERKH
380

(i) BHEE
EHREBIEARINRIIZE—=
NBZ+N\BABEH ELHmET
E4H (TEH)) LB EEEZEER
AIRENE M B A B B A T 85 1T IR
P EENAZEREAEEZERE

(iv) UZRFEEFARMEEKRA
ZEBREERE
URFEEFAEMEARAZ
TMEERBEAENRSERST
EUNR B S MBRERME4(m)
&t BREEN U R FEES
AHEMEERAZEREEAT
BENRSESHFER

) H5IEE
R HBERBEEMAMKEZ
Infinite Capital Ventures Limitedf&
MzAFEBEBBAEAABRAMUR
BMAPTWERN 2BETRMZB
AEENERE

ESRMIEEERBRAR « 2020FF3
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (“‘Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 10 September 2013 so as
to attract and retain the best available personnel and to provide
additional incentive to the eligible participants under the Scheme.

Under the Scheme, the Directors may at their absolute discretion
and subject to the terms of the Scheme, grant options to
any employees (full-time or part-time), directors, consultants
or advisors of the Group, or any substantial shareholders of
the Group, or any distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners or service providers of the Group,
to subscribe for shares of the Company. The eligibility of any
participants to the grant of any options shall be determined by
the Directors from time to time on the basis of the Directors’
opinion as to their contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

Under the Scheme, the maximum number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue upon
the date of which the shares are listed and permitted to be dealt
in the Stock Exchange. The 10% limit may be refreshed at any
time by approval of the Company’s shareholders provided that
the total number of Company’s shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other share options schemes of the Company must
not exceed 10% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the refreshed limit. Subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders, the aggregate number of the
Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must not
exceed 30% of the Company’s shares in issue from time to time.
No options may be granted under the Scheme or any other share
options schemes of the Company if this will result in the limit
being exceeded.
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38. LU 15 3z {17k I8

MR 4 H 2 fE B 1 5t &
BEZZ-—=FNATHEBZRAR &
NERMIEIR SR (T518)) - URSIRE
BESAZT URESFBNEERSEER
HERSNEE R

RIFEEH 8 EF A 2RISR AR R 5T 8RR
RUBRETENES (FREBEER)
EF AEEFAAHASBBNAEERETAIE
R RNEBERMLHD RO HE
BREA B EBBHAMRBREHREU
RBEERBZRM -EASHEERTARE
RIEZER RHESITHET EXERE
EHRRFAFIEBERNIERFIFEMSVE
AEMZER-

RFEEH B RIBFFEI R AR B ERHEMER
EFEIR FRUEZ A BRBESEREH T
BOZROHEBE LR aHFFBARKD
EHREEEMIPARZERZBETRNG
Z10%°10% 2 LIRPIBERF AR B REA
EBH ERES B A QFEMEMER
ESER FRHZAERBREETER
FEROZAERBDRNBE T EBALXAF
PRHEEM ERERZBEHTRMNZ10%
FEREARDRIHMER  REEFAE KEQ
AEMEMEEREMBRTEZAAR
TEEREETERYI FTETZEARIR
MR T REBERALTRRATRKEHITRMDZ
30% e i iR 1% 51 Bl 3 45 2 B (o] HAth BB AR 18
STERHERERENBEZIRE  BIFE
BULR R ERE-
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)
The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the Scheme in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant must not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the
time being. Where any further grant of options to a participant
under the Scheme would result in the shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted to
such participant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the
shares in issue, such further grant must be separately approved
by shareholders of the Company in general meeting with such
participant and his associates abstaining from voting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates
must be approved by the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the
grantee). Where any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or any
of their respective associates would result in the total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company to such person in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue and
having an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million, such grant
must be approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

The offer of a grant of share options might be accepted in writing
within 7 days inclusive of the date of the offer. An option may
be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at
any time during a period as the Directors may determine which
shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to the
provisions of early termination thereof. A nominal consideration of
HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option with a
remittance in favour of the Company within such time as may be
specified in the offer (which shall not be later than 7 days from the
date of the offer).

38. U1 % 47k IE (48)

URtEEE 2 BRESE (@)
BHERHASL (BEREEH 2EF+Z
BAME FH—R2REREFEERS
R (BB TRERRITEZERE BT
EREHTRRFTETZIROEH T8
EAERBDERFZEHITREZ1% - HIRES
Bm—R2HERHENEMBRE BE
NEEEHRRHEMBREBHRL (BEF
MIRHER 2+ —EAHME A REEE
RRBERZFIARBRE (BEETE B
HRARITEZERE ETEBERTRE
TEROTZBRONEHBABHITRN Z1% 1)
ERREEMBRERAZTEARTRER
REREME MEMSRELREBRRAR
BERKRRE-

RYAERBDEF - THRAERNETERTHE
ARELBZHMBEAZBRERELRQT
BIFPTESE FTEEEAR/ARAZE
IFMTER)HE - NEEERELBAL
(BEFRLBEH) 2EA+- @S HM M
BEERRIBUIFATEFHENRES
BZBMBEAFEOEOERE  BEZRE
B RAABERNEMBRESIEHERA
ITRHZFAIARBRE (BEETR Bk
RITEERE) BTEREZE TR TET
ZRINBEBARATDHTRNZ01%
B/ {E#8355,000,00078 7T » I B H B R
HARAARRRELAE

REBREZZHDREBHEMEF7AR
(BEZMEH UE@mPAEMR- FRE
BIRBSA BRIV ESIEEE 2B OF
SHEBRHBEBES 5 BRETE AR
RICETEI 2 IR FRIFE - L 2 B
REFRANBOFAEREZARARERN (K
FIRFSENBEMNBHES7H) AAAT
minsEEIRT
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)
The subscription price shall be a price solely determined by
the Directors and notified to a participant and shall be at least
the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option; (i) the average closing prices of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (i) the nominal value of the
Company’s share on the date of grant of the option.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing on 10 September 2013 and expiring on the
business day immediately preceding the 10th anniversary thereof
i.e. 8 September 2023, subject to early termination provisions
contained in the Scheme.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options that may be granted under
the existing Scheme limit is 126,058,234 shares (representing
approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of this report). As at the date of this report,
options carrying the rights to subscribe for 125,960,000 ordinary
shares of the Company have been granted under the existing
Scheme limit, out of which 25,200,000 options have lapsed and
100,760,000 options remain outstanding, and options carrying
the rights to subscribe for 25,298,234 shares of the Company
(representing approximately 2% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this report) may be granted under the
existing Scheme Limit.

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to be
determined and identified by the Board to each grantee at the
time of making an offer for the grant of an option, but in any event
no later than 1 year from the date of grant.

There is no performance target which must be achieved before
any of the options can be exercised.
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38. U1 % 7R IE (48)

URtEEE 2 BRESE (@)
RABEERREFEREEARNE2HEE B
FARERUTZESE ()VEABTKRMONE
RERHANEHIMSHREEMBRZW
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 38. LIRG 17 2 A FIE (8)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued) LURRH#EEH 2 BREE (8
The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme UTNAFRBIETHRTEZBRRE
during the year:
2020 2019
—EEE 215
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price  share options exercise price share options
MEFTHEE  BREZHE | METHTEE  BREZHE
HK$ HKS
BT BT
At the beginning of year REA - - 0.197 25,200,000
Granted during the year FREH 0.049 100,760,000 - -
Lapsed during the year FREH - - 0.197 (25,200,000)
At the end of year REX 0.049 100,760,000 - -
No share options have been exercised or cancelled for the REEZZ-_EHFE+-A=+—HIEEFE>
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil). No share options BEERERTHEHFTHE (T2 —NF:
have lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: ®m) o RBEZZ-_ZTHF+-A=+—H
25,200,000). FEE TEEREERY (TE2—HF:
25,200,00013) ©
The exercise price and exercise period of the share options RIEZEFE+ZA=+—HEKXRITEER
outstanding as at 31 December 2020 are as follows: B ZITEERITHERNT

Exercise price of share option

Number of share options (HKS per share) Exercise period
BB TR E
R EsE (BRI 1T1EHR

10 December 2020 to

100,760,000 0.049 9 December 2022
—E-EE+-B+AE

2T THF+TZHBAH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

39

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)
These fair values were calculated as at the date of grant of share
options using the Binomial Model. The inputs into the model are
as follows:

38. U1 % I 7R IE (48)

URtEEE 2 BRESE (@)
ZERATEEDRBERERLARER
BRABRUEAE - TRBIIFFARAZBAK
7

2020

ZEIEHE

Weighted average share price TR E 0.047
Weighted average exercise price MEFEITEE 0.049
Expected volatility FEER R B 82.446%
Expected life TERAGFHA 2
Risk free rate bR A= 0.123%
Expected dividend yield JEHRRE B =X _

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 2 years.
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based
on the Group’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations. The
expected dividend vyield is based on the historical dividends.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could materially
affect the fair value estimate.

Share options granted to consultants were incentives for helping
the Group expand its business network, acquire and explore new
business projects and opportunities. The fair value of such benefit
could not be estimated reliably and as a result, the fair value is
measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted.

When share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 7 September 2020, the Company completed the acquisition
of 51% equity interest of Metrotec Limited (“Metrotec”) at
the aggregate consideration of HK$16,320,000 (subject to
adjustments), in which HK$3,500,000 was paid in cash upon
signing of the sale and purchase agreement, HK$3,844,000 was
paid at the date of completion and the remaining HK$8,976,000
shall be paid subject to the achievement of the aggregate of
audited EBITDA of Metrotec Group for the years ending 31
December 2020, 2021 and 2022.
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3,500,000 8 TN EEEEHARFUREZ
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE T -EF+_-_H=+—HILFE

39. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 39. W iE—REIM B AR (48)
(continued)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Metrotec R UEE B ER > MetrotecEE BRI # B BEE R A
Group as at the date of acquisition were as follows: Bz AFEBEWOT
HK$’000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment (note 18) MR E &t (EE18) 222
Right-of-use assets (note 19) ERAEEE W:F19) 493
Trade and other receivables 85 REMmERRIE 414
Bank balances IR1T4EER 719
Accruals and other payables FE st 7B R E A FE 7018 (97)
Lease liabilities HEEE (498)
1,253
Less: non-controlling interest B IEER (614)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BT EESEZ A HEERFRE 639
Goodwill on acquisition (note 20) WEEEENEE (Wat20) 6,726
7,365
The consideration of the acquisition is satisfied by the following: WERBU T AR :
HK$’000
FAET
Cash RE 7,344
Fair value of contingent consideration payable (note) B HARBZ AFEE HaE) 21
7,365
Note: i3
The contingent consideration will be further adjusted based on the Audited FAACE R IR IR W 5E34FT it MetrotectE B Z &K 2 1%
EBITDA of Metrotec Group as stated in note 34. The Balance Consideration EBITDAEE— R - R BER R BESBERDARE
and the Compensation Sum is recognised as the contingent consideration NHARE BRAFBESE A TFEEEHINIEEN
payable, measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit B ERFTETHNHEEE - AT EEREAEELT
or loss and determined based on the valuation carried out. The fair value was EEAENBIISXGHEMERITRRERS REER
determined by an independent professional valuer not connected with the NFLITIRMERE ©

Group based on discounted cash flow, discounted at cost of borrowing.
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39. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

(continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
Metrotec Group is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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39. WEE—FEME AT (&)

BRWEMetrotecEBZIRERED TN
T

HK$’000

FHET

Cash consideration paid BENIRENE 7,344

Bank balances acquired B A Z IR1T4EBR (719)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in FFAREEBFENIREREZ

cash flows from investing activities BEMRIREEEY R F5E 6,625

The acquisition of Metrotec Group creates synergy effect with
the Group’s existing businesses and further strengthens the
development of the Group’s products and services.

The Acquisition also represents a valuable business opportunity
to expand the Group’s business scales, which allows the Group
to diversify its businesses further within the FinTech industry in
Hong Kong and to broaden its source of income.

The fair value of trade and other receivables acquired is
approximately HK$414,000. The gross amount due under the
contracts is HK$414,000, of which none of them is expected to
be uncollectible.

Metrotec Group contributed approximately HK$188,000 and
HK$2,351,000 to the Group’s revenue and loss for the year
respectively during the period between the date of acquisition
and the end of reporting period.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Metrotec Group is
attributable to the diversification of the Group’s income stream
and developing of the Group’s revenue and earning sources in
stored value mastercard business.
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40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

40. 461

R &M E RMsE

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (a) MEFEBFEENARZHIR
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRV AEERMBEHMEENE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and BEH (BEReRIFREEH) 515
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities MEIFIELENGGAEEREEH
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows It HBREREBRMIER RNE BT
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of ERENERDEAMETHMEIR
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. ERENEE.
1 January Interest 31 December
2020 Addition Cash flows expenses 2020
—Z”%
33 +=R
—B—H RE RERE FISHE% =+-8
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT FHT
Lease liabilities HEaE 3,647 10,218 (2,303) 196 11,758
Impact Restated
on initial balance at
1January  application of 1 January Interest 31 December
2019 HKFRS16 2019 Addition Cash flows expenses 2019
MEHR ®
EEHEHE -0 .
“Z-nEF ENEeE  —A-Bz +-R
—-B—8 RE  RER HE Reneg HERY =+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TR TR TEr TR TR TEr
Lease liabilties HE&aE - 912 912 3,381 (707) 61 3,647
EMERIREERERAR « 2020FF5H
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

40. RERETRERME (B)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(continued)

(b) Total cash outflow for leases
Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statements

(b) HERE L
Bt AAREMBRANEESE

for leases comprise the following: BETIEA!

2020 2019
—E-EF “EB-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Within operating cash flows RREREREN 333 1,822
Within financing cash flows AREIREREN 2,303 707
Balance at 31 December R+ZB=+—BZ&8&H 2,636 2,529

These amounts relate to the following: ZETEEDTEIERR
2020 2019
ZE-EF “Z2—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Lease rental paid efNEERS 2,303 707

41. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of
trustees. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at a specified rate and capped at HK$1,500 per month
per person. The only obligation of the Group with respect of the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years.

The total contributions paid and payable to the MPF Scheme by
the Group amounted to HK$1,002,000 (2019: HK$903,000) for
the year ended 31 December 2020, which were recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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M. BAREFEE

REBRBEEREMF4852RHELAES
STERPIAEBEREAERESRILAEFME
NTEEEE (MRETFE)) - BRESEE
ERAEREEDRFTA  AREAERH
EERFA - REBESHERA BEERE
EERXERZIEELXAFEFHER &
A8 AHAREIR1,5008 7T c REE R BT
Tt B AAENE -—SERFHBREZEE
TE TR AR E B9 MR o 3 f B2 W AT A S
Bl R SR 2 FE AT iR

BHE_Z_FF+_A=1+—HIEFEE &
EEERBESTI SN REMNHERERE
#1,002,000 75 (ZZ— A4 : 903,000%
70)  BRGREERE R A
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42. LEGAL PROCEEDING

43

During the year ended 31 December 2020, Metrotec Solutions
Limited (“MSL”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, was involved in a litigation (“Litigation”) in which
the plaintiff (“Plaintiff”) claimed against the first defendant (“First
Defendant”) and MSL, being the second defendant, for a sum of
approximately HK$1,500,000.

The First Defendant is an independent third party contractor and
an exclusive distributor of stored value mastercard for MSL. The
First Defendant has entered into a contract (“Contract”) with the
Plaintiff for sales of card on 18 March 2019.

MSL submitted the defence on 9 July 2020 and the Litigation is
still in progress. The directors of MSL denied the accusation as
MSL had never been a contracting party of the Contract between
the First Defendant and the Plaintiff and has never received any
payment from the Plaintiff. The directors of MSL, after taking the
legal advice from their legal representative, are of the opinion that
the Litigation will result in favourable outcomes to MSL. Given
that the Litigation was incurred prior to the acquisition of 51%
equity interest of Metrotec by the Company and the vendor of
the acquisition has undertaken to indemnify the Company for any
loss arising out of or in connection with the Litigation which the
Company will incur, it is unlikely that the Litigation will have any
significant financial impacts on the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, Mr. Chan Sek Keung,
Ringo (“Mr. Chan”), who is a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company (including iAsia), provided a personal guarantee to iAsia
in relation to the leasing of premises. Pursuant to the tenancy
agreement, Mr. Chan is required to and has executed a personal
guarantee in favour of the agent for and on behalf of the landlord
to guarantee the performance and observation by iAsia of the
terms and conditions of the tenancy agreement. The provision of
such guarantee is regarded as a provision of financial assistance
by Mr. Chan to the Group, which constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Given that no security over the assets of the Group is
granted to Mr. Chan in respect of the grant of financial assistance
by him to guarantee the performance and observation by iAsia
of the terms and conditions of the tenancy agreement and such
grant of financial assistance is for the benefit of the Group on
normal commercial terms (or better to the Group), the provision
of such guarantee is a fully exempted connected transaction of
the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

42, % 1EFER

43

REE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILEFE"
KAB) 2z —BEEIEEE N B A 5 Metrotec
Solutions Limited (TMSLJ) ZE¥ —FFaA
(M&Zzarel)) > BERZTFRAE—wE (ME
— W) REZWEMSLE 41,500,000
FTo

E—WERBUE=ZFEABBHKRMSLESE
EREFZBREHB - R_ZE—-—NE=A
TNR E-REEREMEERTIIGH
(MZE#) -

MSLER ZZZZEE+ B NBRREMRE
MEFFADEETH - MSLZEETRZAE
B BERAMSIEREASE —HEKRRS
sl 2z a2z s] A TN ER RS WA
FERGHR-MSLZEEREREAERERA
2EBRERB RAEZERFNAEBAMSLE
REMBEER - ER XTI AR LA B W
MetrotectI51 %G ERIZE £ MK ZE S
EAGEEAABEZTFAE RN AEZT
SAASA B PR EE MR MIB L BMEZFA T K
AREHAEBERTRAEAT KB E-

FERRXH

BHE_Z_FZF+-_A=1+—HIEE &
thor o (AL AR ZETHEBE LT
(BEDM 2—2E8F) OnENBEEYE
REEAER - REHEERZ MiEAT
EETUEFTRBEEREFARATEAZE
ANER REBEDMABTRETHEREZR
TR GE - IREBRAERWEAREEDR
ERIREM BB HIRIEGEM EHRAISE
0EBMANE] —HRERG ENAER
TR ERHEM B EN USRS TR TTR
B EWRE R EEER mEkR
RERBEMNEERT BREZVEEY
T —REEER (REAEEMS BEN
B AAREENEMEL > BURHZIERS
GEM EMRAFE20Z B T2 AN 22 HEE
MERER S o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z -ZEF+_H=+—HILFE

44, EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

After the COVID-19 outbreak in early 2020, a series of
precautionary and control measures have been and continued to
be implemented across the globe. The Company is paying close
attention to the development of, and the disruption to business
and economic activities caused by, the COVID-19 outbreak and
evaluate its impact on the financial position, cash flows and
operating results of the Company. The Company assessed that
the impact of COVID-19 on the Group’s financial performance is
not significant.
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RIZZZFREFTEIRBFE > 2K
BB E W R SEEEE — RN RE
FIEE - R AR ERVIBEREEREEZ
BHRERKAEBEBREBEIHERZT
B2 BEFGESTRAAMBER R - RERE
RIGERBENZF B - ARF T LAY
RASHEAEEAMFRRZIFBLFTEKR-



A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AEFERBHHE

FEERBETLAMBREEZZEREE -BER
FFEREDME BREETECEZMBRR)

extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out AW -
below:
RESULTS E 3|
Year ended 31 December
HE+-BA=1—HLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
“E-ZE ZT-hE ZE-N\F ZE—tF ZERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET TET TER TEx
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FEREER
Revenue Wes 76,329 73,837 70,126 56,885 58,637
Cost of sales ERA (20,283) (20,167) (19,822) (15,382) (15,192)
Gross profit eyl 56,046 53,670 50,304 41,503 43,345
Other income H A 3,413 411 367 91 7
Other gains and losses Hitlsm K E54E (6,610) 2,511) (2,415) (25,146) (990)
Provision for impairment loss on EUWEREFE
loans and interest receivables HREBBEE (46,456) (12,545) - - -
Provision for impairment loss on BENHEBEERE
goodwil - (10,295) - - -
Administrative expenses TERS (53,251) (44,506) (40,883) (41,962) (41,990)
(Loss)/profit from operations LSS (5518 /5H) (46,858) (15,776) 7,373 (25,514) 372
Finance costs R (237) (61) - (978) (6,761)
Share of (losses)/profits FEIGBE AT (B518) /
of associates byl - (856) (2,104) (5,397) 2,976
Share of loss of a joint venture EE—EaEARBE (37) (26) (16,733) (19,202) (3,489
Loss before tax BRI IR (47,132) (16,719) (11,464) (51,091) (6,902)
Income tax expense FrSMRFI (3,131) (4,120) (3,739 (3,309) (3,498)
Loss for the year from continuing ~ REFEEEEHH
operations FREE (50,263) (20,839) (15,203) (54,400) (10,400
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS B4 IHE& 5
Profit for the year from discontinued 78 B B 4% IEAT & 2351
operations FREF - - - 8,250 20,799
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR £/ (§548) /7! (50,263) (20,839) (15,203) (46,150) 10,399
(Loss)/profit for the year FEfhER (518 /
attributable to: vl
Owners of the Company LNSIEZZPN (49,111) (20,839) (15,208) (46,509) 2,008
Non-controling interests FEIER (1,152) - - 353 8,391
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFPRHEE

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

BEE -RERIFERED

As at 31 December

®+=ZB=+—H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
k- St 23 Z-NF “EN\E - of 2 —ERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET TET FTET FTET
Total assets BEME 169,197 216,470 236,458 245,064 295,893
Total liabilities BEEE 48,146 47,491 45,763 37,290 69,504
Non-controling interests FEIER R (538) - - - 3,563
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